UNIVERSITY OF LATVIA FACULTY OF BIOLOGY



JĀNIS STĀVUSIS

MOLECULAR MECHANISMS UNDERLYING RARE NEUROMUSCULAR DISEASES

DOCTORAL THESIS

Submitted for the degree of Doctor of Biology Subfield Molecular Biology

Riga, 2021

The doctoral thesis was carried out at the Latvian Biomedical Research and Study Centre and University of Latvia, Faculty of Biology, Department of Molecular Biology from 2014 to 2021.

Form of the thesis: collection of articles/research papers in biology, subfield molecular biology.

Supervisor: Dr. med. Baiba Lāce

Reviewers:

- Asoc. prof., Dr. biol. Jānis Kloviņš, Biomedical Research and Study Centre; University of Latvia, Riga, Latvia
- 2) Asist. prof., Dr. med. Viktorija Ķēniņa, Riga Stradiņš University, Riga, Latvia
- Asoc. prof., Dr. biol. Julien Ochala, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

The thesis will be defended at the public session of the Doctoral Committee of Biology, University of Latvia, at 14:00 on 27th of October 2021 at Latvian Biomedical Research and Study Centre, Ratsupites street 1 k-1, Riga, Latvia

The thesis is available at the Library of the University of Latvia, Jelgavas street 1, LV-1004, Riga, Latvia.

Chairman of the Doctoral Committee

____/Kaspars Tārs/

Secretary of the Doctoral Committee

____/Daina Eze/

© University of Latvia, 2021 © Jānis Stāvusis, 2021

ABSTRACT

The term neuromuscular disorders refers to a wide range of diseases, caused by deficits in the motor unit. The focus of this work is the neuromuscular disorder subgroup associated with defects in muscle fibers themselves and arising from genetic causes - muscular dystrophies. They are a group of genetically inherited degenerative disorders of muscle, sharing clinical features of progressive muscle weakness and dystrophic pathological appearance on muscle biopsy. First described as a separate entity in 1852, muscular dystrophies in total are estimated to affect 1:5000 newborns.

The complexity and variability of muscular dystrophy clinical manifestation as well as underlying molecular mechanisms has represented a challenge for accurately diagnosing patients since their discovery, and still does. In the era of molecular genetic research, a large number of genes associated with muscular dystrophies have been identified, with more very rare variants being identified every year. However, it is crucial for patients to receive precise molecular diagnosis, as this allows for an individual-tailored treatment that increases life quality and expectancy, with a potential of having curative treatment in the future.

This work was initiated with the aim to aid and advance neuromuscular disorder diagnostics in Latvia, through research.

Initial data showed that for caveolinopathies the frequency of mutations in the patient group is in the expected 1-2% range, with variant frequencies in the general population not differing from data available in public databases. Interestingly, we found a person possibly suffering from HyperCK-emia in the general population. Our data did not indicate involvement of *CAV3* variants in the group of cardiomyopathy patients, leading to the hypothesis that in our target population cardiomyopathy is a rare phenotypic trait of *CAV3* pathogenic variants.

Several diagnostic methods have been developed and used over the period of more than ten years. Data from these confirmed the theory that calpainopathies seem to be the most common group of rare muscle diseases in Latvia, even though the variant believed to be the most common in Eastern Europe - c.550delA is not common in our population, it is, however, the most common in Lithuania. General population screening for carriers of this variant showed similar results. Furthermore, none of the variants in *ANO5* or any of the sarcoglycan genes that have high allele frequencies in other European countries were found in our population.

The Sanger sequencing of certain disease associated gene regions as well as massive parallel genotyping that were initially developed have been discontinued in favor of the much more cost and result efficient next generation sequencing. The main issue that the previous technologies faced was the high level of heterogeneity in regards to both the neuromuscular disorders and our population, leading to decreased diagnostic yield when testing only certain genes and variants.

In the last years we have introduced research-level next generation sequencing in neuromuscular disorder diagnostics, and by doing so have increased the yield of positive diagnosis considerably. The full data analysis process for these cases can be very time consuming, and sometimes additional factors, like genes with no known function or variants with many conflicting interpretations make it even more difficult. According to the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics guidelines, a variant in the *COL6A3* gene c.7447A>G, (p.Lys2483Glu) was reclassified as pathogenic, based on criteria, like reduced COL6 secretion and intracellular retention, association with phenotype and the typical muscle magnetic resonance imaging results, associated with COL6 related myopathy. We described the patients we found and concluded that homozygous carriers of this variant exhibit a mild collagen VI-related myopathy phenotype.

A new phenotype, associated with domain-specific mutations in the *MYBPC1* gene was described. The phenotype is characterized by mild myopathy, skeletal deformities and tremor. The tremor was shown to be lacking a central nervous system related cause and therefore hypothesized to be of myogenic origin. Based on molecular modeling and functional testing, the possible disease-causing mechanism was described. Additional cases have now been described, further confirming our hypothesis, with more functional research ongoing, aimed at better describing the underlying molecular mechanism. The phenotype has now been termed myotrem.

We have continually aided rare neuromuscular disease diagnostics in Latvia through research, gradually evolving, to the point where now we have brought the field up to a worldclass standard.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	6
INTRODUCTION	8
1. LITERATURE OVERVIEW	1
1.1. Muscular dystrophies	1
1.2. Diagnostics1	4
1.3. Limb-girdle muscular dystrophies1	6
1.3.1. Caveolinopathies2	21
1.3.2. Calpainopathies2	4
1.3.3. Collagen 6-related myopathies2	.7
1.4. Myosin Binding Protein C1	51
1.5. Myogenic tremor	6
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	7
2.1. Subjects	7
2.2. Direct sequencing	.9
2.3. Microarray genotyping	0
2.4. Next generation sequencing	1
2.5. Recombinant protein generation and purification	2
2.6. Overlay Assay and Immunoblotting	2
2.7. Protein modeling	3
3. RESULTS	4
3.1. Neuromuscular disease diagnostics in Latvia - starting from basics (CAV3 gene sequence variations: National Genome Database and clinics)	6
3.2. Neuromuscular disease diagnostics in Latvia - first steps (Robust genotyping tool fo autosomal recessive type of limb-girdle muscular dystrophies)	or 53
3.3. Neuromuscular disease diagnostics in Latvia - dawn of a new age (Collagen VI- related limb-girdle syndrome caused by frequent mutation in COL6A3 gene with conflicting reports of pathogenicity)	'0
3.4. Cases that are unique (Novel mutations in MYBPC1 are associated with myogenic tremor and mild myopathy)	60
4. DISCUSSION	5
5. CONCLUSIONS	18
MAIN THESIS FOR DEFENSE10	19
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	0
REFERENCES	1
SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS	50

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACMG	American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
Ca ²⁺	calcium ions
CAPN3	calpain 3
Cav3 / CAV3	caveolin 3
СК	creatine phosphokinase
CMT	Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease
Col6	collagen type 6
COL6A3	collagen type 6 alpha 3 chain
СООН	carboxyl group
DA	distal arthrogryposis
DCM	dilated cardiomyopathy
DM	distal myopathy
DMD	Duchenne muscular dystrophy
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DUX4	double homeobox 4 protein
DYSF	dysferlin
EMG	electromyography
ERDF	European Regional Development Fund
FHL1	four and a half LIM domains 1 protein
FKRP	fukutin-related protein
Fn-III	fibronectin-III
FSHD	Facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy
FVC	forced vital capacity
GATK	Genome analysis toolkit
НСМ	hypertrophic cardiomyopathy
HMM	heavy meromyosin
Ig	immunoglobulin
LGMD	limb-girdle muscular dystrophy
LMM	light meromyosin
LMNA	lamin A/C
MPTP	mitochondrial permeability transition pore protein
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging

mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
MyBP-C / MYBPC	myosin binding protein C
NGS	next-generation sequencing
NH ₂	amino group
NIH	National Institutes of Health
NMD	neuromuscular disorders
nNOS	neuronal nitric oxide synthase
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
POMT1	protein O-mannosyltransferase 1
RMD	rippling muscle disease
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SCARMD	severe childhood autosomal recessive muscular dystrophy
SMA	spinal muscular atrophy
sMyBP-c / MYBPC1	myosin binding protein C1
SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism
TH	triple helical domain
TMEM43	transmembrane protein 43
TRIM72	tripartite motif containing protein 72
VEP	Variant effect predictor
VQSR	variant quality score recalibration
VWA	Von Willebrand factor type A domain

INTRODUCTION

In the modern era, when we have a huge, constantly growing pool of reference data and the world uses next-generation sequencing (NGS) as a first-line diagnostic tool, due to the constant rate of technological development, it is sometimes hard to remember the time not that long ago, when the chain termination sequencing was seen as the go-to tool when dealing with rare neuromuscular disease (NMD) diagnostics and research.

The aim of this work was to aid and advance neuromuscular disorder diagnostics in Latvia, through research. In order to reach this aim, the following tasks were set:

- To determine the frequency and distribution of the many various forms of neuromuscular disorders in the population of Latvia, as well as the most common forms of the disease and the associated pathogenic variants.
- Using the results of scientific research, to guide and develop rational diagnostic testing for patients suffering from neuromuscular disorders in Latvia.
- To determine the pathogenic potential of possible disease associated variants, based on available information, variant segregation, molecular testing and modeling.
- To characterize a previously unknown neuromuscular disease phenotype and elucidate the underlying molecular mechanism, thus gaining information on genotype-phenotype correlations.

When the initiative to improve neuromuscular disorder diagnostics in Latvia began in 2010, with the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) project "New tests for the diagnosis of inherited neuromuscular diseases", the main tool that was readily available was the Sanger sequencing of full genes or specific regions of interest within a certain gene, also the real-time quantitative PCR. It was and still is a robust and fairly cheap method for detection of known or common disease-causing variants. It is due to this that it is still considered a standard in many labs for validation of relevant NGS findings. The project was mainly focused on the muscular dystrophy part of NMDs. The success of finding a variation at this point most often correlated with the ability of medical doctors to precisely diagnose patients and predict the exact form of NMD, allowing us to choose and test only known disease associated genes. This resulted in the unsurprisingly low percentage of cases with confirmed genetic cause in Latvia. Between the years 2002 and 2009 there were 25 confirmed cases of Spinal muscular atrophy (SMA), 11 cases of Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease (CMT) 1A, 9 cases of Duchenne or Becker muscular dystrophy, 3 cases of Facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy (FSHD), 3 cases of Limb-girdle muscular dystrophy (LGMD) and a few cases of various other muscular dystrophies (unpublished data).

Not long after the first initiative, in 2012, one of the first massive parallel genotyping platforms – Illumina's Golden Gate was introduced and first used in diagnostics of NMDs for LGMD patients from Latvia and Lithuania. This collaboration with specialists from our neighboring country resulted from attempts to pool patient samples, which would allow us to look at a larger patient population, and to optimize resources. The testing was done in the Latvian Biomedical Research and Study Centre, as a part of the same ERDF project ("New tests for the diagnosis of inherited neuromuscular diseases"). The platform enabled genotyping of a large number of known sequence variants in genes DYSF, FKRP, ANO5, CAPN3, SGCA, SGCB, SGCD, SGCG and CLCN1, for a large number of patients (60 patients from Latvia and Lithuania, as well as more than 200 controls) in a short period of time. In conjunction with custom made genotyping panels this seemed to be a good alternative or an addition to previous methods. However, this method also had its inherent flaws. It works on a probe-like principle, detecting only previously determined variants, which is why for our needs the most common variants associated with LGMD were chosen. Furthermore, this approach meant that only variants with a certain genetic distance between them could be included, therefore not allowing detection of several variants that are located next to each other, for example, in mutation hotspots. In addition, library preparation was tedious and error-prone and the results were not always uniform or of good quality. Unfortunately, in a few years' time this technology was already outdated.

The onset of the NGS era changed things drastically both worldwide and in Latvia as well. The possibility to sequence all coding regions or even the whole genome came with the promise of an increased probability of detecting rare disease-causing variants on an unprecedented scale. This instantly rendered the genotyping technology we used previously inferior due to costs and the amount of data gathered from a single person.

We, however, were not able to start massive sequencing at that point, mostly due to lack of local practical knowledge and resources. For a number of years data gathering and analysis was done in collaboration with other institutes or in the framework of international projects, like the NIH research laboratories in the USA and the MYO-SEQ project from England. This meant that each year only a few selected patient samples could be sent for this new sequencing. However, over time local capacity has been built up to allow patient analysis and research, using the entire power granted by the next-generation sequencing.

Currently geneticists in Latvia have the possibility to send NMD patient samples to one of the private laboratories that provide international services for exome or panel sequencing, if deemed necessary. Alternatively, it is possible to enroll them in local projects, aimed at diagnostics and research of rare diseases with unknown underlying genetic cause, within the framework of ERDF projects "The determination of rare inherited diseases' causative mechanisms using whole genome sequencing approach" and "Functional and genetic research of rare unidentified neuromuscular disorders". Sanger sequencing, however, is still used for result validation or small-scale testing, for example, carrier status confirmation for the extended family members.

The current range of diagnostic tools has allowed many more rare neuromuscular disease patients to get a precise diagnosis, when compared to the beginning of the initiative. Even so, there is still a notable percentage of cases where the underlying cause is not identified, with data analysis and variant annotation being the biggest hurdles. During the last years we have, however, been able to move even further, starting to shift from purely sequencing and DNA level research to more functional testing of found variants with unknown or conflicting pathogenicity data.

1. LITERATURE OVERVIEW

The term neuromuscular disorders (NMD) refers to a wide range of diseases, caused by deficits in the motor unit, that consists of motor neuron, nerve root, peripheral nerve, myoneural junction and muscles (Reed 2002). These diseases can be both inherited and acquired, with the classical way of classifying them being by the affected part of the motor unit. The first group is associated with the involvement of the peripheral motor neuron (infantile spinal amyotrophy, enterovirus infections (poliomyelitis)), the second - with involvement of nerve roots and peripheral nerves (hereditary motor-sensitive polyneuropathies (Charcot-Marie-Tooth type I and Déjerine-Sottas type III), Guillain-Barré syndrome) and the third - with involvement of the myoneural junction (congenital myasthenic syndrome, severe myasthenia and botulism). The fourth and final group and the focus of this work is associated with defects in muscle fibers themselves. The same as all the others, this group includes disorders arising from both genetic (congenital myopathies and metabolic myopathies) and acquired causes (myositis) (Rowland and McLeod 1994; Reed 2002).

1.1. Muscular dystrophies

Muscular dystrophies are a group of genetically inherited degenerative disorders of muscle, sharing clinical features of progressive muscle weakness and dystrophic pathological appearance on muscle biopsy (Emery 2002). Muscular dystrophy as a separate entity was first described in 1852 (Meryon 1852; Kirschner and Lochmüller 2011). In 1861 Duchenne in the second volume of his book "Paraplégie Hypertrophique de l'enfance de cause cérébrale" described a boy with a muscular dystrophy that now carries his name. This began a ripple in the medical community and eventually led to many new discoveries (Longo et al. 2011). Approximately 40 years later F. Batten described the first congenital muscular dystrophy (Kirschner and Bönnemann 2004). In the era of molecular genetic research, more than 40 genes associated with muscular dystrophies have been identified, with more very rare variants being identified every year (Kaplan and Hamroun 2015, 2016). The disorders have been classified in two groups - conditions with early onset (congenital muscular dystrophies, affecting patients at birth or even before birth) and later-onset conditions (limb girdle muscular dystrophies), in reference to acquisition of ambulation. Most common variants are Duchenne muscular dystrophy, Becker muscular dystrophy, Emery–Dreifuss muscular dystrophy, and facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy, all of them being recognized and described long before other muscular dystrophies, due to their unique clinical features or high incidence, or both (Mercuri et al. 2019). Most of the patients mention muscle weakness as the main symptom, however decreased functionality of one or more organ systems, including cardiac, digestive and respiratory, can also adversely affect the quality of life (Zivkovic and Clemens 2015). The average incidence of all muscular dystrophies is predicted to be 1:5000 newborns (Theadom et al. 2014).

The main protein classes associated with muscular dystrophies are extracellular matrix and basement membrane proteins, sarcolemma-associated proteins, enzymes or proteins with putative enzymatic function, nuclear membrane proteins, sarcomeric proteins, endoplasmic reticulum proteins, as well as others (Mercuri et al. 2019).

Congenital muscular dystrophies are most commonly associated with mutations in proteins in the extracellular matrix, external membrane proteins or enzymes involved in their post-translational modification (Mercuri et al. 2019). The most common of them being pathogenic variants in collagen 6, laminin 211 (formerly named merosin) and the cellular receptor α -dystroglycan (Urciuolo et al. 2013).

The major part of sarcolemma-associated proteins is composed by the dystrophinassociated glycoprotein complex (dystrophin, sarcoglycans and dystroglycan) (Figure 1). Mutations in these give rise to the Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies (dystrophin) and limb girdle muscular dystrophies known as sarcoglycanopathies (four sarcoglycan genes) (Mercuri et al. 2019). The dystrophin-associated glycoprotein complex has a shock-absorbing function between the cytoskeleton and the extracellular matrix, providing stabilization of the muscle fibers against the mechanical forces of muscle contraction (Mercuri et al. 2019). A functionally related group of sarcolemmal proteins are dysferlin and anoctamin 5, involved in the repair process of the sarcolemma (Han and Campbell 2007; Bolduc et al. 2010; Sharma et al. 2010; Han 2011; Griffin et al. 2016). Dysferlin interacts at the sarcolemma with caveolin 3, part of the caveolar formation mechanism, all three being associated with their respective forms of limb girdle muscular dystrophies (Hernández-Deviez et al. 2008; Pradhan and Prószyński 2020).



Figure 1. Muscular dystrophy relevant proteins (known MD associated proteins are shown in color). Figure adapted from Kirschner et al. 2004.

From proteins associated with muscular dystrophies, that are enzymes or have enzymatic function, ones responsible for proper glycosylation of α -dystroglycan are the most well-known ones, resulting in conditions called dystroglycanopathies (Muntoni et al. 2002, 2011). Currently there are 18 such genes known, mutations in them resulting in dystroglycanopathy. The disease can manifest with a range of pathological features, ranging from limb girdle muscular dystrophy phenotypes to congenital muscular dystrophy with structural brain involvement (Godfrey et al. 2007a, 2011; Mercuri et al. 2009). Another protein not associated with α -dystroglycan but having an enzymatic function and a role in the development of LGMD is the Ca²⁺-activated neutral protease calpain 3 (Richard et al. 1995).

Nuclear envelope protein (lamin A/C, emerin, nesprin 1 and 2, and TMEM43 (LUMA)) mutations are resulting in a progressive muscular dystrophy phenotype known as Emery– Dreifuss muscular dystrophy (Bonne et al. 1999, 2000). Interestingly, mutations in these genes can give rise to a great variety of phenotypes, suggesting specific roles for specific protein domains. For example, pathogenic variants in lamin A/C are currently associated with eleven different phenotypes: dilated cardiomyopathy 1A; Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease (type 2B1); Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy (types 2 and 3); heart-hand syndrome (Slovenian type); Hutchinson-Gilford progeria; lipodystrophy (type 2); Malouf syndrome; mandibuloacral dysplasia; congenital muscular dystrophy and lethal restrictive dermopathy (Amberger et al. 2019).

Even though several disorders stemming from mutations in sarcomeric proteins are classified as non-dystrophic congenital myopathies, recent data has shown sarcomeric protein involvement in dystrophic muscle disorders, examples being titin and various myosin proteins. It is interesting to note that in this case the associated disease gives rise to distal distribution of muscle weakness (Udd 2011, 2012).

There are also other proteins, associated with muscular dystrophies, that do not fit in any of the previous categories - transport proteins and proteins expressed in both endoplasmic reticulum and the sarcolemma (Bögershausen et al. 2013; Schindler et al. 2016). Furthermore, one of the most common autosomal dominant adult muscular dystrophies - facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy is associated with dysregulation of transcriptional factor DUX4 (Lemmers et al. 2010).

The last decade has seen a rapid increase of research into different cures for muscular dystrophies, with few already available for patients carrying specific variants. However, the vast majority of them are still in pre-clinical research. Additionally, researchers and medics are trying to move from a variant specific approach to developing more generalized therapies. It also needs to be taken into consideration that for some patients there are disease associated pathological changes that are for the time being irreversible. Because of this, precise molecular diagnosis and specialized medical management is of paramount importance for all muscular dystrophy patients.

1.2. Diagnostics

Historically the complexity and variability of muscular dystrophy clinical manifestation has represented a challenge for accurately diagnosing patients, and it still does. A complete diagnosis would involve clinical examination, patient's medical history, blood test (creatine kinase), electromyography, genetic testing and muscle biopsy (Rosalki 1989; Carbone et al. 2000; Fardeau and Desguerre 2013).

The role of muscle biopsy in the diagnosis of muscular dystrophies, considered by many to be the gold standard of testing (using light microscopy, histochemistry and immunohistochemistry methods, as well as electron microscopy), has lessened, nonetheless it still provides information essential for diagnosis. When considering biopsy results, it is necessary to be mindful of cases when there is a secondary protein defect or deficiency that is masking the primary problem, an example being a secondary reduction of calpain in cases of LGMD R2, R9 and R10 (Anderson et al. 2000; Haravuori et al. 2001; Sáenz et al. 2005). Western blotting can also be used to determine the level of protein expression as well as the length of the protein (Longo et al. 2011).

In the last decade the value of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), in order to identify patterns of muscle involvement in genetically distinct muscle disorders, has been recognized time and again, as identifying a specific muscle involvement pattern can give valuable information and guide genetic testing, sometimes even pinpoint an exact disease form (Mercuri et al. 2007; Bönnemann 2011a; Quijano-Roy et al. 2012; Tasca et al. 2012, 2018; Barp et al. 2017, 2020). Furthermore, a tight correlation of muscle MRI data with functional performance has been shown, further highlighting its diagnostic value (Carlier et al. 2016).

With the development of technology in the recent years, techniques like protein analysis and molecular genetic testing have become increasingly more important in diagnosis of muscular dystrophies, however classic diagnostic tools, like clinical observations, family history, biochemical tests, serum creatine kinase testing and the aforementioned muscle biopsy are still crucial first-line options in order to facilitate accurate diagnosis (Gaina et al. 2019). Many believe that the next generation sequencing has the potential to be one of the most powerful tools to date for diagnostics of muscular dystrophies, especially the rare variants. There has already been research showing the benefits of using next generation sequencing, when working with undiagnosed muscular dystrophy patients. The results vary between laboratories though, and the rate of success varies between 15% and 65% (Wu et al. 2018).

When looking only at clinical criteria, recessive muscular dystrophies are most difficult to differentiate, due to the heterogeneity of phenotypic traits, age of onset and rate of progression (Ginjaar et al. 2000; Amato and Griggs 2011; Romitti et al. 2015; Ciafaloni et al. 2016). With progressive muscle weakness being the most common feature of different types of muscular dystrophies, it is the other variable features, like age of onset, the affected muscle groups and the rate of disease progression, that may point towards a specific type of muscular dystrophy (Muntoni et al. 2003; Amato and Griggs 2011).

A lot of effort has been put into trying to improve the diagnostics of muscular dystrophies. An example of this are the inter-laboratory collaborations and the international consortiums, where research institutions with funds and expertise try to help other specialists lacking either of the two. One such consortium is the MYO-SEQ project, based in Newcastle, UK, established with the goal of aiding the work-ups of muscle disease patients and to better understand the underlying disease etiology. The project offered exome sequencing for undiagnosed patients from all over the world, examining variants in genes associated with muscle conditions (Töpf et al. 2020).

1.3. Limb-girdle muscular dystrophies

The term limb-girdle muscular dystrophy itself appeared in the middle of the 20th century, when it became apparent that there is a large group of muscular dystrophies, that differ from the X-linked Duchenne-Becker and the autosomal dominant fascioscapular dystrophy forms (Kirschner and Bönnemann 2004). Currently LGMD has become an important subgroup of muscular dystrophies, that is classified by certain traits - a clinical phenotype of a progressing muscle weakness, affecting predominantly limb-girdle muscles and a histologically confirmed dystrophin-positive muscular dystrophy (Kirschner and Bönnemann 2004). There is an equal chance for both men and women to get LGMD. In addition to the weakness of the skeletal muscles, respiratory deficiency, caused by the weakness of the diaphragm, as well as cardiomyopathy has been observed in LGMD patients (Longo et al. 2011). In the past LGMD was attributed only to cases where weakness manifested in the teen or early adult age, and more severe forms, with manifestation in childhood, were termed severe childhood autosomal recessive muscular dystrophy (SCARMD). Now it is classified as one of the LGMD subtypes (Pegoraro and Hoffman 2012).

LGMD autosomal dominant forms constitute the first group, classification wise, with recessive forms making up the second group. Roughly 10% of all LGMDs are dominant forms, while the rest 90% are recessive (Angelini et al. 2018). In terms of incidence, autosomal recessive forms are approximately ten times more common than dominant forms (Sáenz et al. 2005). Within the groups each form gets assigned a consecutive alphabet letter, based on the chronological discovery of the associated locus. In theory this was meant to be constantly expanded (Longo et al. 2011). The problem this system ran into was that with the rise of largescale sequencing, many new recessive forms were discovered, and so the end of the alphabet for recessive forms was reached. This was made worse by the fact that there were diseases initially added to this classification that are not classified as LGMDs by modern standards, and therefore gave rise to inconsistent presentation among the various subtypes (Straub et al. 2018). In 2017 a workshop was organized that proposed a new definition for what is classified as LGMD and created a new LGMD naming system. According to the new system, LGMD is now followed by a "D" or an "R" for dominant and recessive types respectively. This is followed by a number denouncing the order in which the diseases were discovered and the name of the protein that is associated with the disease. To give an example, the disease previously classified as LGMD2A is now known as LGMD R1 Calpain3-related (see supplemental Table 1). It was decided though that for the near future both naming conventions can be used in order to ease professionals and especially patients in the new system (Straub et al. 2018).

The incidence of LGMDs is relatively rare, ranging from 4-7 per 100 000 newborns, however there are some geographical and ethnic exceptions, due to founder effects and consanguineous marriages, and the numbers vary slightly (Angelini et al. 2018). It is difficult to determine the exact incidence of all the different LGMD forms, however, based on the data from clinical populations and variant databases, estimations have been made. The more common forms are: calpainopathies (LGMD2A/LGMD R1 calpain3-related) with an average estimate of 8.4 in all populations, and with reported estimates of 9.5 in northeastern Italy and 6.0 in northern England; dysferlinopathies (LGMD2B/LGMD R2 dysferlin-related) with an average estimate of 7.5, and a reported estimate of 1.3 in northern England and FKRP related muscular dystrophies (LGMD2I/LGMD R9 FKRP-related) with an average estimate of 4.5, and a reported estimate of 4.3 in northeastern Italy. According to estimates the most common LGMD however is the more recent form LGMD2L/LGMD R12 anoctamin5-related, with an average estimate of 17.6, and with reported estimates of 2.7 in northern England, 20 in Finland and 10 in Denmark (all prevalences are estimated per one million individuals) (Fanin et al. 2005; Norwood et al. 2009; Hicks et al. 2011; Penttilä et al. 2012; Witting et al. 2013; Mazzucato et al. 2014; Liu et al. 2019).

The main affected proteins usually are the sarcolemmal proteins, though there are cases when the cytoskeletal proteins or muscle specific enzymes are affected (Brockington et al. 2001a). Even though LGMDs by definition are usually characterized by the classical clinical phenotype that includes the predominantly proximal muscle weakness, there exists considerable genetic heterogeneity, and a variety of clinical features, progression of symptoms and types of heredity. Due to this reason, the phenotypic spectrum of this group of diseases has been considerably broadened to include non-typical cases and cases with distal involvement. A broad approach to muscle examination can help alleviate the precise determination of dystrophy type. Different age ranges have been described for the many forms of LGMD. It is assumed that the dominant forms manifest after the second decade of life and usually have slow progression (Guglieri and Bushby 2011).

One of the most common and cheapest types of non-invasive testing for muscular dystrophies is the creatine phosphokinase (CK) level determination in peripheral blood. In case of the disease it is increased, with much higher levels in case of recessive forms, when compared to dominant ones. What makes this testing more difficult is the fact that there are some forms of LGMD that do not present with an increased CK level. Furthermore, in all LGMD cases the CK level naturally drops with age, so for older patients this measurement can be normal or only slightly elevated (Guglieri and Bushby 2011). It might however also be an additional tool in differentiating between different LGMD forms, with CK normal or slightly elevated in

transportinopathies, moderately raised in telethoninopathies or dystroglycanopathies and greatly increased in dysferlinopathies, calpainopathies and sarcoglycanopathies. A new blood biomarker that is being investigated is the expression of serum myomiRNA, with dysregulated profiles pointing at dystrophies (Angelini et al. 2018).

With a few rare exceptions electromyography (EMG) can be used to exclude neurogenic causes of muscle weakness (Angelini et al. 2018).

Muscle magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is being used more and more to diagnose LGMD and for follow-ups. This is due to the fact that the extent and localization of muscle abnormalities can provide valuable information. In some cases, the pattern of muscle involvement can be almost pathognomonic and help guide genetic testing or choose the optimal muscle for biopsy (Straub et al. 2012). It is muscle biopsy that allows confirmation of dystrophic changes in muscle fibers and also differentiate LGMD from other possible causes of progressive proximal muscle weakness (Kirschner and Bönnemann 2004). However, in LGMD dystrophic features, like increased fiber size variability, increased central nuclei, endomysial fibrosis, necrosis, and regeneration can be widespread and the degree can be variable and not always correlate well with disease severity (Angelini et al. 2018). Immunohistochemistry testing of the biopsied material may sometimes pinpoint an exact form of LGMD, especially in cases of sarcoglycanopathy, dysferlinopathy, telethoninopathy and plectinopathy. It appears that in these cases severely reduced or absent labeling for the respective protein is a highly specific disease marker (Pegoraro and Hoffman 2012; Angelini et al. 2018). Unfortunately, in Latvia the field of muscle biopsy testing for neuromuscular disorders is very underdeveloped, and therefore we have to rely mostly on biochemical blood tests and molecular diagnostics.

The most precise method in differentiating all the forms of LGMD is however the detection of the causative genetic variant, using molecular analysis, usually done after or in parallel with determining the exact protein that is affected. It is worth remembering though that while there are some LGMD forms where the causative variants are well known and researched, there are also forms where the causative genes are large enough to cause possible difficulties when sequencing, and there can also be certain gene structure peculiarities. The diagnostic situation is improving in the last few years with the rise of next-generation sequencing, which allows simultaneous testing of larger portions of the genetic code. Furthermore, lately the whole exome sequencing is often being replaced with whole genome sequencing, also in our project, thus enabling much better splice region and deep intronic variant analysis, and helping to fill in the missing pieces. Interestingly, in 2013 the American Academy of Neurology guidelines for LGMD suggested using NGS as a last resort examination, however the stage has changed so

much in the years since, that nowadays NGS is often considered as a first-line approach to LGMD testing, as positive findings often require no further laboratory work-up (Giza et al. 2013; Angelini et al. 2018).

In the early 2000s, there still existed around 25% of familial cases that were not associated with any of the known disease genes and around 40% of isolated cases with severe or intermediate LGMD phenotype that did not have pathogenic variants in any of the LGMD related genes identified (Aurino et al. 2008). More recent approximations put the figures of LGMD cases with determined diagnosis at 30-40%, using traditional genetic, biochemical and histopathological methods and at 40-45% using exome sequencing, with this percentage going up to even 70% in certain populations with founder effect mutations (Reddy et al. 2017; Valencia et al. 2017; Angelini et al. 2018).

After having their molecular diagnosis established, the patients require a consultation from a geneticist. In cases of autosomal dominant forms, there is the 50% chance of passing on the disease to the next generation, which can be influenced, however, by various factors, like incomplete penetrance or gonadal mosaicism. The carriers of recessive diseases have a relatively low chance to meet another carrier, in order to have an affected child. Nonetheless this chance is markedly increased in populations where a founder effect for a certain mutation is present, for example, the *CAPN3* variants - c.550delA in Croatia and c.2051-1G>T as well as c.2338G>C in the Agarwal population in India and Asia (Canki-Klain et al. 2004; Khadilkar et al. 2016). Because of these reasons, in familial cases it is important to find out as much about the family history as possible. However, due to phenotypic variability and the *de-novo* pathogenic variants, dystrophy cannot be truly ruled out in cases where the disease is seemingly absent from a family (Guglieri and Bushby 2011).

LGMD often present themselves as multisystemic disorders. The presence or absence of various phenotypic traits, for example, contractions or circulatory and respiratory system problems helps in determination of the exact diagnosis. More importantly, identification of possible risks for a patient helps in creating a customized prevention strategy. In sarcoglycanopathies cardiac involvement is one of the main clinical features, able to manifest as several forms (conduction defects, dilated cardiomyopathy or hypertrophic cardiomyopathy) (Barresi et al. 2000; Politano et al. 2001; Meznaric-Petrusa et al. 2009; Angelini et al. 2018). Cardiac involvement is also typically present in FKRP related myopathies, where, interestingly, it may not correlate with the severity of skeletal muscle involvement (Angelini et al. 2018). Respiratory involvement is more frequent for sarcoglycan-related LGMD forms as well as the FKRP, titin and POMT1 related LGMD forms, furthermore respiratory involvement is in general a more common phenotypic feature of LGMDs (Angelini et al. 2018). Working with

patients and a timely diagnosis is paramount to have precise genetic consultation and maximum possible risk reduction. It is especially important to avert problems and treat complications as soon as possible in cases where patients have circulatory and respiratory system involvement, as this helps to increase life quality and expectancy. In very severe cases there is a high risk of infections, hypoventilation and respiratory arrest, in addition regular heart monitoring is recommended for LGMD patients (Guglieri and Bushby 2011; Angelini et al. 2018).

The treatment of the majority of LGMD forms is still based on palliative and supportive therapy. As LGMD pathomechanisms are still not well understood, true curative treatment does not exist yet (Angelini et al. 2018). In cases of alpha-sarcoglycanopathy Deflazacort has been used and has shown improved performance (Angelini et al. 1998). Another possible treatment might be the use of antisense oligonucleotides, able to induce exon skipping, generating smaller transcripts that result in functional proteins. This approach has been shown to work in cells from an alpha sarcoglycanopathy patient with an in-frame deletion as well as in a mouse model of LGMD R5 γ -sarcoglycan-related exhibiting a frameshift variant (Shimo et al. 2018; Demonbreun et al. 2020). Research into stem cell application is ongoing, but has yet to yield any meaningful results. Another of the possible cures might be the virus-mediated gene transfer, being tried in various muscle dystrophy animal models. Promising results have been shown in LGMD R3 a-sarcoglycan-related, LGMD R1 calpain3-related and LGMD R2 dysferlin-related mouse models (Guha et al. 2019; Griffin et al. 2021). Sarepta Therapeutics already have three gene therapy products in clinical phase testing - two for sarcoglycan related LGMD and one for dysferlin-related LGMD. However, there is still work to be done for these methods to be approved for wider clinical use.

The optimal patient care should be provided by an interdisciplinary team of doctors, which, in addition to a neuromuscular disease specialist, would include also an orthopediatrician, a pulmonologist, a cardiologist, a social worker and various therapists, tasked with maintaining the independence of movement for as long as possible (Kirschner and Bönnemann 2004). The patient care should be tailored to each individual, based on the exact type of LGMD. The general care, in order to increase the longevity and quality of life, includes weight control, physical therapy and stretching exercises to maintain mobility and avoid contractures. Many cases require mechanical aids or surgery to ensure mobility of patients (Pegoraro and Hoffman 2012). The diagnosis of the exact form of LGMD can considerably improve the quality of life of patients and prolong survival, furthermore helping us gain knowledge for the future, when more advanced gene and protein specific therapies might be available (Guglieri and Bushby 2011).

1.3.1. Caveolinopathies

Caveolinopathies are a group of muscle disorders, associated with defects and the subsequent decrease in the levels of the membrane protein caveolin-3 (Galbiati et al. 2001b; Williams and Lisanti 2004; Woodman et al. 2004). The five main phenotypes associated with *CAV3* pathogenic variants used to be limb-girdle muscular dystrophy autosomal dominant type C (LGMD 1C), isolated hyperCKemia, rippling muscle disease (RMD), hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM), and distal myopathy (DM), although a few other rarer phenotypes had been identified over the years (Aboumousa et al. 2008; Gazzerro et al. 2010). During the reclassification however, it was determined that the main phenotypical features of caveolinopathies are rippling muscle disease and myalgia, with muscle weakness being a secondary phenotypic feature, and therefore it is no longer considered an LGMD (Straub et al. 2018). Before reclassification caveolinopathies were found to be the most common dominant form of LGMD in Italy, with a frequency of 63.5% (Magri et al. 2017). The patients are described to have the disease onset in the first decade of life (Gazzerro et al. 2011a).

The hypertrophic cardiomyopathy phenotype has been associated with *CAV3* variants in humans in only one family, however the mice models have shown a possible role of caveolin-3 in the pathogenesis of cardiac disorders (Hayashi et al. 2004). The protein is expressed in cardiomyocytes and it is hypothesized that caveolae function as a control center of cellular signaling in these cells (Kikuchi et al. 2005). Cav-3 knockout mice display convincing cardiomyopathy phenotype (myocardium hypertrophy, dilation, and reduced fractional shortening), thus lending credence to these claims, however no definite mechanisms have been found so far (Woodman et al. 2002; Gazzerro et al. 2010).

The gene encoding caveolin-3, *CAV3*, is the only known locus associated with caveolinopathies, with pathogenic variants identified in 99% of all caveolinopathy cases (Gazzerro et al. 2011b). *CAV3* itself is located on chromosome 3p25.3 and has two coding exons (Fulizio et al. 2005). *CAV3* expression has been detected in all muscle cells, as well as in glial cells and early postnatal peripheral nerves. It is a highly evolutionarily conserved gene, suggesting a vital function; therefore, frequent sequence variations at this locus are not expected (Gazzerro et al. 2010).

The protein caveolin-3 is a muscle specific member of the caveolin family of proteins that form flask-shaped invaginations (caveolae) on the cytoplasmic surface of sarcolemmal membranes (Figure 2.) (Cohen et al. 2004; Gazzerro et al. 2010). It interacts with a number of proteins, including beta dystroglycan, dysferlin, nNOS, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, Srckinase and phosphofructokinase (Hayashi et al. 2004; Couchoux et al. 2011). The main known functions of caveolae include organization of specific microdomains at the plasma membrane, the regulation of signaling, endocytosis, exocytosis, and mechano-transduction (Shaul and Anderson 1998; Stahlhut et al. 2000; Dewulf et al. 2019).

The protein is formed by the C'- and N'-terminal portions that are exposed to the cytoplasm and a hydrophobic middle part that forms a single loop, embedded in the lipid bilayer, without crossing it (Schlegel et al. 1999; Schlegel and Lisanti 2000). The near-membrane part of the N'-terminal tail contains the caveolin scaffolding domain - a region that is believed to allow interactions with many signaling proteins (Figure 2.). This region is located within the oligomerization motif, which allows nine caveolin monomers to assemble into a toroidal nonamer. These structures can further assemble into even larger polyhedral-like structures, which trigger the membrane invagination (Whiteley et al. 2012; Pradhan and Prószyński 2020). This process is controlled by a family of proteins, called cavins, that interact with caveolin (Pradhan and Prószyński 2020). At the cell surface caveolins can be scaffolded by actin and microtubules, thus regulating their stability (Head et al. 2006; Richter et al. 2008).



Figure 2. Caveolin-3 in the caveolae and its domain organization. A. Schematic representation of caveolae and the associated caveolin-3 proteins. B. Pathogenic variants in caveolin-3, associated with caveolinopathies. RMD – rippling muscle disease, CK – creatine phosphokinase, DM – distal myopathy. Figure adapted from Pradhan *et al.* 2020.

In vitro functional research has shown that caveolin-3 is an important regulator of myoblast differentiation and efficient fusion (Volonte et al. 2003; Quach et al. 2009; Stoppani et al. 2011; Madaro et al. 2011). Furthermore, not only is caveolin known to play a part in cell membrane repair, its retention in the Golgi apparatus due to pathogenic variants, causes mislocalization of TRIM72 and DYSF proteins, both known to be involved in muscle repair (Hernández-Deviez et al. 2008; Cai et al. 2009a, b; Corrotte et al. 2013). Another process where caveolin plays a role is the formation of T-tubules, which themselves are crucial for proper muscle contraction. Cav3 is enriched in T-tubules and it has been shown in Cav3 knock-out animal model that the absence of the protein leads to disorganization of T-tubules system in both skeletal and cardiac muscles (Parton et al. 1997; Galbiati et al. 2001a; Minetti et al. 2002; Bryant et al. 2018). The protein is also known to associate with the dystrophin-associated glycoprotein complex, which plays a crucial role in muscle fiber integrity by linking the

extracellular matrix with cytoskeleton. Cav3 binds to the same site of β -dystroglycan as dystrophin, thus over-abundance of caveolin-3 might cause instability of the entire glycoprotein complex. Interestingly, elevated caveolin-3 expression has been observed in Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients, where the formation of this complex is affected (Repetto et al. 1999; Pradhan and Prószyński 2020). It has also been described that increased level of Cav3 expression in skeletal muscle of transgenic mice causes muscular dystrophy, which is more similar to Duchenne muscular dystrophy (Galbiati et al. 2000).

Muscle biopsies usually show varying muscle fiber size, muscle fiber degeneration and regeneration, associated with the elevated serum CK levels, as well as increased number of central nuclei. The decrease in Cav-3 expression can be up to 80% of norm (Gazzerro et al. 2010).

It is possible for people from one family with the same variant to have different phenotypes, overlapping disease phenotypes being described in some of the families with caveolinopathies; no certain phenotype–genotype correlations have been observed (Catteruccia et al. 2009). It has been proposed that the multiple pathways that caveolin-3 is a part of, might explain some of the phenotypic variability. Serum creatine kinase (CK) levels increase steadily over time, but do not correlate with the progress of disease (Gazzerro et al. 2010).

1.3.2. Calpainopathies

Calpainopathies were the first form of LGMDs, associated with lack of a non-structural protein. The degenerative changes are caused by pathogenic variants in the *CAPN3* gene that codes the muscle specific enzyme calpain-3, associated with LGMD type 2A, currently known as R1 (Sáenz et al. 2005). It is believed that this type constitutes 15-40% of all LGMD cases, and has the average frequency of 1:100 000 people, with some regional exceptions. This frequency is close to the estimated prevalence in all populations of 8.4 per one million individuals. The disease has high prevalence in Eastern Europe, Czech Republic, Spain, Italy, the Netherlands, northern England, and Brazil (Duno et al. 2008; Norwood et al. 2009; Chu and Moran 2018; Liu et al. 2019). The gene is located on chromosome 15 q1.5.1 to q1.5.3. It is a large gene, consisting of 24 coding exons, which makes classical mutation testing time and resource consuming. Around 500 unique pathogenic variants in *CAPN3* have been associated with LGMD R1, in addition to apparently neutral or unclassified variants (Landrum et al. 2018; Barp et al. 2020; Howe et al. 2021).

Calpain-3 is a part of the calpain superfamily of Ca^{2+} -dependent non-lysosomal cysteine proteases that are heterodimers composed of two distinct subunits. The protein is activated by intracellular Ca^{2+} and cleaves specific substrates (Carafoli and Molinari 1998). One of the

peculiarities of CAPN3 is its high autolytic activity, which is being suppressed in skeletal muscles through its binding to connectin/titin (Sorimachi et al. 1993; Ono et al. 2006). Several mechanisms have been shown to depend on the proteolytic function of the protein, such as mechanosensory transduction and sarcomere remodeling after exercise (Kramerova et al. 2005; Ono et al. 2016). The non-proteolytic functions of CAPN3 allows it to contribute to the maintenance of Ca^{2+} homeostasis, by stabilizing critical Ca^{2+} handling proteins. The main functions of CAPN3 are thought to be regulation of muscle contraction and sarcomere stability, with suggestions of it playing a role as a sensor of sarcomere integrity (Ojima et al. 2007; Ono et al. 2010; Lasa-Elgarresta et al. 2019). The protein has been found in most parts of the muscle fiber - sarcomere, membrane fraction, sarcoplasmic reticulum, cytosol, and the nucleus (Ojima et al. 2011; Lasa-Elgarresta et al. 2019).

The age of onset for calpainopathies may vary from 2 up to 40 years of age, with 14 being the most common age of onset. The average age when patients lose ambulation is around 32 years of age, with no apparent correlation between the age of onset and the progression in loss of ambulation, or between the sex of patient and the possibility of losing ambulation (Sáenz et al. 2005). The possible disease phenotypes range from mild to severe, and include the more common pelvifemoral LGMD (muscle weakness first in the pelvic girdle and then in the shoulder girdle, with toe-walking as an early childhood sign, which might manifest before muscle weakness), the less common and less severe scapulohumeral LGMD (muscle weakness first in the shoulder girdle and then in the pelvic girdle), hyperCKemia and eosinophilic myositis, which may be an early and transient feature (Brown and Amato 2006; Kramerova et al. 2007; Mori-Yoshimura et al. 2017; Lasa-Elgarresta et al. 2019; Barp et al. 2020). Even though all of the pathogenic mechanisms, involving CAPN3, are not entirely understood, it is fairly certain that it is a multifunctional protein. Different studies have shown the following mechanisms to be associated with calpainopathies: oxidative damage, Ca²⁺ dysregulation, sarcomere disorganization, mitochondrial abnormalities, abnormal muscle adaptation, and impaired muscle regeneration (Kramerova et al. 2004, 2009, 2012, 2016; Rajakumar et al. 2013; Nilsson et al. 2014; Yalvac et al. 2017; Toral-Ojeda et al. 2018; El-Khoury et al. 2019; Lasa-Elgarresta et al. 2019). All of these together might lead to the characteristic LGMD R1 features (inflammation, necrosis, fibrosis, atrophy, and progressive muscle degeneration) (Lasa-Elgarresta et al. 2019). Same as in most dystrophies, no definite genotype-phenotype correlations have been found (Fanin et al. 2009; Lasa-Elgarresta et al. 2019). The initial phenotypic traits of calpainopathies usually are pelvic and shoulder muscle weakness and atrophy, which often allows for comparatively easy diagnosis (Duno et al. 2008).

In general, calpainopathies present with either a severe form that has a rapid course or an adult-onset form with loss of ambulation in the late adulthood, they are a more atrophic muscular dystrophy type, with a comparatively narrow affected muscle profile and an early appearance of contractures. The contractures can be so extensive that they start to resemble Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy. Affected individuals usually do not have cardiac involvement but respiratory dysfunction is somewhat common, even though it is usually mild and develops into a serious problem only in the late stages of the disease (Di Ri K et al. 2001; Groen et al. 2007; Peters et al. 2009; Mori-Yoshimura et al. 2017). The disease is progressive, however, with proper care the life expectancy of patients is close to normal (Kirschner and Bönnemann 2004; Angelini et al. 2018). Muscle biopsy western blotting in the case of calpainopathies may be useful to differentiate secondary calpain reduction, seen in autoimmune disorders (Mammen 2017). However, muscle biopsy data shows that around 20-30% of LGMD R1 patients have normal calpain-3 expression on Western blot. These patients often carry missense variants, leading to impaired autolytic activity (Nascimbeni et al. 2010). It must be noted though that it is difficult to predict the clinical outcome of these variants, as they have been associated with varying degrees of disease severity and protein amount (Barp et al. 2020). Various groups have reported specific patterns of muscle involvement seen by MRI or computer tomography that may help in differentiating LGMD R1 from other myopathies that are characterized by early contractures (Fardeau et al. 1996; Richard et al. 2016; Feng et al. 2018; Barp et al. 2020).

In the last few years, a number of publications have put forward the concept of an autosomal dominant form of calpainopathy. In 2016, 10 families (36 patients) were reported carrying a recurrent variant (c.643_663del21) that was associated with calpainopathy and a seemingly dominant pattern of inheritance (Vissing et al. 2016). This was followed by reports of three families harboring the same variant, showing an autosomal dominant mode of transmission, and 17 additional index cases with the same variant (Martinez-Thompson et al. 2018; Nallamilli et al. 2018). Following this, the classification of calpainopaties was reassessed and the dominant LGMD D4 calpain3-related form was introduced (Straub et al. 2018). Another heterozygous in-frame deletion (c.598_621del15) was reported as associated with LGMD in 16 unrelated individuals, and later reported in an affected family as well (Nallamilli et al. 2018; Cerino et al. 2020a). Recently, a missense variant - c.1333G>A p.(Gly445Arg) has been reported to be associated with LGMD D4 in four families (14 patients) from France, based on familial segregation analysis. In these cases, patients presented with a mild, late onset form of muscular dystrophy (Cerino et al. 2020b). Around the same time another missense variant c.1715G> C p.(Arg572Pro) has also been reported in a family with mild autosomal dominant

calpainopathy (Vissing et al. 2020). González-Mera et al. have also reported c.1333G>A and another four variants (c.1661A>C, c.1706T>C, c.1327T>C and c.700G>A) in heterozygous state in seven families (21 patients). In five of these, the respective variant segregates with autosomal dominant calpainopathy, and in the remaining two the index patient was the only carrier in the family; however, the clinical phenotype and muscle imaging was highly similar to the previously described LGMD D4 cases (González-Mera et al. 2021). In all cases protein studies demonstrated reduced calpain-3 level and protein modeling predicted these variants to disrupt either calmodulin binding, which affects proteolytic activation, or β -sheet formation, which affects protein stability (González-Mera et al. 2021). All patients described exhibit slowly progressive proximal myopathy, elevated CK levels and a generally milder phenotype, when compared to the recessive form (Vissing et al. 2020; Cerino et al. 2020b; González-Mera et al. 2021). Interestingly, we have also identified a family in Latvia, carrying the c.1333G>A variant, and presenting with a mild autosomal dominant calpainopathy phenotype (unpublished data). Identical to the report by González-Mera et al. we found one individual in this family presenting with a more severe phenotype, and further testing revealed another variant in CAPN3 (c.1043delG), confirming that carriers of two trans-compound variants exhibit the recessive calpainopathy phenotype (González-Mera et al. 2021).

1.3.3. Collagen 6-related myopathies

Historically, mutations in one of the three collagen VI genes—COL6A1, COL6A2 and COL6A3 are associated with Bethlem myopathy 1 and the more severe Ullrich congenital muscular dystrophy 1. Nowadays, however, the two diseases are often seen as the opposite extremes of a spectrum of collagen VI-related myopathies (Briñas et al. 2010; Bönnemann 2011a). Bethlem myopathy was first described in 1976 by Bethlem and Wijngaarden, with patients having a milder and relatively stable myopathy that affects both sexes equally. Autosomal dominant inheritance is predominant, but autosomal recessive cases have been described as well, with the disease usually starting in early infancy and progressing slowly (Bethlem and Wijngaarden 1976; Schmalbruch et al. 1987; Foley et al. 2009; Gualandi et al. 2009; Deconinck et al. 2015; Sframeli et al. 2017; Caria et al. 2019). The trunk and limb muscles are most affected, with involvement of proximal muscles more than distal, and extensors more than flexors. Patients exhibit moderate weakness and atrophy. Nearly all patients eventually develop flexion contractures of the fingers, wrists, elbows, and ankles, which could be considered a hallmark of the Bethlem myopathy (Lampe and Bushby 2005). A lot of affected patients become wheelchair bound by their fifth decade of life, with some dying of respiratory failure (Haq et al. 1999). The collagen VI-related myopathies present with a distinct combination of phenotypic traits (hyperlaxity, contractures and weakness), which usually makes them rather easily recognizable (Bönnemann 2011a). The muscle biopsy findings are variable, with samples from an early disease stage often having no overt dystrophic features but samples from advanced stages showing dystrophic features (rare degenerating and regenerating fibers and a build-up of fibrous tissue in the muscle) (Schessl et al. 2008; Bönnemann 2011a). Most cases don't have elevated CK levels, even though cases with elevated creatine kinase have also been reported (Schmalbruch et al. 1987). Immunostaining biopsy material for collagen VI seems to be a useful diagnostic tool, as recessive variant cases often exhibit greatly reduced or absent collagen VI staining (Higuchi et al. 2001; Vanegas et al. 2001; Peat et al. 2007; Bönnemann 2011a; Zamurs et al. 2015). MRI imaging can be another useful diagnostic tool, as the characteristic pattern allows better recognition of collagen VI-related myopathy, while also allowing to differentiate it from the LMNA related Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy and other myopathies with similar phenotypic traits (Mercuri et al. 2010; Deconinck et al. 2010; Bönnemann 2011a). Although precise information is still scarce, there is compelling evidence that collagen VI-related myopathies are among the most common congenital muscular dystrophies worldwide (Okada et al. 2007; Peat et al. 2008; Norwood et al. 2009; Sframeli et al. 2017).

Genetic heterogeneity is observable all throughout collagen VI-related myopathy cases (Panadés-de Oliveira et al. 2019). This does not make the job of their classification any easier, but it has led scientists to the hypothesis that these myopathies comprise a spectrum of conditions, with variable severity, that is based on a number of factors (Gualandi et al. 2009). To muddle things further, it has been shown that haploinsufficiency is not enough to cause myopathy. This suggests that the previously reported autosomal dominant patients are either carrying an additional undiagnosed variant or there is some still unknown additional regulatory mechanism (Gualandi et al. 2009). Brinas *et al.* and Bonnemann *et al.* have proposed two systems that classify collagen IV-related muscular dystrophies into three or four classes, respectively, based on the severity of the phenotype (Briñas et al. 2010; Bönnemann 2011a). In addition to these, there are two other, more rare phenotypes: a limb-girdle muscular dystrophy (LGMD) like presentation and myosclerosis (Bönnemann 2011b).

The collagen VI is a beaded microfibril collagen that is expressed in the extracellular matrix of nearly all tissues. It is important in anchoring the basement membrane to the extracellular matrix (Timpl and Chu 1994; Kuo et al. 1997; Cescon et al. 2015). The three genes involved, each code one of the three alpha chains of type VI collagen. The alpha chains form heterotrimeric monomers, these are the basic components of most collagen VI, and are then secreted into the extracellular matrix where they form collagen VI microfibrils (Engvall et al.

1986). Each chain contains a triple helical (TH) domain with repeating Gly-X-Y subunits, that is flanked by globular Von Willebrand factor type A (VWA) domains (Figure 3) (Chu et al. 1989; CHU et al. 1990). Missense variants in the conserved glycine residue, located in the Gly-X-Y motif constitute around 30% of known pathogenic variants in the collagen IV genes (Briñas et al. 2010). Such variants or exon skipping in the N-terminal end of the TH domain seems not to disrupt the formation of triple helical monomers, however it does disrupt higher order assembly. Furthermore, variants in a critical region (Gly-X-Y triplets 10-15 in the TH) are associated with a more severe disruption and accordingly increased clinical severity (Lamandé et al. 2002; Pace et al. 2008). Similarly, mutations that cause a complete lack of one of the three chains, cause a complete lack of collagen VI and extracellular microfibrils, resulting in a more severe disease (Higuchi et al. 2001; Vanegas et al. 2001; Demir et al. 2002; Giusti et al. 2005; Peat et al. 2007).



Figure 3. Schematic of the three collagen 6 alpha chain protein domain structures and the formation of microfibrillar structures. Figure adapted from Bönnemann 2011.

Even though collagen VI is expressed in many tissue types, collagen VI-related myopathy pathogenic mechanism research focuses on effects on muscles and tendons. It has been shown that defective or absent collagen VI can affect the formation of collagen I fibrils in tendons, leading to irregular fibrils that are on average smaller and often large and irregular in shape (Sardone et al. 2016; Lamandé and Bateman 2018). Similar process is observable in knock-out and mutant mouse models, such changes in extracellular matrix could explain the biomechanical deficiencies observed in disease (Izu et al. 2011; Pan et al. 2013, 2014). Abnormal mitochondria, dilated sarcoplasmic reticulum and abundance of apoptotic nuclei are characteristic observations in the knock-out mouse model, thus pointing at the fact that collagen VI has cytoprotective properties (Irwin et al. 2003; Lamandé and Bateman 2018). Similar

features can be observed in biopsy samples from collagen VI-related myopathy patients (Tagliavini et al. 2013). A latent mitochondrial dysfunction was found in the knock-out mice myofibers, and it revealed the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP), an important protein in cell death, as a contributor to the phenotype. This dysfunction could be shown by using an inhibitor of mitochondrial ATP synthase (oligomycin), and normalized by a MPTP inhibitor (Irwin et al. 2003). This mechanism works by blocking the MPTP regulator mitochondrial cyclophilin D (Palma et al. 2009; Giorgio et al. 2010). Therefore, drugs that reproduce the cyclophilin D blocking activity, without causing immunosuppression (a sideeffect of the original cyclophilin D blocker) could have possible therapeutic application. Two such drugs have shown effectiveness, when tested in the Col6 knockout mouse model (Tiepolo et al. 2009; Zulian et al. 2014). Oxidative stress is believed to contribute to the disease phenotype through the aforementioned mitochondrial dysfunction, as MPTP activation increases reactive oxygen species (ROS) release. Consistently, ROS production and ROS producing protein levels are higher in Col6 knock-out muscle (Menazza et al. 2010; Zorov et al. 2014). Oxidation and inappropriate interactions between myofibrillar proteins are possible pathogenic mechanisms underlying muscle function defects observed in collagen VI-related myopathies (Lamandé and Bateman 2018). It has been shown that the abnormal mitochondria in these disorders also lead to defective autophagy, by negatively affecting its activation. The reversal of this, by increased autophagy activation, improves the phenotype (Grumati et al. 2010; Lamandé and Bateman 2018). The final mechanism, possibly contributing to the disease phenotype, has to do with satellite cells, the adult muscle stem cells, crucial for muscle regeneration. These cells are in close contact with collagen VI and express collagen VI mRNA (Urciuolo et al. 2013; Lamandé and Bateman 2018). The Col6 knockout mouse muscles show more satellite cells, but also greatly reduced regeneration and increased depletion of these cells (Urciuolo et al. 2013). These are the possible molecular mechanisms, underlying the collagen VI-related myopathy phenotype. However, it must be noted that many aspects of these are still unknown.

1.4. Myosin Binding Protein C1

The muscle sarcomere regulatory and mechanical mechanisms consist of many proteins with fine-tuned properties and tasks. A mutation in any one of those can result in a severe phenotype. With the onset of the genetic era and molecular testing it has been shown that different variants in different domains of the same sarcomeric protein can give rise to very distinct clinical manifestations. These can range in onset - from congenital to late, and result in either muscle weakness or stiffness, based on the specific function of the protein domain that has been affected, whether its changes in calcium sensitivity or target binding. For genes *TPM2*, *TPM3*, and *ACTA1* pathogenic variants causing muscle stiffness have been described in addition to ones associated with the more classical phenotype of muscle weakness and congenital myopathy (Ravenscroft et al. 2015). This diversity highlights the central role of the sarcomere in muscles and the need to elucidate the associated molecular mechanisms and the effects of these mutations on them.

One of such sarcomeric proteins is the myosin binding protein C (MyBP-C) (Figure 4.). MyBP-C was originally discovered in 1971 as a contaminant of skeletal muscle myosin samples, and was later characterized as a myosin binding protein (Starr and Offer 1971; Offer et al. 1973). The protein comprises a family of sarcomeric accessory proteins and includes three isoforms: cardiac (c), fast skeletal (f), and slow skeletal (s) (Flashman et al. 2004). The main functions associated with this family of proteins are stabilization of thick filaments and regulation of actin-myosin cross-bridge cycling (Oakley et al. 2007; Ackermann and Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos 2010; Rybakova et al. 2011). Normal levels of MyBP-C is required for proper assembly of synthetic myosin filaments, in regards to thickness, length, formation of bare zone, and distribution of myosin heads (Winegrad 1999). Muscles lacking MyBP-C are shown to develop sarcomeric misalignments (McConnell et al. 1999; Harris et al. 2002; Palmer et al. 2004; McGrath et al. 2006). The first time the regulatory properties of the protein were noticed, was when it was observed that adding skeletal MyBP-C to skinned myofibers slows down the shortening velocity of actomyosin cross-bridges (Hofmann et al. 1991). It was later shown, using cMyBP-C, that the ~29kDa NH₂- terminus region (including the first 17 amino acids of the M-motif) of the protein can inhibit the sliding velocity of thin filaments along thick filaments, when high Ca^{2+} concentrations are present (Previs et al. 2014). Interestingly, it has also been reported that while cMyBP-C does inhibit the maximum sliding velocity at high Ca²⁺ concentrations, it does activate actomyosin force generation and thus filament sliding at low Ca²⁺ concentrations (Razumova et al. 2006; Previs et al. 2012). This has led people to hypothesize that MyBP-C may act as sort of a "throttle", by regulating the actomyosin cross-bridges in dependence of Ca^{2+} levels. Furthermore, presence or lack of cMyBP-C leads to dramatic changes in Ca²⁺ sensitivity, and knock-out model muscles show much higher Ca^{2+} sensitivity than wild type ones (Hofmann et al. 1991; Harris et al. 2002; Kulikovskaya et al. 2003; Palmer et al. 2004; Cazorla et al. 2006; Chen et al. 2010; Marston et al. 2012). There is, however, another function associated with MyBP-C. It was shown that cMyBP-C increases the ATPase activity of cardiac myosin in the presence of actin, independently of ionic strength, which is the concentration of Ca^{2+} in the surrounding environment. This affects only the actin-activated myosin ATPase activity (Yamamoto 1986;

Winegrad 1999). Interestingly, the effect of skeletal MyBP-C is affected by ionic strength - it is a strong inhibitor at low ionic strength, but a moderate stimulator at high ionic strength (Yamamoto 1986). It has also been proposed that at least one of the members of this family has a certain signaling function (Sadayappan and de Tombe 2012). It must be noted though that most of what we know about these proteins comes from work done on the cardiac form, not sMyBP-C. However, the proteins within the family are very similar, and that lends to thinking that their mechanisms might be highly similar. The slow skeletal form of the protein (sMyBP-C) is encoded by the *MYBPC1* gene located on chromosome 12 q23.2 (Weber et al. 1993). One thing that sets this member of the family apart, is the alternative splicing of this gene, not seen in other MyBP-C forms, that gives rise to at least 14 different variants, regulated through phosphorylation, that are co-expressed in different combinations and amounts in both slow- and fast-twitch muscles, however there is no single muscle that expresses all known sMyBP-C variants, hinting at their distinct roles (Ackermann et al. 2009, 2013; Ackermann and Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos 2010, 2011a, b, 2013).



Figure 4. Schematic representation of a half sarcomere depicting the position of the Z-disk, Iband, A-band, and M-band. Figure adapted from Wang *et al.* 2018.

The protein is located in the thick filament, in the C-zone of the A-band of the sarcomere, present in 7 to 9 transverse stripes (Figure 4.) (Craig and Offer 1976). It is noteworthy that the distance between these stripes is about 43nm - equal to the spacing of the myosin helix repeat (Luther et al. 2008). There are also some sMyBP-C variants that have a unique 26bp insertion in the COOH- terminus and therefore localize to the periphery of the M-band (Ackermann et al. 2009). MYBPC1 is anchored tightly through its interactions with myosin and titin, while its other end modulates the formation and cycling of actomyosin cross-bridges, through its interaction with both actin and myosin (Offer et al. 1973; Okagaki et al. 1993; Freiburg and

Gautel 1996; Harris et al. 2011). Experiments on cultured human skeletal muscle cells showed that MYBPC1 is expressed in the initial stages of muscle cell differentiation; in mouse models its expression was observed during embryonic development. In both cases it succeeds the expression of titin and sarcomeric myosin. Due to this, it has been hypothesized that the protein has an essential role during myofibrillogenesis and it may be essential for sarcomeric assembly and maintenance (Gautel et al. 1998; Abdul-Hussein et al. 2012). The protein itself is modular and consists of ten distinct domains - seven immunoglobulin (Ig) and three fibronectin-III (Fn-III) repeats, numbered C1 to C10. The NH₂- terminus of the protein contains the Pro/Ala-rich motif, followed by the Ig domain C1 and the MyBP-C specific motif, termed M-motif - the region of interest in our project, that is expressed in all splice variants (Figure 1., page 38) (Einheber and Fischman 1990; Ackermann and Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos 2010). Another feature that sets the sMyBP-C apart from both other forms is that it is lacking a linker region between Ig domains C4 and C5 (Flashman et al. 2008). Most of the variably spliced regions are located in the NH₂- and the COOH- termini, and are believed to attribute to specific binding properties, as the NH₂- terminus of sMyBP-C, including the Pro/Ala-rich motif, C1, and the M-motif, supports binding to actin and myosin subfragment-2 (S2) in a variant-specific manner (Ackermann and Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos 2013). Meanwhile the COOH- terminus binds directly to light meromyosin (LMM) and supports binding to titin, obscurin, four and a half LIM domains 1 (FHL1) protein, and creatine kinase (Okagaki et al. 1993; Freiburg and Gautel 1996; McGrath et al. 2006; Ackermann et al. 2009; Chen et al. 2011). The NH₂- terminus is also where the phosphorylation sites are located for the sMyBP-C - three sites have been identified in the Pro/Ala rich region, and one in the M-motif. Not all sites are present in all of the protein variants (Ackermann and Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos 2011b, 2013). The effects of sMyBP-C phosphorylation are still being studied; however, it has been shown that phosphorylation levels are altered in response to stresses. They are significantly reduced in both slow and fast twitch muscles in the processes of ageing, dystrophy, and distal arthrogryposis, but they are increased in slow twitch muscles in response to fatigue (Ackermann et al. 2015).

Interestingly, while for another member of the MYBPC family - the cardiac form, more than 500 pathogenic variants have been described and associated with hypertrophic or dilated cardiomyopathy, first pathogenic variants for sMyBP-C have been reported only relatively recently (Landrum et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2018). The first reported pathogenic variants in the *MYBPC1* gene, and the majority of variants reported now are associated with autosomal dominant types of congenital distal arthrogryposis (DA, types 1B and 2) (Gurnett et al. 2010; Li et al. 2015). Additionally, recessive variants have been associated with Lethal Congenital Contracture Syndrome 4 and Arthrogryposis Multiplex Congenita (Markus et al. 2012;

Ekhilevitch et al. 2016). A zebrafish model of the human DA associated variants exhibited features similar to human patients - impaired motor unit excitation, disorganized myofibrils, reduced number of sarcomeres and severe body curvature (Ha et al. 2013). Our work, as part of the neuromuscular disease research project, as well as others, have recently linked protein domain specific (located in the M-motif) dominant variants in this gene to yet another phenotype - mild myopathy, associated with a persistent, posturally pronounced, high-frequency tremor (Shashi et al. 2019). Interestingly, a natural animal model of a calf, carrying a pathogenic variant in the same protein region, had been described previously, presenting with congenital muscle weakness and tremor (Wiedemar et al. 2015).

Journal of Muscle Research and Cell Motility https://doi.org/10.1007/s10974-019-09559-1



Sarcomeric myopathies associated with tremor: new insights and perspectives

Janis Stavusis^{1,2} · Janelle Geist² · Aikaterini Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos²

Received: 7 May 2019 / Accepted: 5 October 2019 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Abstract

Myopathies are a large and heterogeneous group of disorders associated with mutations in structural and regulatory genes responsible for proper muscle assembly, organization and function. Despite the molecular diversity of inherited myopathies, they have historically been classified by the phenotypic traits observed in affected patients. It is therefore common for myopathies originating from mutations in different genes to be grouped together due to similar physical manifestations, and conversely myopathies resulting from mutations in the same gene to be considered separately due to disparate symptoms. Herein, we focus on an early onset myopathy linked to inherited or de novo mutations in sarcomeric genes that is characterized by muscle weakness, hypotonia and tremor, and further highlight that it may constitute a new form of myopathy, with tremor as its defining feature. Based on recent reports, we also discuss the possible myogenic origin of the tremor that may start at the level of the sarcomere due to structural and/or contractile alterations occurring as a result of the identified mutations. It is our hope that establishment of this form of myopathy accompanied by myogenic tremor as a new disease entity will have important diagnostic and therapeutic implications.

Keywords Sarcomeric genes · Congenital myopathy · Muscle weakness · Hypotonia · Tremor

Introduction

Myopathies constitute a large and heterogeneous group of neuromuscular disorders, associated with structural defects and/or contractile dysfunction of muscle fibers (Schorling et al. 2017). Although they may manifest as variable phenotypes of different severities affecting all body musculature (i.e. generalized myopathies) or limited muscle groups (i.e. distal or proximal myopathies), muscle weakness and/or wasting have been the hallmarks of myopathies (Schorling et al. 2017).

Janis Stavusis and Janelle Geist have contributed equally in the preparation of the review article.

Aikaterini Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos akontrogianni@som.umaryland.edu

² Dept. of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, 108 N. Greene Street, Baltimore, MD 21201, USA

Prior to the genetic era, myopathies were mainly classified by phenotypic traits and/or histological findings of muscle biopsies (Schorling et al. 2017). However, during the last two decades there has been a major shift towards a genetically based classification, highlighting the congenital nature of myopathies and emphasizing the association of selective features with certain forms (Schorling et al. 2017). A tremor phenotype, defined as rhythmic, involuntary, oscillatory movement of a body part, may stem from a wide range of pathologies, most originating from abnormalities in central and/or peripheral/sensory circuits (Morales-Briceño et al. 2018). Herein, we focus on tremor as a distinctive phenotypic characteristic accompanying an early-onset myopathy originating from mutations in genes encoding sarcomeric proteins, likely due to structural and/ or contractile alterations instead of neurological etiologies. Notably, such mutations are found in both thick and thin filament proteins, exhibit dominant or recessive inheritance, and affect both genders similarly. In particular, mutations in the thick filament proteins myosin heavy and light chains, and slow skeletal myosin binding protein-C (sMyBP-C) (Fig. 1 and Table 1), and the thin filament proteins troponin,

¹ Latvian Biomedical Research and Study Centre, Ratsupites 1, Riga LV-1067, Latvia


Fig. 1 Schematic of thick filament associated proteins showing the location of mutations co-segregating with myopathy characterized by tremor

tropomyosin and nebulin (Fig. 2 and Table 1) have been shown to lead to the development of myopathy with tremor.

Given that tremor pathogenesis has been traditionally associated with neurological defects (Morales-Briceño et al. 2018), its presence in myopathic patients and spontaneous or preclinical animal models in the absence of apparent neuropathy is intriguing and perplexing. The following is an overview of myopathic cases due to purely sarcomeric mutations, reporting tremor as a prominent feature, which we argue should be grouped as a novel, singular myopathic disease entity.

Thick filament associated mutations

Myosin heavy chain 7 (MYH7)

Campus syndrome-c.4320_4321insCCCGCC p.A1440_ A1441insPA: One of the first cases of tremor causatively

D Springer

linked to a sarcomeric mutation was described as Campus syndrome in Pietrain pigs (Wissel et al. 1997). Affected pigs showed tremor in their extremities when standing and walking (Wissel et al. 1997), but not at rest (Richter et al. 1995; Murgiano et al. 2012). Further studies on piglets bred from the original swine father, Campus, determined that the syndrome was inherited in an autosomal dominant fashion and Campus was a gonadal mosaic founder (Murgiano et al. 2012). Onset occurred between 2 and 9 weeks of age and was progressive, with most pigs dying of heart attack before maturity (Murgiano et al. 2012). Additional phenotypic characteristics of the syndrome included muscle weakness throughout the body, postural instability, muscle fiber degeneration and interstitial fibrosis (Murgiano et al. 2012). Treatment with drugs targeting myoclonus, defined as involuntary muscle twitching, proved to be ineffective (Richter et al. 1995). No brain or peripheral nerve alterations were observed and motor nerve conduction velocity appeared to be unaltered (Richter et al. 1995; Murgiano et al. 2012),

Table 1List of mutations in
sarcomeric genes encoding
thick and thin filament
associated proteins linked to
myopathy with tremor

Mutation	Organism	Inheritance	Number of patients with tremor
Thick filament associated prote	eins		
MYH7 (myosin heavy chain 7)		
A1440_A1441insPA	Pig	De novo/Inherited	Not applicable
L1453P	Human	Inherited	6
L1467V	Human	De novo	1
R1500P	Human	De novo	1
K1617del	Human	De novo/Inherited	5
L1706P	Human	De novo	1
MYH2 (myosin heavy chain-I	Ia)		
E706K	Human	Inherited	2
MYL2 (myosin regulatory light	ht chain 2)		
403-1G>C	Human	Inherited	11
P144LfsX2/D145TfsX2	Human	Inherited	2
MYBPC1 (myosin binding pr	otein-C, slow skeletal)		
Y247H	Human	Inherited	4
E248K	Human	Inherited	4
L259P	Human	De novo	1
L263R	Human	De novo/Inherited	3
L295R	Calf	De novo	Not applicable
Thin filament associated protei	ns		
TNNT1 (Slow skeletal tropon	in T)		
S108X	Human	Inherited	1
E180X	Human	Inherited	>70
L203X	Human	Inherited	9
NEB (nebulin)			
S8042X	Dog	Inherited	Not applicable
TPM3 (tropomyosin α-3 chai	n)		
ΔΕ224	Human	De novo	1

whereas semi-tendinous muscle electromyography (EMG) revealed a high amplitude tremor pattern of 14–15 Hz (Wissel et al. 1997).

Linkage mapping pinpointed a six-base pair insertion c.4320_4321insCCCGCC located in exon 30 of the *MYH7* gene, which segregated perfectly with the Campus syndrome phenotype in all pigs heterozygous for the mutant allele (Murgiano et al. 2012) (Fig. 1 and Table 1). The mutation causes an in-frame insertion of two amino acids, proline and alanine, in a highly conserved region of the protein.

MYH7 encodes slow skeletal myosin heavy chain 7, also known as β -myosin heavy chain, which is predominantly expressed in fetal skeletal muscle and in type 1 skeletal muscle fibers post-birth (Wang et al. 2018). In the heart, *MYH7* is switched on in response to physical stress. Interestingly, some carrier pigs reportedly died after stress from sudden heart attack (Murgiano et al. 2012).

Using Marcoil software that examines the existence and location of potential coiled-coil domains in proteins, it was predicted that the insertion of the proline and alanine residues disrupted the conserved coiled-coil region in the COOH-terminus of β -myosin heavy chain, likely affecting the assembly and stabilization of thick myosin filaments and thus contractility and force production (Murgiano et al. 2012).

It is noteworthy that in the Murgiano study (Murgiano et al. 2012), of the ten pigs affected with Campus syndrome, six were homozygous and one was heterozygous for the p.R615C mutation present in the *RYR1* gene encoding the Ca²⁺ release channel ryanodine receptor, that results in malignant hyperthermia syndrome (Fujii et al. 1991). This disease is associated with a stress susceptibility phenotype that is common in Pietrain pigs. Notably, the authors excluded any possible association between the p.R615C mutation and the development of Campus syndrome by the affected pigs, and further suggested that the presence of the *MYH7* mutation (*p.A1440_A1441insPA*) underlies the observed myopathic phenotype.

Laing distal myopathies-p.R1500P, p.K1617del, and p.L1706P: In 2006, Lamont et al. described eight cases, both

Springer





Fig. 2 Schematic depiction of thin filament associated proteins showing the location of mutations linked to myopathy accompanied by tremor

sporadic and familial, with different mutations in the MYH7 gene, classifying them as distal myopathy-1 (MPD1), also known as Laing distal myopathy (Lamont et al. 2006) (Fig. 1 and Table 1). Out of these eight cases, one patient carried the p.R1500P mutation, five contained the p.K1617del mutation, and one carried the p.L1706P mutation, with tremor reported as a common and defining symptom. Although disease onset varied considerably among cases, patients with tremor exhibited early onset between 1 and 5 years of age. Early symptoms included distal foot muscle weakness followed by finger extensor weakness, often in tandem with tremor of the hands related to both posture and action (Lamont et al. 2006). Mild involvement of the face was noted, with weakness of orbicularis oculi and orbicularis oris, along with weakness of neck flexion. In some individuals the disease progressed to involve the truncal and proximal leg muscles, though the deterioration in strength was very gradual (over the course of many years), and none of the affected individuals were confined to a wheelchair (Lamont et al. 2006). Of note, the study by Lamont et al. mentioned tremor in five out of eight patients with the p.K1617del mutation (Lamont et al. 2006), while a later study by Fiorillo et al. described three (additional) patients carrying the same mutation, without mentioning the presence of tremor (Fiorillo et al. 2016). However, it is unknown if these patients did not develop tremor, or if it was simply not reported.

D Springer

Examination of serum creatine kinase (CK) levels, an indicator of muscle damage, revealed great variability among patients, as some maintained normal levels while others showed an eightfold increase above the normal upper limit (Lamont et al. 2006). Muscle biopsy findings were also variable, revealing generalized myopathic changes, including predominance of type 1 or type 2 fibers among different families, excessive fiber size variation, small/atrophic type 1 fibers, necrotic and regenerating fibers, central nucleation, autophagic vacuoles in both fiber types, occasional "motheaten", "ring" or "whorled" fibers, and a minor degree of fiber splitting. In some samples, intermediate fibers could also be seen, suggesting progressive fiber type switching (Lamont et al. 2006). Interestingly, all three mutations are located in the coiled coil region of the light meromyosin tail domain of the myosin heavy chain β isoform, similar to the Campus mutations described above.

c.4358T p.L1453P: An additional case of Laing distal myopathy that co-segregates with a mutation in *MYH7* and is characterized by tremor was reported by Lefter and colleagues in an Irish family (Lefter et al. 2015). Specifically, six affected individuals were heterozygous for the c.4358T>C p.L1453P mutation located in exon 32, which is in the same COOH-terminal coiled coil light meromyosin tail region as the Campus and Laing mutations described above (Fig. 1 and Table 1). Mutations in this exon are often

associated with cardiomyopathy (Wang et al. 2018), which was observed in one of the carriers, while two other patients presented with respiratory muscle impairment. The disease manifested in early childhood, with patients exhibiting various degrees of proximal upper and lower limb weakness. Notably, two out of the six patients exhibited postural tremor, and three others were severely disabled by middle age. Muscle biopsy samples showed fiber size variation, increased amounts of central nucleation, and rimmed vacuoles (Lefter et al. 2015).

Multiminicore disease (MmD)-c.4399C>G p.L1467V: Two cases of multiminicore disease (MmD) were reported by Cullup et al. associated with two different heterozygous missense mutations in *MYH7*, c.4399C>G p.L1467V and c.4763G>C p.R1588P, which reside in exons 32 and 34, respectively (Cullup et al. 2012) (Fig. 1 and Table 1).

Of the two mutations, only c.4399C>G p.L1467V was associated with marked action tremor in late adulthood. The patient showed both dilated cardiomyopathy and skeletal muscle deficits with prominent distal weakness primarily in the lower limbs that developed throughout adulthood, and non-progressive proximal weakness, which affected mostly the upper limbs. Mild facial weakness was also noted. In addition to tremor, the patient developed cardiorespiratory failure, muscle wasting, contractures, scapular winging and spinal rigidity during late adulthood (Cullup et al. 2012). Muscle biopsies revealed an increase in the presence of central nucleation, fiber size variability, type 1 fiber predominance, "ring" fibers, numerous core structures with focal loss of enzyme activity, and modest sarcomeric disorganization (Cullup et al. 2012).

Similar to the aforementioned Campus and Laing associated *MYH7* mutations, the MmD mutations are located in the tail domain of β -myosin heavy chain, possibly disturbing the proper conformation of the coiled-coil region of the myosin heavy chain tail and/or impairing its binding interactions.

Myosin heavy chain-IIa (MYH2)

c.G2116>A p.E706K: In 2000, a Swedish family was identified with a progressive autosomal dominant myopathy manifesting as mild proximal muscle weakness with multiple joint contractures and opthalmoplegia (Martinsson et al. 2000). Using linkage analysis, radiation hybrid mapping and single-strand conformation polymorphism analysis, the disease locus was identified as a missense mutation, p.E706K, in exon 17 of myosin heavy chain II-a. Importantly, the E706 residue located within the SH1 helix of the MyHC motor head is 100% conserved in all known myosin classes (Cope et al. 1996; Tajsharghi et al. 2004).

In six patients of the multi-generation Swedish carrier family (Martinsson et al. 2000), type 2A fibers were small and infrequent, while other fiber types appeared normal.

Moreover, rimmed vacuoles were frequent with inclusions of 15–20 nm tubulofilaments (Martinsson et al. 2000). Although no tremor was described in the original report that identified the p.E706K mutation (Martinsson et al. 2000), a 2004 study by Tajsharghi and colleagues noted that two patients in the family exhibited hand tremor in addition to muscle weakness and contractures (Tajsharghi et al. 2004). While MyHC mutations may exert dominant negative effects on muscle function by altered myosin-actin interactions, defects in myosin ATPase activity, or interference with filament assembly and sarcomeric structure, the exact effect of the p.E706K mutation has yet to be elucidated (Martinsson et al. 2000).

Myosin regulatory light chain 2 (MYL2)

c.403-1G>C, c.431delC p.P144LfsX2, and c.432delT p.D145TfsX2: Eleven affected infants in eight Dutch families and two affected infants in an Italian family with similar clinical and biopsy findings were reported by Weterman et al. in 2013 exhibiting a cardioskeletal myopathy with onset and death during early infancy (four to six months of age) (Weterman et al. 2013). At birth, all patients were vigorous with no obvious signs of cardiac or skeletal muscle pathology with the exception of generalized, high amplitude tremor. The tremor was present while awake but absent during sleep and slowly abated over a period of weeks. Within weeks after birth, rapid and progressive generalized muscle weakness was noted in patients, including presentation with tented mouth or global facial muscle involvement, including facial palsy and ptosis. All patients developed cardiomyopathy, mainly dilated, which led to heart failure and death during infancy. Autopsies performed on deceased patients and a sural nerve biopsy showed no indication of central nervous system (CNS) involvement, which was therefore excluded as the primary causation of the observed tremor phenotype (Weterman et al. 2013).

Genetic investigation revealed a homozygous missense mutation (c.403-1G>C) in the *MYL2* gene located on chromosome 12 in all of the Dutch patients (Weterman et al. 2013) (Fig. 1 and Table 1). The mutation affects the last acceptor splice site in the gene, leading to usage of a cryptic splice site upstream from the last exon (exon 7) that results in frameshift and replacement of the last 32 codons by 20 new codons. Notably, the Italian patients that exhibited similar pathology and phenotypic features were found to be compound heterozygous for two different mutations in *MYL2* (c.431delC p.P144LfsX2 and c.432delT p.D145TfsX2) within the same exon (exon 7) that also leads to a frameshift, premature termination, and truncation of 20 amino acids (Weterman et al. 2013) (Fig. 1 and Table 1). Thus, the mutations identified in both the Dutch and Italian patients appear

Springer

to alter the COOH-terminus of myosin regulatory light chain 2 in a similar fashion.

The main histological findings observed in skeletal muscle biopsy samples from all affected patients included fibertype disproportion with type 1 fiber hypotrophy, myofibrillar lysis, sarcomeric disorganization and loss of sarcomere register. Notably, the mutant protein showed diffuse and weak expression (Weterman et al. 2013).

Myosin regulatory light chain 2, encoded by *MYL2*, binds to myosin heavy chain 7 (encoded by *MYH7*) and has both structural and regulatory roles in muscle contraction (Wang et al. 2018). In both the Dutch and Italian families, the identified mutations affect one of the EF-hand domains, suggested to serve as Ca^{2+} sensor and modulator of Ca^{2+} signaling, that undergoes conformational change upon Ca^{2+} binding allowing for interactions with downstream targets (Wimberly et al. 1995; Grey et al. 2005). Thus, it is likely that the two mutations may impact thick filament assembly and maintenance and/or actomyosin contractility.

Myosin binding protein-C, slow skeletal (MYBPC1)

c.739T>C p.Y247H, c.742G>A p.E248K, c.776T>C p.L259P, and c.788T>G p.L263R/p.L295R: Our team recently described a myopathy associated with novel mutations in the MYBPC1 gene which encodes Myosin Binding Protein-C slow (sMyBP-C) (Ackermann and Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos 2011, 2013). Previously, mutations in MYBPC1 were solely associated with severe and lethal forms of distal arthrogryposis (DA) (Geist and Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos 2016). The encoded protein belongs to a family of sarcomeric accessory proteins consisting of three distinct isoforms that contribute to the stabilization of thick filaments and the regulation of cross-bridge cycling (Martyn 2004; de Tombe 2006; Ackermann and Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos 2013; Ackermann et al. 2013). MYBPC1 is located on chromosome 12 and is heavily spliced giving rise to at least fourteen slow variants co-expressed in slow- and fast-twitch skeletal muscles in different ratios (Weber et al. 1993; Ackermann and Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos 2013; Ackermann et al. 2015). Interestingly, the four reported mutations reside in constitutively expressed exons within the NH2-terminal M-motif of the protein that contributes to the dynamic binding of sMyBP-C with actin and myosin S2 and the modulation of actomyosin cross bridges in the force generating cycle (Ackermann et al. 2013) (Fig. 1 and Table 1).

The c.739T>C p.Y247H and c.742G>A, p.E248K mutations were identified in several members of two independent families from Germany and Latvia, respectively, with an autosomal dominant pattern of inheritance (Stavusis et al. 2019). The carriers display early-onset, predominantly axial muscle weakness, hypotonia, contractures

Springer

in the knees and elbows, skeletal deformities (scoliosis), spinal rigidity and thoracic asymmetry as well as lumbar hyperlordosis. Tremor of high frequency and irregular amplitude was also reported, primarily in the hands, which was exacerbated by posture; notably, the tremor was obvious since birth (Stavusis et al. 2019). Patients with the p.Y247H mutation also presented with tongue tremor. EMG results revealed a myopathic pattern without spontaneous activity and a high frequency postural tremor (10 Hz) in the arms and hands. Clinical symptoms progressed slowly until adolescence and then reached a plateau phase, with all patients displaying moderate levels of disabilities and ambulation difficulties. Histopathological examination of muscle biopsies revealed generalized myopathic changes, including an increase of type 1 fibers (Stavusis et al. 2019).

In vitro biochemical studies showed significantly increased binding of both mutant proteins to heavy meromyosin (Stavusis et al. 2019). This was further corroborated by computational modeling indicating that both the p.Y247H and p.E248K mutations introduce additional positive charges in a stable 3-helix bundle of the M-motif, therefore increasing the number of favorable electrostatic interactions with the predicted (negatively charged) binding site on myosin (Stavusis et al. 2019). However, it is noteworthy that the charge of the histidine sidechains can be greatly affected by even small changes in pH, therefore making it more difficult to predict the exact effect of the p.Y247H mutation in vitro (Li and Hong 2011). The purported increase in electrostatic binding between mutant sMyBP-C proteins and myosin may result in the formation of abnormal and deregulated crossbridges, which in addition to causing a deficit in force production underlying muscle weakness, may act as the primary pacemaker of the observed tremor.

Similar to the p.Y247H and p.E248K mutations, the c.776T>C p.L259P and c.788T>G p.L263R mutations result in a myopathic phenotype that includes severe congenital hypotonia, muscle weakness and tremor at rest, posture, and on intention in extremities (Shashi et al. 2019). The c.776T>C p.L259P mutation was identified in a Caucasian individual in the US as a de novo mutation, whereas the c.788T>G p.L263R mutation was identified in a Caucasian individual in the US as a de novo mutation and in a father/ daughter pair in a Korean family as an autosomal dominantly inherited trait (Shashi et al. 2019). Patients with either mutation exhibit dysmorphic features, including downslanting palpebral fissures and hypotonic facies. Interestingly though, the p.L259P and p.L263R carriers do not develop (obvious) contractures or skeletal deformities, but show facial and tongue tremor. The father/daughter Korean family with the p.L263R mutation also exhibited a waddling gait and EMG revealed myopathic motor unit action potential (MUAP) but normal resting potential (Shashi et al. 2019).

Surface plasmon resonance kinetics analysis demonstrated that the p.L263R mutation results in significantly decreased binding to myosin, whereas the p.L259P mutation modestly enhances myosin binding (Shashi et al. 2019). Computational modeling suggested that contrary to the hydrophobic and neutral leucine, the hydrophilic and charged arginine does not pack well into the core of the 3-helix bundle likely destabilizing the M-motif of sMyBP-C (Shashi et al. 2019). As such, R263 binds strongly to E248 (which is not the case for the original L263) possibly interfering with (i.e. diminishing) the ability of E248 to contribute to myosin binding. On the other hand, computational modeling and circular dichroism indicated that the p.L259P mutation affects the structure of the M-motif by reducing its helicity, potentially rendering the mutant protein relatively unstable (Shashi et al. 2019). Consistent with this notion, mutant sMyBP-C carrying the p.L259P mutation is more susceptible to trypsin cleavage compared to wild-type protein (Shashi et al. 2019). Thus, it is possible that although the p.L259P mutation affects helix-defining hydrogen bonds. the substitution is chemically subtle enough to moderately affect myosin binding, and instead result in shorter half-life of the protein in vivo.

Interestingly, the p.L263R mutation corresponds to a previously reported mutation, p.L295R, in a 2-week old calf that exhibited tremor since birth, standing difficulty, and reduced spinal reflexes (Wiedemar et al. 2015) (Fig. 1 and Table 1). Normal musculoskeletal development was noted including absence of atrophy, but the animal displayed ataxia and hypermetria in addition to tremor while standing. Consciousness was normal and cranial nerve examination did not reveal any deficits, but no EMG, nerve or muscle biopsy data were collected. Similar to the identified human patients with the *MYBPC1* mutations, the functional effects of the amino acid change were predicted to be intolerable and damaging for normal muscle structure/function by in silico predictors (Wiedemar et al. 2015; Shashi et al. 2019).

Thin filament associated mutations

Slow skeletal troponin T (TNNT1)

Nemaline myopathy-c.G579T p.E180X: In humans, six genes have been associated with the development of nemaline myopathies (NM) (Ottenheijm et al. 2011), establishing it as one of the most common non-dystrophic congenital myopathies (Johnston et al. 2000; Ottenheijm et al. 2011). Amish nemaline myopathy (ANM), common among the Old Order Amish of Lancaster County, PA, is inherited in an autosomal recessive fashion as a distinct form of nemaline myopathy caused by mutations in *TNNT1*, which encodes slow skeletal troponin T (TnT) (Johnston et al. 2000).

Newborn babies with ANM develop tremor within a few days after birth, followed by progressive muscle weakness, rigidity and contractures (Johnston et al. 2000). Some patients also reportedly displayed abnormal tremor in utero. Although tremor subsides over the first 2 to 3 months of life, proximal contractures and muscle atrophy worsen with age to the point that affected children develop severe pectus carinatum deformity with chest wall rigidity and die of respiratory insufficiency, usually by 2-years of age (Johnston et al. 2000; Jin et al. 2003). Muscle biopsies from four ANM patients obtained within the first year of their life displayed prominent type 1 fiber disproportion in quadriceps muscle, Z-band streaming, central refractile rods, myofibrillar disruption, and myofiber degeneration (Johnston et al. 2000).

Examination of more than seventy affected children indicated that the described pathology associates with the presence of a homozygous nonsense mutation in exon 11 of *TNNT1*, c.G579T, that results in a stop codon at amino acid 180, p.E180X, which is present in all known isoforms of *TNNT1* (Fig. 2 and Table 1). Troponin T (tropomyosin binding, TnT) links the troponin complex to tropomyosin and determines Ca^{2+} responsiveness during muscle contraction (Jin et al. 2003; Galińska-Rakoczy et al. 2008). Upon depolarization of the muscle cell, Ca^{2+} released into the cytoplasm binds to troponin C (TnC, Ca^{2+} sensor) resulting in a series of conformational changes that release the constraint exerted by troponin I (TnI, inhibitory) on tropomyosin (Tm), so that the latter no longer inhibits actomyosin binding allowing contraction to occur.

The new stop codon introduced as a result of the p.E180X mutation leads to truncation of the 83 most COOH-terminal amino acids of TnT, which support binding to TnI and TnC and provide a second interaction site for Tm (Johnston et al. 2000). This truncation results in complete loss of the protein, either by accelerated nonsense-mediated decay or decreased stability of the mutant protein fragment (Jin et al. 2003). A selective loss of slow thin filaments was noted in immunohistochemical staining of quadriceps muscle from a 7-week old ANM patient, indicating that TnT may not only be essential for Ca²⁺ regulation of contraction, but also for muscle development and maintenance (Jin et al. 2003). Importantly, in C. elegans, truncating or null recessive mutations in the mup-2 gene encoding TnT, result in abnormal body wall muscle twitching and hyper-contraction, suggestive of the tremor phenotype seen in ANM patients (Myers et al. 1996).

c.323C>G p.S108X: In 2015, Marra et al. reported a case of NM with tremor in a non-Amish patient also caused by a mutation in the *TNNT1* gene (Marra et al. 2015). The proband was born to consanguineous parents and presented with neonatal tremor and torticollis. Low muscle tone and lack of head control was noted at 4 months of age. By two and a half years, the patient was referred to a hospital due to hypotonia and developmental delay. Full examination

Springer

revealed generalized muscle weakness (proximal more than distal) with tendon reflexes absent in all limbs, high arched palate, pectus carinatum, thoracic kyphoscoliosis and bilateral hip and knee contractures. Dysarthria and facial weakness with tenting of the upper lip and axial weakness with prominent head lag was also reported. Soon after the examination, the patient developed chronic respiratory insufficiency and dysphagia (Marra et al. 2015).

Next generation sequencing (NGS) revealed a homozygous nonsense variant c.323C>G p.S108X in the *TNNT1* gene (Fig. 2 and Table 1). The mutation leads to the generation of a truncated protein that lacks the last 155 amino acid residues (Marra et al. 2015). The missing region contains binding sites for TnI, TnC and Tm, and is therefore crucial for the correct assembly of the Tn complex as well for the regulation of Tm via the Tn complex.

Histological evaluation of muscle biopsies revealed fiber size variation due to the presence of both atrophic and mildly hypertrophic fibers, as well as eosinophilic granular intracytoplasmic inclusions in both type 1 and 2 fibers (Marra et al. 2015). Contrary to previous observations of type 1 fiber hypotrophy in *TNNT1* NM cases (Johnston et al. 2000), type 2 fiber hypotrophy was noted in this patient (Marra et al. 2015). Additional findings included mild increases in central nucleation, a few necrotic and regenerating fibers, some infiltration of chronic inflammatory cells in foci of myonecrosis, and marked endomysial fibrosis.

c.574_577delinsTAGTGCTGT p.L203X: Additional patients of non-Amish origin with NM caused by a mutation in *TNNT1* associated with tremor were described in 2016 by Abdulhaq et al. The authors used the term congenital nema-line body myopathy (NEM) when describing seven families and a total of nine children of Palestinian origin with this disorder, arguing that use of NEM rather than ANM would be more appropriate in the future (Abdulhaq et al. 2016).

Most patients presented with transient tremor of the limbs and occasional mouth tremor during the neonatal period. Motor developmental delay and poor head movement associated with a stiff neck was noted at three to four months of age. Beyond four months, all patients developed progressive spinal rigidity with kyphosis, scoliosis, and limb contractures. All patients had severely delayed motor milestones and were wheelchair bound. Additionally, facial weakness and dolichocephaly was observed. The majority of the affected individuals developed respiratory insufficiency leading to death within the first decade of their lives, while living subjects required assisted mechanical ventilation (Abdulhaq et al. 2016).

In all cases, a previously undescribed homozygous rearrangement in *TNNT1* was found. The mutation was reported as an insertion/deletion, c.574_577delinsTAGTGCTGT, that resulted in an in-frame stop codon and the generation of a truncated protein lacking the last 76 amino acids (Fig. 2

Deringer

and Table 1), which encompass the previously described TnI and TnC binding sites (Abdulhaq et al. 2016). The authors described a shared short haplotype segment around this mutation, leading them to hypothesize that this is an ancient founder mutation originating from a common ancestor, despite no apparent relation between the currently identified families.

Standard laboratory tests indicated normal CK levels and no cardiac involvement. Evaluation of muscle biopsies indicated generalized myopathic changes, with nemaline rods detected in most samples, yet in low numbers (Abdulhaq et al. 2016). Small groups of atrophic myofibers, abundant whorled-like myofibers, focally increased endomysial fibrosis and type 2 fiber predominance with small type 1 fibers were the most common features observed in patient samples (Abdulhaq et al. 2016).

Nebulin (NEB)

Nemaline myopathy-c.52734272 C>A p.S8042X: Recently, tremor-associated mutations were linked with a novel form of NM in American BullDogs (ABD). A five-month old male ABD presented with non-progressive muscle weakness, exercise intolerance, and tremor beginning at 2 months of age (Evans et al. 2016). Atrophy of limb muscles and hypertrophy of triceps muscles were noted. EMG showed spontaneous electrical activity within proximal appendicular muscles of the thoracic limbs and cervical paraspinal musculature that consisted mainly of fibrillation potentials. There was also a mild decrease in latency of the tibial and ulnar nerves as shown by motor nerve conduction velocity tests (Evans et al. 2016).

Whole exome sequencing was performed on the dam, two affected siblings (one of which was the proband), and one unaffected sibling leading to the identification of a nonsense mutation c.52734272 C>A, p.S8042X in exon 169 of the *NEB* gene (Fig. 2 and Table 1) (Evans et al. 2016), encoding the giant, thin filament protein, nebulin (Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos et al. 2009). The disease characteristics were not seen in either parent of the affected dog, indicating that they were most likely heterozygous for the mutation, and inheritance was autosomal recessive. Characteristic to NM, rod-like structures were observed in both slow and fast twitch fibers. The absence of NH₂-terminal epitopes of nebulin was confirmed in whole tissue gel electrophoresis and western blotting, suggesting nonsense mediated decay (Evans et al. 2016).

Tropomyosin α-3 chain (TPM3)

c.673-675delGAA p. Δ E224: Contrary to most of the mutations discussed herein which lead to muscle weakness, a p. Δ E224 mutation present in *TPM3* encoding tropomyosin α -3 chain (slow α -tropomyosin) (Fig. 2 and Table 1), results in a hypercontractile phenotype with congenital muscle stiffness (Donkervoort et al. 2015).

The p. Δ E224 mutation was described as a de novo mutation in *TPM3* in a 4-year old male who displayed decreased fetal movement, stiffness at birth with arthrogryposis multiplex congenita (AMC), contractures, kyphoscoliosis and fine tremor (Donkervoort et al. 2015). EMG was suggestive of generalized myopathy, and severe reduction in the response amplitude of the right peroneal nerve. The c.673-675del-GAA p. Δ E224 mutation was determined via whole exome sequencing in heterozygous form. Gomori trichrome stain of a muscle biopsy showed myofibrillar irregularities with evidence of mitochondrial accumulation.

In vitro motility assays indicated that the p. Δ E224 mutation resulted in increased Ca²⁺ sensitivity for both the fraction motile and sliding speed, indicating gain of function (Donkervoort et al. 2015). In agreement with these findings, permeabilized fibers isolated from muscle biopsies exhibited enhanced Ca²⁺ sensitivity of force generation compared to controls. Cross bridge kinetic studies further showed reduced cycling in the presence of the p. Δ E224 mutation, suggesting that it likely destabilizes the "off" state of the actin-tropomyosin complex, shifting the equilibrium towards the "on" state that favors actin-myosin binding, and increases Ca²⁺ sensitivity, therefore leading to the observed hypercontractile phenotype (Donkervoort et al. 2015).

Conclusions and perspectives

Recently, it has become increasingly clear that tremor is a consistent and possibly defining feature of myopathies originating from mutations in sarcomeric genes in the absence of apparent neuropathy. The purpose of our review was to gather and present all the published reports of myopathic cases that describe tremor as a prominent phenotypic trait. Interestingly, with the exception of MyHC-IIa and TPM3 that exhibit low amounts in brain, yet significantly greater levels in muscle, the remaining affected genes are solely expressed in muscle (Uhlen et al. 2015). We therefore propose that the observed tremor may be of myogenic origin, starting at the level of the sarcomere due to structural alterations that impact myofilament assembly, stability and/or sliding resulting in oscillatory actomyosin movement during the crossbridge cycle. This oscillatory movement may be picked up by interspersed muscle spindles, which serve as mechanoreceptors to provide proprioceptive sensory information to the brain, and undergo centrally looped propagation and enhancement resulting in the generation of the observed tremor (Stavusis et al. 2019).

In several patients, the tremor subsides with age, but is still apparent with posture and/or physical exertion. It is therefore possible that CNS plasticity may allow for the development of adaptive or compensatory mechanisms by fine-tuning and adjusting motor unit control and outcome (Edgerton et al. 2002). Moreover, a certain degree of intraand inter-familial heterogeneity is observed with regards to the severity of the tremor phenotype. Although the cause of this variability is unknown, yet not uncommon in myopathies, it is likely that genetic (i.e. penetrance and expressivity of the mutant allele) and idiosyncratic factors (i.e. unique to the individual) may contribute to it (Mah and Joseph 2016).

Taken together, we propose to establish this form of myopathy accompanied by tremor, of likely myogenic origin, as a new disease entity with the ultimate goal to improve diagnosis and develop more appropriate and effective therapies. As we are just in the beginning of understanding the molecular and cellular alterations that occur in myopathies with tremor due to mutations in sarcomeric genes (in the absence of neuropathy), generation of the respective preclinical models followed by detailed phenotypic, behavioral, morphological and functional assessment is required. It is our hope that in the immediate future, an emphasis will be given by the muscle scientific community in dissecting the complexity and intricacies of this new form of sarcomeric myopathy with tremor.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by the Fulbright Scholar Program (to JS), NIH (Training Program in Muscle Biology, T32 AR007592-17 to J.G. and R21AR072981 to A.K.K.), and the Muscular Dystrophy Association (Research Grant 313579 to A.K.K.).

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflict of interest The authors have no conflict to declare.

References

- Abdulhaq UN, Daana M, Dor T et al (2016) Nemaline body myopathy caused by a novel mutation in troponin T1 (TNNT1). Muscle Nerve 53:564–569. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.24885
- Ackermann MA, Kerr JP, King B et al (2015) The phosphorylation profile of myosin binding protein-C slow is dynamically regulated in slow-twitch muscles in health and disease. Sci Rep 5:12637. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep12637
- Ackermann MA, Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos A (2011) Myosin binding protein-C: a regulator of actomyosin interaction in striated muscle. J Biomed Biotechnol 2011:636403. https://doi. org/10.1155/2011/636403
- Ackermann MA, Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos A (2013) Myosin binding protein-C slow: a multifaceted family of proteins with a complex expression profile in fast and slow twitch skeletal muscles. Front Physiol 4:391. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys .2013.00391
- Ackermann MA, Patel PD, Valenti J et al (2013) Loss of actomyosin regulation in distal arthrogryposis myopathy due to mutant myosin binding protein-C slow. FASEB J 27:3217–3228. https://doi. org/10.1096/fj.13-228882

Springer

- Cope MJ, Whisstock J, Rayment I, Kendrick-Jones J (1996) Conservation within the myosin motor domain: implications for structure and function. Structure 4:969–987
- Cullup T, Lamont PJ, Cirak S et al (2012) Mutations in MYH7 cause multi-minicore disease (MmD) with variable cardiac involvement. Neuromuscul Disord 22:1096–1104. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nmd.2012.06.007
- de Tombe PP (2006) Myosin binding protein C in the heart. Circ Res 98:1234–1236. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.00002 25873.63162.c4
- Donkervoort S, Papadaki M, de Winter JM et al (2015) TPM 3 deletions cause a hypercontractile congenital muscle stiffness phenotype. Ann Neurol 78:982–994. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ana.24535
- Edgerton VR, Roy RR, Allen DL, Monti RJ (2002) Adaptations in skeletal muscle disuse or decreased-use atrophy. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 81:S127–S147. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.PHM.00000 29778.56440.90
- Evans JM, Cox ML, Huska J et al (2016) Exome sequencing reveals a nebulin nonsense mutation in a dog model of nemaline myopathy. Mamm Genome 27:495–502. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00335-016-9644-9
- Fiorillo C, Astrea G, Savarese M et al (2016) MYH7-related myopathies: clinical, histopathological and imaging findings in a cohort of Italian patients. Orphanet J Rare Dis 11:91. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13023-016-0476-1
- Fujii J, Otsu K, Zorzato F et al (1991) Identification of a mutation in porcine ryanodine receptor associated with malignant hyperthermia. Science 253:448–451
- Galińska-Rakoczy A, Engel P, Xu C et al (2008) Structural basis for the regulation of muscle contraction by troponin and tropomyosin. J Mol Biol 379:929–935. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jmb.2008.04.062
- Geist J, Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos A (2016) MYBPC1, an emerging myopathic gene: what we know and what we need to learn. Front Physiol 7:410. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys .2016.00410
- Grey C, Méry A, Pucéat M (2005) Fine-tuning in Ca²⁺ homeostasis underlies progression of cardiomyopathy in myocytes derived from genetically modified embryonic stem cells. Hum Mol Genet 14:1367–1377. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddi146
- Jin J-P, Brotto MA, Hossain MM et al (2003) Truncation by Glu ¹⁸⁰ Nonsense mutation results in complete loss of slow skeletal muscle troponin T in a lethal nemaline myopathy. J Biol Chem 278:26159–26165. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M303469200
- Johnston JJ, Kelley RI, Crawford TO et al (2000) A novel nemaline myopathy in the amish caused by a mutation in troponin T1. Am J Hum Genet 67:814–821. https://doi.org/10.1086/303089
- Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos A, Ackermann MA, Bowman AL et al (2009) Muscle giants: molecular scaffolds in sarcomerogenesis. Physiol Rev 89:1217–1267. https://doi.org/10.1152/ physrev.00017.2009
- Lamont PJ, Udd B, Mastaglia FL et al (2006) Laing early onset distal myopathy: slow myosin defect with variable abnormalities on muscle biopsy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 77:208–215. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2005.073825
- Lefter S, Hardiman O, McLaughlin RL et al (2015) A novel MYH7 Leu1453pro mutation resulting in Laing distal myopathy in an Irish family. Neuromuscul Disord 25:155–160. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nmd.2014.09.007
- Li S, Hong M (2011) Protonation, tautomerization, and rotameric structure of histidine: a comprehensive study by magic-anglespinning solid-state NMR. J Am Chem Soc 133:1534. https:// doi.org/10.1021/JA108943N

- Mah JK, Joseph JT (2016) An overview of congenital myopathies. Continuum (Minneap Minn) 22:1932–1953. https://doi. org/10.1212/CON.00000000000404
- Marra JD, Engelstad KE, Ankala A et al (2015) Identification of a novel nemaline myopathy-causing mutation in the troponin T1 (TNNT1) gene: a case outside of the old order Amish. Muscle Nerve 51:767–772. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.24528
- Martinsson T, Oldfors A, Darin N et al (2000) Autosomal dominant myopathy: missense mutation (Glu-706 → Lys) in the myosin heavy chain IIa gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:14614–14619. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.250289597
- Martyn DA (2004) Myosin binding protein-C: structural and functional complexity. J Mol Cell Cardiol 37:813–815. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2004.07.005
- Morales-Briceño H, Fois AF, Fung VSC (2018) Tremor. Handbook of clinical neurology. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 283–301
- Murgiano L, Tammen I, Harlizius B, Drögemüller C (2012) A de novo germline mutation in MYH7 causes a progressive dominant myopathy in pigs. BMC Genet 13:99. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2156-13-99
- Myers CD, Goh PY, Allen TS et al (1996) Developmental genetic analysis of troponin T mutations in striated and nonstriated muscle cells of Caenorhabditis elegans. J Cell Biol 132:1061– 1077. https://doi.org/10.1083/JCB.132.6.1061
- Ottenheijm CAC, Lawlor MW, Stienen GJM et al (2011) Changes in cross-bridge cycling underlie muscle weakness in patients with tropomyosin 3-based myopathy. Hum Mol Genet 20:2015–2025. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddr084
- Richter A, Wissel J, Harlizius B et al (1995) The campus syndrome in pigs: neurological, neurophysiological, and neuropharmacological characterization of a new genetic animal model of high-frequency tremor. Exp Neurol 134:205–213. https://doi. org/10.1006/exnr.1995.1050
- Schorling D, Kirschner J, Bönnemann C (2017) Congenital muscular dystrophies and myopathies: an overview and update. Neuropediatrics 48:247–261. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0037-1604154
- Shashi V, Geist J, Lee Y et al (2019) Heterozygous variants in *MYBPC1* are associated with an expanded neuromuscular phenotype beyond arthrogryposis. In Press, Hum Mutation
- Stavusis J, Lace B, Schäfer J et al (2019) Novel mutations in MYBPC1 are associated with myogenic tremor and mild myopathy. Ann Neurol. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.25494
- Tajsharghi H, Stibrant Sunnerhagen K, Darin N et al (2004) Induced shift in myosin heavy chain expression in myosin myopathy by endurance training. J Neurol 251:179–183. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00415-004-0295-5
- Uhlen M, Fagerberg L, Hallstrom BM et al (2015) Tissue-based map of the human proteome. Science(80-) 347:1260419. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.1260419
- Wang L, Geist J, Grogan A et al (2018) Thick filament protein network, functions, and disease association. Comprehensive physiology. Wiley, Hoboken, pp 631–709
- Weber FE, Vaughan KT, Reinach FC, Fischman DA (1993) Complete sequence of human fast-type and slow type muscle myosin binding protein C (MyBP-C): differential expression, conserved domain structure and chromosome assignment. Eur J Biochem 216:661–669. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-1033.1993.tb181 86.x
- Weterman MAJ, Barth PG, van Spaendonck-Zwarts KY et al (2013) Recessive MYL2 mutations cause infantile type I muscle fibre disease and cardiomyopathy. Brain 136:282–293. https://doi. org/10.1093/brain/aws293
- Wiedemar N, Riedi A-K, Jagannathan V et al (2015) Genetic abnormalities in a calf with congenital increased muscular tonus. J Vet Intern Med 29:1418–1421. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jvim.13599

D Springer

- Wimberly B, Chazin WJ, Thulin E (1995) Characterization of the N-terminal half-saturated state of calbindin D_{9k}: NMR studics of the N56A mutant. Protein Sci 4:1045–1055. https://doi. org/10.1002/pro.5560040603
- Wissel J, Harlizuis B, Richter A et al (1997) A new tremor mutant in the pietrain pig: an animal model of orthostatic tremor? Clinical and neurophysiological observations. Mov Disord 12:743–746. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.870120519

Internet resources

Human Protein Atlas available from www.proteinatlas.org

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Deringer

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Subjects

In all cases from Latvia, complete medical history has been collected and all patients have been examined, and their muscle defects evaluated by a neurologist and a clinical geneticist, experienced in neuromuscular disorders.

Data collection was performed in accordance with the permission issued by the Central Medical Ethics Committee of Latvia. All participants or their parents/ legal guardians (in case of children under the age of consent in the respective country) have signed an informed consent form.

During the years 2009-2021, approximately 130 index patients from Latvia, exhibiting NMD disease phenotype, have been enrolled in our research and diagnostic projects. In addition, 59 index patients from Lithuania, exhibiting LGMD disease phenotype, have been enrolled, as a part of scientific collaboration with the Vilnius University Hospital, Santariskiu Clinics. 19 index patients from the Latvian patient group were selected and enrolled in the MYO-SEQ project, based in University of Newcastle, United Kingdom, with additional family members added to our project for segregation analysis, when needed. Out of these, the following groups have been involved in this work.

[CAV3 gene sequence variations: National Genome Database and clinics]

This patient group consists of 81 index patients with clinical symptoms of Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy (LGMD) and an autosomal dominant or sporadic inheritance pattern, 40 of them from Latvia and 41 from Lithuania. Additional samples from patient family members were included to perform segregation analysis, following pathogenic variant identification. All patients from Latvia were recruited at the Neurology department, Children's University Hospital, and the Out-Patients Clinic for Neurological Diseases, The Pauls Stradins Clinical University Hospital (Riga, Latvia), and all patients from Lithuania - from the Center for Medical Genetics, of the Vilnius University Hospital, Santariskiu Clinics (Vilnius, Lithuania). Both Latvian and Lithuanian patients presented with predominant pelvic and shoulder girdle muscle weakness as well as elevated creatine kinase (CK) values.

97 individuals with a clinical diagnosis of cardiomyopathy were selected from the Genome Database of Latvian Population. Out of these 49 had a diagnosis of dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM), 16 a diagnosis of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM) and 32 patients had unspecified and other cardiomyopathies.

The control group consisted of a total of 100 randomly selected healthy, unrelated individuals from the Genome database of Latvian population, representing the general population, age and sex matched to the patient group.

[Robust genotyping tool for autosomal recessive type of limb-girdle muscular dystrophies]

This patient group consists of 60 index patients with clinical symptoms of Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy (LGMD), 26 of them from Latvia and 34 from Lithuania. Additional samples from patient family members were included to perform segregation analysis, following pathogenic variant identification. These patients are from the same group as described previously. Same as previously, patients who presented with predominant pelvic and shoulder girdle muscle weakness as well as elevated CK values were chosen. An additional criterion for patients from Latvia was electromyography data demonstrating myopathy or myogenic impairment.

The control group consisted of a total of 394 randomly selected healthy, unrelated individuals from the Genome database of Latvian population, representing the general population, age and sex matched to the patient group. In addition, 186 samples from Latvia and 175 samples from Lithuania representing ethnic groups (ancestry from the last three generations can be traced archaeologically and ethno-linguistically to distinct regions of Latvia and Lithuania) were used.

[Collagen VI-related limb-girdle syndrome caused by frequent mutation in COL6A3 gene with conflicting reports of pathogenicity]

The family of probands 1 and 2 was recruited within the framework of our neuromuscular disease research project, targeting all unrelated individuals with predominant pelvic and shoulder girdle muscle weakness and elevated creatine kinase (CK) values.

The family of proband 3 was recruited during a regular visit to Medical Genetics Clinic, CHUL-CHUQ in Quebec City, Canada.

Subjects included from the previous publications by Panadés-de Oliveira *et al.* were retrospectively recruited from the database of the Neuromuscular Disorders Unit of Hospital Universitario 12 de Octubre in Madrid (Panadés-de Oliveira et al. 2019). These patients were re-evaluated and their clinical information as well as MRI data from three patients were added.

Clinical information about proband 7 was collected from the publication by Hunter *et al.*, where they recruited children with clinically diagnosed myopathies that have consented for

participation in research study, according to the Western Institutional Review Board approved protocol (Hunter et al. 2015).

[Novel mutations in MYBPC1 are associated with myogenic tremor and mild myopathy]

Initially, from family 1 (Latvia), four individuals were included in the project, with the goal of performing exome sequencing - three affected and one unaffected, from two generations. To perform segregation analysis in the extended family, five healthy and one affected individual were additionally included. The patients represent three generations. In addition, 90 randomly selected healthy, unrelated individuals from the Genome database of Latvian population, representing the general population were used in this project.

Regarding family 2 from Germany, initially only one affected individual was included to perform panel sequencing. In order to perform segregation analysis in the extended family, three healthy and three affected individuals were added. The patients represent four generations. Genetic studies in individuals from family 2 were performed with informed consent, in accord with the Human Genetic Examination Act (Genetic Diagnosis Act-GenDG).

2.2. Direct sequencing

Most of the direct sequencing was performed using standard polymerase chain reaction (PCR) enzyme mix (Solis BioDyne, Tartu, Estonia), except a 1.7 kb fragment amplification of the *FKRP* gene, performed with Long PCR Enzyme Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Sequencing reactions were carried out using standard conditions as suggested by the manufacturer. An automatic genetic analyzer (ABI PRISM 3130xl, Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) was used in all cases, in combination with the BigDye Terminator Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA).

The data acquired were analyzed using the CLC Genomics Workbench software (QIAGEN, Venlo, Netherlands). The possible pathogenicity of identified sequence variations was determined using the *in-silico* prediction programs: Polymorphism Phenotyping-2 (PolyPhen-2), SIFT, PROVEAN and Combined Annotation Dependent Depletion (CADD). For SNPs located in the coding region, conservation levels were assessed based on data from the UCSC database (Genome Browser, Human Dec. 2013 (GRCh38/hg38) Assembly).

To increase the diagnostic value of testing, segregation analysis was performed and the whole family screened where possible.

[CAV3 gene sequence variations: National Genome Database and clinics]

Sequencing of both coding exons of the *CAV3* gene as well as the exon–intron boundaries was performed in all project sample groups.

[Robust genotyping tool for autosomal recessive type of limb-girdle muscular dystrophies]

The genomic regions of pathogenic variants c.550delA and c.191dupA in genes *CAPN3* and *ANO5*, respectively, as well as a 1.7kb fragment of the *FKRP* gene, containing exon 4 (including exon-intron boundaries) and the entire protein coding region of the gene were sequenced in the Latvian and Lithuanian project groups. In addition, all variants identified by microarray genotyping were verified by direct sequencing for respective patients and their family members, when available.

[Collagen VI-related limb-girdle syndrome caused by frequent mutation in COL6A3 gene with conflicting reports of pathogenicity]

[Novel mutations in MYBPC1 are associated with myogenic tremor and mild myopathy] Next generation sequencing variant validation in COL6A3 and MYBPC1 genes as well as segregation analysis were performed using nested PCR.

2.3. Microarray genotyping

At the time the brand new and highly parallel genome-wide VeraCode GoldenGate system (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) was used as the platform for variant screening. The panel of LGMD-2 associated variants, to be tested, was selected manually, using open-access databases and publications. The variant selection was based on their pathogenicity, location within genes, allele frequency and population specificity. In addition, the variants selected had to comply with the systems internal criteria - single-nucleotide diallelic variants only, in order to ensure allele specific hybridization, extension, and ligation, furthermore there had to be a distance of more than 60 base pairs between any two selected variants to prevent overlapping oligonucleotides during hybridization. This led to a list of 96 variants to be tested.

All LGMD patient and general population samples were genotyped for the selected variants, using the VeraCode GoldenGate system on a BeadXpress reader (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA). Genotyping was performed using the standard conditions. To ensure quality control and to evaluate the intra-subject concordance rate, each sample was run in duplicate in one genotyping run.

2.4. Next generation sequencing

[Robust genotyping tool for autosomal recessive type of limb-girdle muscular dystrophies]

Ion Torrent's AmpliSeq (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) targeted gene enrichment and sequencing technology was performed on four patient samples, according to the manufacturer's protocol. The commercially available AmpliSeq Inherited Disease Panel (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) that covers 325 genes associated with the most common inherited diseases, including LGMD and other muscle dystrophies, was used for this approach.

The panel consists of three primer pools, used for PCR amplification, followed by treatment with the FuPa reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) to partially digest primer sequences and phosphorylate the amplicons, which were then ligated to multiplexing barcodes (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). The created library was purified using AMPure XP magnetic beads (Beckman Coulter Life Sciences, Indianapolis, IN, USA) and amplified using the PCR assay provided, followed by another purification.

The sequencing of the created libraries was done using the Ion Torrent PGM device (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA).

[Collagen VI-related limb-girdle syndrome caused by frequent mutation in COL6A3 gene with conflicting reports of pathogenicity]

In collaboration with the MYO-SEQ project, whole exome sequencing was performed for proband of family 1 at the Broad Institute's Genomics Platform, using Illumina exome capture, 38 Mb baited target, and the Broad's in-solution hybrid selection process.

The sequencing pipeline consisted of sample plating, library preparation (2-plexing of samples per hybridization), hybrid capture, sequencing (76 bp paired reads), sample identification QC check, and data storage. Hybrid selection libraries cover >80% of targets at 20x and have a mean target coverage of >80x.

Exome sequencing data was processed through a pipeline based on Picard, using base quality score recalibration and local realignment at known indels. BWA aligner was used for mapping reads to the human genome build 37 (hg19). Single Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNPs) and insertions/deletions (indels) were jointly called across all samples using the Genome Analysis Toolkit (GATK) HaplotypeCaller package (version 3.1). Default filters were applied to SNP and indel calls using the GATK Variant Quality Score Recalibration (VQSR) approach. Lastly, variants were annotated using Variant Effect Predictor (VEP).

[Novel mutations in MYBPC1 are associated with myogenic tremor and mild myopathy]

Exome sequencing for 4 members of family 1 from Latvia was performed using the Illumina's HiSeq 2500 platform (Illumina, San Diego, CA) and the Nextera Rapid Capture Expanded Exome kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA). Three affected and one unaffected member samples were sequenced to improve the possibility of finding pathogenic variants, by using variant segregation analysis.

Raw sequencing reads were aligned to the human genome build 37 (hg19) and subsequently processed according to Genome Analysis Toolkit's (GATK) best practice guidelines using BWA-MEM, Picard-tools, and GATK. Variants were called by GATK Haplotype Caller and then annotated using Annovar. A stepwise approach of filtering was used on the obtained data, leaving only rare variants.

Pathogenicity of remaining variants was evaluated using several *in-silico* prognostic tools, including PolyPhen2, Mutation Taster, SIFT, and CADD.

2.5. Recombinant protein generation and purification

In order to be used for the overlay assays, human skeletal muscle complementary DNA was used to amplify the NH2-terminal region of sMyBP-C that contained the Pro/Ala–rich motif, Ig domain C1, and the M-motif (amino acids 1–284, XP_006719468.1). The PCR fragment was subcloned into the pGex4T-1 (Amersham Pharmacia, Piscataway, NJ) vector at EcoRI/XhoI sites to generate a GST-fusion protein. The pathogenic variants Y247H and E248K were subsequently introduced into the resulting plasmid. Wild-type and mutant constructs were verified by sequence analysis. Recombinant polypeptides were expressed by induction with 1mM isopropyl-β-thioglycopyranoside (IPTG) overnight at 22°C and purified by affinity chromatography on glutathione-agarose columns, according to the manufacturer's instructions (MilliporeSigma, Bedford, MA).

2.6. Overlay Assay and Immunoblotting

Heavy meromyosin (HMM) and actin purified from skeletal muscle were used (Cytoskeleton Inc., Denver, CO, USA). Equivalent amounts (3µg) of purified actin and HMM were separated by 4% to 12% sodium dodecyl sulfate/polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and transferred electrophoretically to a nitrocellulose membrane. Equivalent loading and transfer were confirmed by staining the nitrocellulose membrane with Ponceau red. Blots were incubated in buffer A (50mM KCl, 20mM MOPS, 4mM MgCl2, 0.1mM EGTA, 2mM DTT, 3% BSA, 10mM NaN3, 0.5% Tween-20, and 0.5% Nonidet P-40) for 8 hours at room temperature, followed by incubation with buffer A containing 0.5µg/ml of the indicated

glutathione S-transferase (GST)-fusion proteins overnight at 4°C. Blots were then washed extensively with buffer A, followed by PBS, blocked in 5% milk, and subsequently probed with antibodies to GST (1:10,000; Novagen, Billerica, MA). Immunoreactive bands were detected with the Tropix Chemiluminescence kit (Applied Biosystems). Quantification of immunoreactive bands was performed using densitometric analysis and ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD).

2.7. Protein modeling

[Collagen VI-related limb-girdle syndrome caused by frequent mutation in COL6A3 gene with conflicting reports of pathogenicity]

The C1/11th VWA domain of the COL6A3 protein (residues 2393–2597; accession number NP_004360.2) was modeled using Phyre2. Molecular dynamics were performed on this model using the YASARA suite. After 100 ns equilibration, the desired mutation (Lys2483Glu) was created using the "swap" command, and this mutated structure was allowed to equilibrate for an additional 100 ns.

[Novel mutations in MYBPC1 are associated with myogenic tremor and mild myopathy]

Models of the M-motif of sMyBP-C were generated using Phyre2, RaptorX, and iTASSER, based on the human cardiac version of this domain (PBD: 2LH4; 80% identical to sMyBP-C). The model was then allowed to equilibrate using the computer program YASARA for ~90ns. Individual mutations were introduced to the model by the "swap" command in YASARA, and the resulting models were allowed to equilibrate for ~100ns. Docking of wild-type and mutant sMyBP-C to myosin was performed using equilibrated sMyBP-C models and the S2 fragment of myosin (PDB: 2FXO) with the HADDOCK program. The best models, as judged by low z-scores and low root mean square deviation, were then further refined for ~30ns.

3. RESULTS

In the eleven-year period of this diagnostic and research initiative, 32 index patients from Latvia have received molecular diagnosis, with the success rate increasing considerably over the last few years. From the 59 index patients provided by our Lithuanian collaborators, 19 individuals have received molecular diagnosis as part of our projects.

12 patients received molecular diagnosis in the framework of our project that utilized whole-gene Sanger sequencing and massive parallel genotyping, with the majority of cases associated with pathogenic variants in the *CAPN3* gene (see below). 12 patients had molecular diagnosis established or a potential disease-associated candidate variant found through the use of collaborational next-generation sequencing, in the form of the MYO-SEQ project. The acquired results showed dystrophies associated with variants in the *DMD* gene in female patients, and with variants in the *CAPN3* gene as the most common ones in this group of random undiagnosed rare neuromuscular disease patients. One patient and his extended family received their molecular diagnosis through an international multi-institute collaboration that resulted in the establishing of a new myogenic tremor phenotype (see below). The most recent, however, is our success in establishing diagnosis for 7 out of 11 patients in the first batch of rare inherited disease patients (including rare neuromuscular diseases), using local sequencing hardware and data analysis capabilities that we have honed over the years of collaboration with other specialists in the field. Each of these cases is unique, with no repeating disease associated genes.

In all cases the confirmed diagnoses have resulted in genetic counseling and evaluation of the associated genetic risks for the extended family as well as the probands.

The results of this work are presented here as original publications. The author's contribution to them is as follows.

Review paper (presented in literature overview)

Stavusis J, Geist J, Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos A. Sarcomeric myopathies associated with tremor: new insights and perspectives. J Muscle Res Cell Motil. 2020 Dec;41(4):285-295. doi: 10.1007/s10974-019-09559-1.

Contribution: Wrote part of the manuscript and prepared visual and part of the tabular materials.

Original manuscript I (presented in results)

Stavusis J, Inashkina I, Jankevics E, Radovica I, Micule I, Strautmanis J, Naudina MS, Utkus A, Burnyte B, Lace B. *CAV3* gene sequence variations: National Genome Database and clinics. Acta Neurol Scand. 2015 Sep;132(3):185-90. doi: 10.1111/ane.12369.

Contribution: Carried out the experimental work and data analysis, prepared graphical materials and wrote most of the manuscript.

Original manuscript II (presented in results)

Inashkina I, Jankevics E, **Stavusis J**, Vasiljeva I, Viksne K, Micule I, Strautmanis J, Naudina MS, Cimbalistiene L, Kucinskas V, Krumina A, Utkus A, Burnyte B, Matuleviciene A, Lace B. Robust genotyping tool for autosomal recessive type of limb-girdle muscular dystrophies. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2016 May 4;17:200. doi: 10.1186/s12891-016-1058-z.

Contribution: Carried out part of the experimental work and data analysis and wrote part of the manuscript.

Original manuscript III (presented in results)

Stavusis J, Micule I, Wright NT, Straub V, Topf A, Panadés-de Oliveira L, Domínguez-González C, Inashkina I, Kidere D, Chrestian N, Lace B. Collagen VI-related limb-girdle syndrome caused by frequent mutation in *COL6A3* gene with conflicting reports of pathogenicity. Neuromuscul Disord. 2020 Jun;30(6):483-491. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2020.03.010. Contribution: Carried out part of the experimental work and data analysis, prepared part of the graphical and tabular materials and wrote part of the manuscript.

Original manuscript IV (presented in results)

Stavusis J, Lace B, Schäfer J, Geist J, Inashkina I, Kidere D, Pajusalu S, Wright NT, Saak A, Weinhold M, Haubenberger D, Jackson S, Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos A, Bönnemann CG. Novel mutations in *MYBPC1* are associated with myogenic tremor and mild myopathy. Ann Neurol. 2019 Jul;86(1):129-142. doi: 10.1002/ana.25494.

Contribution: Carried out part of the experimental work and data analysis, prepared part of the graphical and tabular materials and wrote part of the manuscript.

3.1. Neuromuscular disease diagnostics in Latvia - starting from basics (CAV3 gene sequence variations: National Genome Database and clinics)

This part of the project focuses on initial LGMD testing in Latvia, using simple Sanger sequencing in the pre-NGS era. The goal of this work was to use whole-gene sequencing on a smaller LGMD associated gene - *CAV3*, mutations in which are relatively frequent, and trying to figure out variant frequencies in the population of Latvia, and, perhaps, solve some of the dominant LGMD cases in our database. In the patient group, two likely pathogenic disease associated variants, c.183C>A, p.S61R and c.216C>G, p.C72W, were found. This led us to the conclusion that in our patient group 1-2% of patients with LGMD phenotype have variants in the *CAV3* gene. Other than a discrepancy with one of the variants found, no major deviations from published data were found in Latvian population. Interestingly, two people carrying variants with possible disease related significance were found in our control population.

Neurologica

Acta Neurol Scand 2015: 132: 185–190 DOI: 10.1111/ane.12369

© 2015 John Wiley & Sons A/S. Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd ACTA NEUROLOGICA SCANDINAVICA

CAV3 gene sequence variations: National Genome Database and clinics

Stavusis J, Inashkina I, Jankevics E, Radovica I, Micule I, Strautmanis J, Naudina MS, Utkus A, Burnyte B, Lace B. *CAV3* gene sequence variations: national Genome Database and clinics. Acta Neurol Scand 2015: 132: 185–190. © 2015 John Wiley & Sons A/S. Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

Introduction - Caveolinopathies are a group of untreatable, degenerative muscle diseases associated with caveolin 3 (CAV3) gene mutations. Objectives - The goal of this study was to characterize the role of the CAV3 gene in patients with limb-girdle muscular dystrophy, hyperCKemia, cardiomyopathies, as well as utilization of the National Genome Database in clinical applications. Materials and methods - We sequenced the coding region and exon/intron boundaries of CAV3 gene in 81 neuromuscular disorder patients, a sample group from the National Genome Database, consisting of 97 individuals with cardiomyopathies, and also random selection of 100 persons. Immunohistochemical staining of muscle biopsy was performed to verify findings in one case, as the setup for the project was to use less invasive molecular biology methods. Results - We identified three novel sequence variations (c.183C>G, p.S61R; c.220C>A, p.R74S; c.220C>T, p.R74C) and found evidence that one was associated with hypercreatine kinase-emia. Two previously reported mutations in families with limb-girdle muscular dystrophy were found. No mutations were identified in the cohort of patients with cardiomyopathies. Discussion - CAV3 gene encodes musclespecific protein with dominant negative type of missense mutations in it causing various phenotypes. Our study confirmed CAV3 gene involvement in neuromuscular disorders, but found no evidence in the group of patients with cardiomyopathies. Persons included in the National Genome Database could be screened for late onset Mendelian diseases.

Introduction

Caveolinopathies are a group of currently untreatable degenerative muscle diseases that cause muscle fiber degeneration or regeneration, limb proximal muscle weakness and atrophy, hypertrophy of lower limb muscle, and positive Gower sign, in addition to different levels of restriction of human movement. These diseases are genetic in their origin and caused by decrease in the level of the membrane protein caveolin-3 (1). Caveolin-3 is a 151 amino acid containing protein that forms flask-shaped invaginations on the cytoplasmic surface of sarcolemmal membranes (2). It is expressed in all muscle cells, where it regulates sarcolemmal stability and the activity of various

J. Stavusis¹, I. Inashkina¹, E. Jankevics¹, I. Radovica¹, I. Micule¹, J. Strautmanis¹, M. S. Naudina¹, A. Utkus^{2,3}, B. Burnyte^{2,3}, B. Lace¹

¹Latvian Biomedical Research and Study Center, Riga, Latvia; ²Department of Human and Medical Genetics, Faculty of Medicine, Vilnius University, Vilnius, Lithuania; ³Centre for Medical Genetics, Vilnius University Hospital Santariškių Klinikos, Vilnius, Lithuania

Key words: cardiomyopathy; CAV3; caveolinopathy; hyperCKemia; LGMD1C

J. Stavusis, Ratsupites 1-1, Riga, Latvia, LV-1067 Tel.: +371 67808200 Fax: +371 67442407 e-mail: janis.stavusis@biomed.lu.lv

Accepted for publication November 25, 2014

signaling pathways, as well as vesicular transportation (3). *In vitro* functional research has shown that caveolin-3 is an important differentiation and survival regulator in myoblast cells (4).

The gene encoding caveolin-3, CAV3, is the only known locus associated with caveolinopathies, with mutations identified in 99% of all caveolinopathy cases (5). CAV3 itself is located on chromosome 3p25 and has two coding exons (6). CAV3 expression has been detected in all muscle cells, as well as in glial cells and early postnatal peripheral nerves (2). It is a highly evolutionarily conserved gene, suggesting a vital function; therefore, frequent sequence variations at this locus are not expected (2). CAV3 mutations mainly disturb normal cell signaling

Stavusis et al.

pathways, change muscle cell structural integrity, and lead to apoptosis (7, 8). Most caveolinopathies are transmitted with an autosomal dominant inheritance (2).

The five main phenotypes connected with CAV3 mutations are limb-girdle muscular dystrophy autosomal dominant type C (LGMD 1C), isolated hyperCKemia, rippling muscle disease (RMD), hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM), and distal myopathy (DM), although a few other rarer phenotypes have been identified over the years (9). It is possible for people from one family with the same mutation to have different phenotypes, overlapping disease phenotype being described in some of the families with caveolinopathies; no certain phenotypegenotype correlations have been observed (10). Patients mainly complain of muscle pain, while muscle weakness is a varying indication that does not correlate with length of disease. Serum creatine kinase (CK) levels increase steadily over time, but do not correlate with the progress of caveolinopathies (2). In two percent of all cases, mutations in CAV3 gene were found in patients with long QT syndrome suggesting the role of caveolin-3 protein in the cardiac excitability regulation (11). In summary, it was suggested that caveolinopathies account for the 1-2% of unclassified LGMD and other phenotypes, including hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM) (12).

Materials and methods

Subjects

Eighty-one patients with clinical symptoms of limb-girdle muscular dystrophy were recruited. Forty were from Latvia and 41 were from Lithuania, and all 81 probands (family members included only for further segregation analysis in cases when mutations were identified) had clinical symptoms and an autosomal dominant or sporadic inheritance pattern. Patients were recruited at the Neurology department, Children's University Hospital, and the Out-Patients Clinic for Neurological Diseases, The Pauls Stradins Clinical University Hospital (Riga, Latvia) and the Center for Medical Genetics, of the Vilnius University Hospital, Santariskiu Clinics (Vilnius, Lithuania). The mean age at onset of symptoms in Latvian patients was 14 years (range, 1 month to 53 years) and the male:female ratio was 1.4:1. The mean age of Lithuanian patients at presentation was 23 years (range, 4-60 years) and the male:female ratio was 1:2.4.

Ninety-seven individuals with a clinical diagnosis of cardiomyopathy (excluding pregnancy, puerperium, and ischemic cardiomyopathy) were selected from the Latvian Genome Data Base without information about familiar cases. Of these, 44 were female and 53 were male, with a mean age of 66 years (range, 26–92 years). A diagnosis of dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM) (I42-ICD10) was established for 49 patients, HCM (I42.1; I42.2) for 16 patients, and 32 patients had unspecified and other cardiomyopathies (I42.8; I42.9).

A group of 100 unrelated Latvian population controls was selected randomly within the framework of the national 'Latvian Genome Data Base' project. The mean age of the controls was 61 year (range 50–80 years). They represent divergent group of Latvian population, and none of them had established diagnosis of neuromuscular disease.

Data collection was performed in accordance with the regulations issued by the Central Medical Ethics Committee of Latvia. All participants have signed an informed consent.

Sequencing of CAV3

Sequencing of both coding exons of the CAV3 gene and of the exon-intron boundaries was performed using standard polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and an automatic genetic analyzer (ABI PRISM 3130XL, Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). For PCR, primer pair AGG GAC TAA CCC CAC TTC C/AGG AGC GTC ACA GTA GTA AG was used for first exon and primers TCC TGC ACA GAT CAC AGA CC/ CTT GCA GTA GCT GCC TCT TG for second exon, with annealing temperatures of 56°C and 58°C, respectively. For sequencing reactions, primers GGC AGG CTG AAG TTA TGT GG/ TTT CAG GGA AAC TGT GTC TGC were used for first exon and GTA GGG TCC AGC CAC CAA G/TCA TGG GGT ATG GAG CAG TC for second exon, with annealing temperature of 58°C for both primer pairs. Sequencing reactions were carried out using standard conditions as suggested by the manufacturer. The data acquired were processed using the program CLC Genomics Workbench (QIAGEN, Venlo, Netherlands). The possible impact of identified sequence variations on protein structure and function was determined using the in silico prediction programs: Polymorphism Phenotyping-2 (PolyPhen-2), SIFT, and PROVEAN (13). For SNPs located in the coding region, conservation levels were assessed based on data from the

186

UCSC database (Genome Browser, Human Feb. 2009 (GRCh37/hg19) Assembly). When identifying mutations in patient samples, segregation analysis was performed and the whole family screened where possible.

Immunochemical staining with CAV3 antibodies (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA) was performed by standard protocol to verify findings in one patient, who underwent muscle biopsy due to the rapid progression of the disease. In the other cases, we chose to maintain the study as less invasive as possible. Paraffin embedding was used for muscle biopsy samples, and samples from unaffected individual were used as controls.

Results

CAV3 exons and intron-exon boundaries were sequenced in samples from eighty-one patients diagnosed with limb-girdle muscular dystrophies. In this group, 17 gene sequence changes were identified, fifteen of which were present in SNP databases. Two amino acid changes, resulting from mutations found, are reported to have a pathogenic role.

The first variation leading to an amino acid change is NM_033337.2:c.183C>G, NP_001225.1: pSer61Arg, a missense mutation identical to rs116840796 (NM_033337.2:c.183C>A, NP_001225. 1:pSer61Arg) in amino acid change, but having nucleotide change from C to G instead of C to A. The variation is located in the second exon, in the middle of the scaffolding domain. This is a highly conserved region, responsible for binding to various signaling proteins. Using in silico prediction tools SIFT and PROVEAN, variation was predicted as damaging and deleterious, respectively (14, 15). However, based on UCSC conservation data, the exact nucleotide position is not very highly conserved. The proband was a 6-year-old boy born to healthy non-consanguineous parents. He was born at term of uneventful pregnancy after C-section which was performed due to abnormal position of the fetus. Psychomotor development was normal in the first years of life, but patient started walking on his toes and would fall often, starting at the age of four. At the same time, increased levels of serum creatine kinase (CK) were detected-1923 U/l (normal values up to 175 U/l). On examination, head circumference, as well as muscle tone and strength, was normal. Patient did have hypertrophy of calves. ECG showed no abnormalities, and muscle biopsy has not been performed for this patient.

The second variation found in this group leading to an amino acid change was NM_033337.2:

c.216C>G, NP_001225.1:p.Cys72Trp (rs116840776), a missense mutation located in the second exon, at the end of the scaffolding domain. Variation was predicted as tolerated by SIFT; however, PROV-EAN predicted it as deleterious. Based on UCSC database information, the exact amino acid position is not highly conserved. The proband was an 8-year-old girl, who had initial symptoms less than 2 years ago, starting with a complaint about an inability to climb the stairs. Proximal muscle weakness and atrophy were observed on physical examination. Winging scapula was noted, Gower's sign was positive, and CK level was highly elevated at 7663 IU/l. The proband's father and brother had mildly elevated CK levels at 571 and 768 IU/l, respectively, without any clinical symptoms. The proband's paternal grandmother has been diagnosed with progressive muscle weakness and elevated CK (up to 1177 IU/l) and has had walking difficulties since the age of 40; disease is progressive. Physical examination revealed proximal and distal muscle weakness. As proband's muscle biopsy sample was available, CAV3 immunohistochemistry staining was performed to determine protein localization and expression levels (Fig. 1). When compared to a sample from unaffected individual, no notable changes were observed.

Despite this disease pattern, the CAV3 c.216C>G mutation was identified in samples from the proband's brother and mother. Mother did not present with any disease symptoms or CK elevation.

In the cardiomyopathy group, 14 gene sequence variants were found. Seven of these, including all from the coding regions, overlapped with those found in the population group, and four were shared with LGMD patient samples. The remaining three variants could be found in gene variation databases and are not reported to be associated with caveolinopathy or have incomplete accompanying information. There were no persons identified with mutations in *CAV3* gene known to cause a disease.

One hundred random DNA samples were analyzed from the National Genome Database, among which 12 nucleotide sequence changes were identified. Nine of these could be found in SNP databases, and nucleotide sequence change rs116840801 (c.257T>C, p.L86P) has been previously associated to rippling muscle disease in homozygous form (16). The other three changes (two coding and one non-coding: c.220C>A, p.R74S; c.220C>T, p.R74C; and c.115-45_115-31del, respectively) were novel and could not be found in databases (Fig. 2).

Stavusis et al.



Figure 1. Controls' (Cont) and probands' (Case) muscle biopsy CAV3 protein staining. Original microscope magnification ×400.



Figure 2. (A) Schematical representation of CAV3 gene. Different domains are color coded. Black—N-terminal region, dark gray —a central hydrophobic transmembrane domain, light gray—C-terminal region, and white—scaffolding domain. The approximate locations of mutations are marked with arrows. Bars inside coding regions represent the level of conservation in 100 vertebrates (UCSC Genome Browser on Human Feb. 2009 (GRCh37/hg19) Assembly). (B) Sequencing results for amino acid changing variations. (C) Protein region conservation in vertebrates, affected amino acids marked with boxes.

The impact of the three SNPs resulting in amino acid changes was determined *in silico* by assigning a grade on the PolyPhen scale from 0.0 to 1.0. *In silico* prediction tools SIFT and PROV-EAN predict all three variations to be damaging and deleterious. All variants generated scores at or close to 1.0. According to data found in the UCSC Genome Browser (Human Feb. 2009 (GRCh37/hg19) Assembly), positions 220 and 257 are highly conserved (Fig. 2). A slight elevation (218 IU/l; reference <170 IU/l) in CK level was observed only in a male, at the age of 58 with the genetic change c.220C>T, p.R74C.

Discussion

In the patient group, two potentially harmful sequence variations, c.183C>A, p.S61R and c.216C>G, p.C72W, were found. Both are located in the scaffolding domain of the protein, which is a highly conserved region. The variant c.183C>A, p.S61R has been described by Fulizio et al. in a

heterozygous state in a patient with absent CAV3 protein and dystrophic muscle pathology. It was suggested that mutations in this domain may cause significant consequences on protein and clinical level (6).

An explanation for variations c.216C>G, p.C72W *in silico* prediction could be its position at the very end of the scaffolding domain (aa 55-74), which may indicate decreased functional significance.

This mutation has previously been found in a heterozygous state in a patient with muscular dystrophy. However, it was also found in the patient's siblings, who had no symptoms of muscular dystrophy, suggesting that a single abnormal allele is not sufficient to cause the phenotype. No additional mutations were identified in the proband (17). De Paula et al. also identified this mutation in a heterozygous state in one of 100 normal Brazilian controls and concluded that it is a rare variant that does not cause the disease phenotype when present in only one allele (18).

After investigating the family of our patient, we found that the mutation in proband was inherited from the maternal side, with no symptoms present in the mother, while muscular dystrophy was clearly inherited from the paternal side of the family. Disease shows autosomal dominant type of inheritance in family with variable penetrance. This inconsistency, combined with no observable changes in protein expression and localization in muscle tissue, led us to conclude, consistent with previous reports, that heterozygosity for the c.216C>G, p.C72W (previously C71W) variant does not cause the disease phenotype.

As was expected, 1-2% of patients with LGMD phenotype have mutations in *CAV3* gene. However, this was not the case with cardiomyopathies, where certain controversies still exist about mutations identified.

The first report of CAV3 mutation in a family with atypical HCM was in a proband, in the absence of CK elevation or any signs of muscle weakness. It was concluded that, in a small percentage of patients with HCM, the disease is caused by mutations in CAV3 gene (3). In support of this, in another individual with DCM and also presenting with symptoms of LGMD, CAV3mutation was described. This mutation can also cause the hyperCKemia phenotype in the heterozygous state, suggesting a high variability of CAV3 expression and effects on protein interactions (19).

Controversial findings of the small gene *CAV3* lead us to assumption that some of the previously

reported sequence variations, confirmed also by cell models, are strongly influenced by the genegene interactions *in vivo* and as so could not be considered pathogenic, when present without additional mutations. We believe it is highly unlikely that mutations in the *CAV3* gene commonly cause cardiomyopathies; however, due to the small sample size of HCM and DCM patients in this study, we were unable to draw definite conclusions.

Significant deviation from the expected results was observed in our group of randomly selected individuals from the National Genome Database. According to our sequencing and CK level data, it is plausible that there are two individuals with a caveolinopathy. The person with the sequence variation c.220C>T, p.R74C has slight increase of serum CK. We can hypothesize that the person in question is suffering from an undiagnosed hyperCKemia. In an advanced stage of disease, CK level usually shows tendency to normalize due to the muscle replacement with fibrous or adipose tissues. However, it is impossible to get any further health data about the person to confirm this theory.

Interestingly, we found only one sample with the intronic deletion 115-45_115-29del; however, 61 samples contained another, previously undescribed intronic deletion, 115-45_115-31del. As the latter change was found in all groups, we conclude that it is not likely to be associated with disease phenotype; however, while there are no records of this variation in databases, we have observed relatively high frequency in our samples. As for the other sequence variants found in the control group, their frequencies are comparable and do not differ greatly in our Baltic samples, when compared with data from genome databases.

As previously discussed, a limiting factor of this project was the size of the sample groups, which may not fully represent the Latvian population. The data gathered have approval for use in further research, as well as for genetic testing of suspected caveolinopathy patients. Many neuromuscular disorders remained undiagnosed in our population due to unspecific symptoms of muscle weakness, which sometimes are found also in patient's parents, and therefore perceived as normal familial trait.

The purpose of this project was to determine the role of CAV3 in various neuromuscular diseases, which has been performed successfully. Data gathered are comparable across our geographic region and approximately 2% of all cases included have been confirmed to have a mutation in the CAV3 gene. Our study showed that

189

Stavusis et al.

National Genome Database with 'feedback to the patient' option can be used for screening purposes of Mendelian disorders.

Acknowledgement

We are thankful to all participating families and patients, as well as doctors involved in this project.

Conflict of interest and sources of funding statement

Authors hereby declare no conflict of interest. Project was supported by ERDF fund no. 2010/0223/2DP/2.1.1.10/10/ APIA/VIAA/025 'New tests for the diagnosis of inherited neuromuscular diseases'.

References

- COUCHOUX H, BICHRAOUI H, CHOUABE C et al. Caveolin-3 is a direct molecular partner of the Cav 1.1 subunit of the skeletal muscle L-type calcium channel. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2011;43:713–20.
- GAZZERRO E, SOTGIA F, BRUNO C, LISANTI MP, MINETTI C. Caveolinopathies: from the biology of caveolin-3 to human diseases. Eur J Hum Genet 2010;18:137–45.
- HAYASHI T, ARIMURA T, UEDA K et al. Identification and functional analysis of a caveolin-3 mutation associated with familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004;313:178–84.
- STOPPANI E, ROSSI S, MEACCI E et al. Point mutated caveolin-3 form (P104L) impairs myoblast differentiation via Akt and P38 signalling reduction, leading to an immature cell signature. Biochim Biophys Acta 2011;4:468–79.
- BRUNO C, SOTGIA F, GAZZERRO E, MINETTI C, LISANTI MP. Caveolinopathies. - GeneReviews 2007; Available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1385. Accessed 2013 Feb 21.
- FULIZIO L, NASCIMBENI AC, FANIN M et al. Molecular and Muscle pathology in a series of caveolinopathy patients. Hum Mutat 2005;25:82–9.

- SMYTHE GM, EBY JC, DISATNIK M-H, RANDO TA. A caveolin-3 mutant that causes limb girdle muscular dystrophy type 1C disrupts Src localization and activity and induces apoptosis in skeletal myotubes. J Cell Sci 2003;116:4739–49.
- BRAUERS E, DREIER A, ROOS A, WORMLAND B, WEIS J, KRÜTTGEN A. Differential effects of myopathy-associated caveolin-3 mutants on growth factor signaling. Am J Pathol 2010;177:261–70.
- ABOUMOUSA A, HOOGENDIJK J, CHARLTON R et al. Caveolinopathy-new mutations and additional symptoms. Neuromuscul Disord 2008;18:572–8.
- CATTERUCCIA M, SANNA T, SANTORELLI FM et al. Rippling muscle disease and cardiomyopathy associated with a mutation in the CAV3 gene. Neuromuscul Disord 2009;19:779–83.
- VATTA M, ACKERMAN MJ, YE B et al. Mutant caveolin-3 induces persistent late sodium current and Is associated with long-QT syndrome. Circulation 2006;114:2104–12.
- FANIN M, NASCIMBENI AC, AURINO S et al. Frequency of LGMD gene mutations in Italian patients with distinct clinical phenotypes. Neurology 2009;72:1432–5.
- ADZHUBEI IA, SCHMIDT S, PESHKIN L et al. A method and server for predicting damaging missense mutations. Nat Methods 2010;7:248–9.
- KUMAR P, HENIKOFF S, NG PC. Predicting the effects of coding non-synonymous variants on protein function using the SIFT algorithm. Nat Protoc 2009;4:1073–81.
- CHOI Y, SIMS GE, MURPHY S, MILLER JR, CHAN AP. Predicting the functional effect of amino acid substitutions and indels. PLoS ONE 2012;7:e46688.
- KUBISCH C, SCHOSER BGH, DÜRING MV et al. Homozygous mutations in caveolin-3 cause a severe form of rippling muscle disease. Ann Neurol 2003;53:512–20.
- MCNALLY EM, DEMOREIRA ES, DUGGAN DJ et al. Caveolin-3 in muscular dystrophy. Hum Mol Genet 1998;7:871–7.
- DE PAULA F, VAINZOF M, BERNARDINO AL, MCNALLY E, KUNKEL LM, ZATZ M. Mutations in the caveolin-3 gene: when are they pathogenic?. Am J Med Genet 2001;99:303–7.
- TRAVERSO M, GAZZERRO E, ASSERETO S et al. Caveolin-3 T78M and T78K missense mutations lead to different phenotypes in vivo and in vitro. Lab Invest 2008;88:275–83.

3.2. Neuromuscular disease diagnostics in Latvia - first steps (Robust genotyping tool for autosomal recessive type of limb-girdle muscular dystrophies)

This manuscript focuses on the results of the initial project, trying to tackle LGMD diagnostics in Latvia, using the last massively parallel pre-NGS technology - microarray genotyping. A custom selected panel of the theoretically most common LGMD associated variants was used in conjunction with our LGMD patient and healthy control sample database. As a result of this testing, the most common disease-causing variant in the *CAPN3* gene - the c.550delA was found in eight patients from Lithuania. In addition to this, three variants: c.826C > A, $c.404_405$ insT, and $c.204_206$ delCTC in the *FKRP* gene as well as one variant in the *CLCN1* gene – c.2680C > T were found, each in a single patient sample. In addition, three heterozygous variants - c.5028delG in DYSF gene, c.2288A > G in *CAPN3* gene, and c.135C > T in *FKRP* gene were located in the control samples, with the first two being classified as pathogenic. None of the other selected variants in other genes of choice were found.

BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Open Access



Robust genotyping tool for autosomal recessive type of limb-girdle muscular dystrophies

Inna Inashkina^{1*}, Eriks Jankevics¹, Janis Stavusis¹, Inta Vasiljeva¹, Kristine Viksne¹, Ieva Micule¹, Jurgis Strautmanis¹, Maruta S. Naudina¹, Loreta Cimbalistiene^{2,3}, Vaidutis Kucinskas², Astrida Krumina¹, Algirdas Utkus^{2,3}, Birute Burnyte^{2,3}, Ausra Matuleviciene^{2,3} and Baiba Lace^{1,4,5}

Abstract

Background: Limb-girdle muscular dystrophies are characterized by predominant involvement of the shoulder and pelvic girdle and trunk muscle groups. Currently, there are 31 genes implicated in the different forms of limb-girdle muscular dystrophies, which exhibit similar phenotypes and clinical overlap; therefore, advanced molecular techniques are required to achieve differential diagnosis.

Methods: We investigated 26 patients from Latvia and 34 patients from Lithuania with clinical symptoms of limb-girdle muscular dystrophies, along with 565 healthy unrelated controls from general and ethnic populations using our developed test kit based on the Illumina VeraCode GoldenGate genotyping platform, Ion AmpliSeq Inherited Disease Panel and direct sequencing of mutations in calpain 3 (*CAPN3*), anoctamin 5 (*ANO5*) and fukutin related protein (*FKRP*) genes.

Results: Analysis revealed a homozygous *CAPN3* c.550delA mutation in eight patients and three heterozygous variants in controls: dysferlin (*DYSF*) c.5028delG, *CAPN3* c.2288A > G, and *FKRP* c.135C > T. Additionally, three mutations within *FKRP* gene were found: homozygous c.826C > A, and two compound – c.826C > A/c.404_405insT and c.826C > A/c.204_206delCTC mutations, and one mutation within *CLCN1* gene – c.2680C > T p.Arg894Ter. *ANO5* c.191dupA was not present.

Conclusions: Genetic diagnosis was possible in 12 of 60 patients (20 %). The allele frequency of *CAPN3* gene mutation c.550delA in Latvia is 0.0016 and in Lithuania - 0.0029. The allele frequencies of *CAPN3* gene mutation c.2288A > G and *DYSF* gene mutation c.4872delG are 0.003.

Keywords: Limb-girdle muscular dystrophies, Illumina VeraCode GoldenGate, Calpain 3 c.550delA, Fukutin related protein

Background

Limb-girdle muscular dystrophies (LGMD) are a heterogeneous group of diseases that predominantly affect pelvic and shoulder girdle muscle groups. LGMD is a rare disorder, and the different forms of LGMD range in prevalence from 1 in 14,500 to 1 in 123,000, depending on the population [1, 2]. The autosomal recessive form of LGMD (LGMD type 2; LGMD-2) is more common, with 23 causal genes and chromosomal loci identified to date [3–7]. The rarer autosomal dominant (LGMD type 1; LGMD-1) form accounts for only 10 % of all cases and has eight causative genes and chromosomal loci currently identified [6, 8, 9]. These genes encode proteins involved in many different aspects of muscle cell biology. Diagnosing of specific types of LGMD is a challenging process due to the many genes involved, including unknown genes within the identified chromosomal loci. Although common mutations have been identified for some causative genes (for example, calpain 3 (*CAPN3*) c.550delA or fukutin related protein (*FKRP*) c.826C > A),



© 2016 Inashkina et al. **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

^{*} Correspondence: inna@biomed.lu.lv

¹Biomedical Research and Study Centre, Ratsupites str. 1, k-1, LV-1067 Riga, Latvia

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

a lot of additional mutations were found in different populations. Confirming the diagnosis of LGMD, in addition to subtyping, is usually done using molecular techniques. Directly sequencing the coding regions of the gene is the most common method, but remains often insufficient, due to the size and number of genes involved. Hence, the advancement of LGMD diagnostics was achieved through next generation sequencing of the genome or exome, or through targeted exome capture applications. Furthermore, several commercially available kits include loci for the diagnosis of neuromuscular disorders. The advantage of next generation sequencing lies in the capability of analyzing whole exomes at a reasonable cost without invasive muscle biopsies. Limitations of this method are related to insufficient exon coverage, leading to a potential lack of a representative examination of all exons [10].

The aim of this study was to investigate LGMD type 2 mutation spectrum and allelic frequency in Latvian and Lithuanian populations.

Methods

Patients

We investigated 26 patients from Latvia and 34 patients from Lithuania with clinical symptoms of LGMD. After mutation identification, segregation analysis of the family was performed.

Patients were recruited from the Neurology department of Children's University Hospital, from the outpatient clinic for Neurological diseases at Pauls Stradins Clinical University Hospital (Riga, Latvia), and from the Center for Medical Genetics, Vilnius University Hospital Santariskiu Clinics (Vilnius, Lithuania).

The Latvian patient sample consisted of 26 unrelated individuals with predominant pelvic and shoulder girdle muscle weakness and elevated creatine kinase (CK) values. Patients with electromyography data demonstrating myopathy or myogenic impairment were included in the study. A muscle biopsy was obtained from one patient; however, analysis of this was inconclusive regarding their LGMD subtype. The mean patient age at the onset of symptoms was 14 years (range: 1 month (accidental finding without clinical symptoms until 8 years) to 53 years), and the male:female ratio was 1.4:1.

The Lithuanian patient sample consisted of 34 unrelated patients with predominant pelvic and shoulder girdle muscle weakness and elevated CK values. Mean patient age at presentation was 23 years (range: 4–60 years) and the male:female ratio was 1:2.4.

The data collection was performed with permission from the Central Medical Ethics Committee of Latvia. All participants or their parents (in case of patient's age under 14 in Latvia and under 18 in Lithuania) signed an informed consent forms to participate and publish. Complete patient and family histories were taken at the clinic, and patients were asked about their muscle strength and performance before the onset of symptoms. Patients were interviewed and examined by a neurologist and a clinical geneticist experienced in neuromuscular disorders.

Healthy, unrelated individuals (n = 204) randomly selected from the Latvian Genome Database were used as controls representing the general population. When necessary, we supplemented the study with 101 samples, for total number of 394. Additionally, 175 DNA samples from Lithuania and 186 samples from Latvia were used as controls for ethnic groups. They were recruited, if their ancestors from the last three generations could be traced back archaeologically and ethno-linguistically to distinct regions of Latvia and Lithuania [11, 12].

Microarray genotyping

We selected the highly parallel genome-wide VeraCode GoldenGate system (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) as the platform for mutation screening [13]. The main resources used for manually selecting mutations, previously published as causative for LGMD-2, were the open access databases [14–17] as well as publications. Mutations were selected based on their pathogenicity, location within exons or splice sites, allele frequency, and the population analyzed. In addition, the mutations had to satisfy the following criteria to comply with the VeraCode GoldenGate system: they had to be single-nucleotide mutations (nonsynonymous single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) or insertions/deletions (indel)); diallelic (rather than triallelic or tetra-allelic) to ensure allele specific hybridization, extension, and ligation; and be >60 base pairs away from any other mutations on the array to prevent overlapping oligonucleotides during hybridization. All LGMD patients and general population controls were genotyped for the selected mutation using a customized VeraCode Golden-Gate system on a BeadXpress reader (Illumina). Reactions and quality controls were carried out under the standard conditions. To ensure quality control and to evaluate the intra-subject concordance rate, 48 duplicate samples were processed in one genotyping run, instead of 96 single samples.

The presence of the identified mutations was confirmed by direct sequencing performed using standard PCR conditions. The oligonucleotide sequences are available upon request.

CAPN3 and anoctamin 5 (ANO5) mutation detection

The mutations in *CAPN3* and *ANO5* genes (c.550delA and c.191dupA, respectively) in the Latvian and Lithuanian populations were identified by direct sequencing performed using standard polymerase chain reaction (PCR) conditions ($t_{annealing}$ 56 °C) with the oligonucleotides *CAPN3* F1 5'

TCTCAAAAAGCACCCAGTCC 3' and *CAPN3* R1 5' GCCTCTTCCTGTGAGTAGG 3', and *ANO5* F1 5' TGGTATGTTTGCAGCATTTTTG 3'and *ANO5* R1 5' CATACCTCAAATTTTGGATGTTAC 3'.

The frequencies of mutations in the ethnic and general populations were calculated using the Hardy-Weinberg equation under the assumption of the absence of evolutionary forces.

FKRP gene sequencing

A 1.7 kb fragment containing *FKRP* exon 4 and entire coding sequence was amplified using previously published primers [18] and 1.25 Units of Long PCR Enzyme Mix (ThermoScientific, Lithuania). PCR conditions were as follows: 45 cycles, annealing temperature 52 °C, extension temperature 68 °C, and DMSO concentration 4 %.

The exon 4 end exon-intron boundaries were analyzed by direct sequencing performed using published [18] and following oligonucleotides: *FKRP* F1 5'AGAT GCTGTGGTGCTCCTG 3', *FKRP* R1 5'TCCAAGTA GATGCCGAGGTC 3', *FKRP* F2 5'AGCTGCTGGA CTTGACCTTC 3', and *FKRP* F2 5'CCCACGTCCTC CAAGTAG 3'.

An automatic genetic analyzer (ABI PRISM 3130xl, Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) was used in all cases.

Next generation sequencing using AmpliSeq Inherited Disease Panel

Life Technologies Ion Torrents targeted gene enrichment and sequencing technology AmpliSeq was performed according to a protocol provided by the manufacturer on four patient samples.

The commercially available AmpliSeq Inherited Disease Panel (Life Technologies) that covers 325 gene exons and intron-exon boundaries of most common inherited diseases, including genes of LGMD and other muscle dystrophies, was used for this approach [19]. Standard DNA extraction was followed by PCR amplification using three primer pools included in the panel. The amplicon mixes were combined and treated with FuPa reagent (Life Technologies) to partially digest primer sequences and phosphorylate the amplicons, which were then ligated to multiplexing barcodes (Life Technologies). Library was then purified using Beckman Coulter (Nyon, Switzerland) AMPure XP magnetic beads and amplified using PCR assay provided, followed by another purification. Massive parallel sequencing of library created was done using Ion Torrent PGM device.

Results

A total of 264 DNA samples, 26 from Latvian patients, 34 from Lithuanian patients, and 204 healthy controls,

were analyzed by a custom microarray for the selected loci.

We initially selected 209 sequence's variants based on the criteria mentioned above. Of these, 121 were mutations in the *CAPN3* gene, 50 were mutations in dysferlin (*DYSF*), 28 were mutations in sarcoglycan alpha (*SGCA*), sarcoglycan beta (*SGCB*), sarcoglycan delta (*SGCD*), and sarcoglycan gamma (*SGCG*), two were gender controls (amelogenine, X-linked/ amelogenine, Y-linked), and eight were control polymorphisms. This initial number of mutations was reduced considerably due to designs resulting in critical failure scores, as calculated by the Assay Design Tool. To increase the overall performance and sensitivity of the assay, we had to decrease the investigated variants to a final total of 96.

Data cleaning was completed as recommended by the manufacturer resulting in exclusion of 23 samples.

In addition, we did a "paired sample" test in the final quality control step to compare the call frequency values of the duplicate samples, which led to the classification of 13 additional mutations as false positives and decrease the analyzed sample size to 185 (80 %). Additional file 1: Table S1 contains information about quality the parameters. A complete list of the Group 1 mutations, which have the best test performance (n = 20) is provided in Additional file 1: Table S2A. The additional mutations with fluctuating results included in the test (n = 57) form Group 2 and are provided in Additional file 1: Table S2B. Excluded mutations are provided in Additional file 1: Table S2C. After cleaning the data, we identified four different mutations in our cohort of patients and controls. Our analysis revealed the c.550delA homozygous mutation in CAPN3 in eight Lithuanian cases (24 %). Controls from the Latvian population did not have CAPN3 c.550delA, but had two causative mutations: DYSF c.4872delG and CAPN3 c.2288A > C, and one benign SNP FKRP c.135C > T (one heterozygous allele each; see Table 1). These three variants were not detected in patients. Re-sequencing of these mutations revealed one false negative case within the data from the Illumina Vera-Code GoldenGate assay. Thus, the sensitivity of the test was 89 % (95 % confidence interval (CI): 0.54-0.99), and the specificity was 98 % (95 % CI:0.89-0.99).

Because no controls had the *CAPN3* c.550delA mutation, it was not possible to estimate the frequency of this allele in the populations. For estimating its allele frequency in the Latvian population, an additional 101 individuals were selected from the Latvian Genome Database. One heterozygous carrier was found, and they had no symptoms of neuromuscular disease. Thus, the allele frequency of c.550delA within the Latvian population is estimated to be 0.0016 (0.16 %). However, the situation was different in the Lithuanian samples, in which the c.550delA allele was found in one of 175

Name	Gene	Mutation	Frequency in Control group	Frequency in the group of patients with NMD	Known mutation frequency
CAPN3_00010 (rs80338800)	CAPN3	c.550delA	0 (0.001 ^a)	0.13	NA
CAPN3_00119	CAPN3	c.2288A>C	0.003	0	NA
DYSF_00178	DYSF	c.4872delG	0.003	0	NA
rs2287717	FKRP	c.135C>T	0.003	0	0.14

Table 1 Mutations identified with LGMD-2 diagnostic test kit

^afrequency estimated for enlarged control group (with additional 101) *NA*, data not available

NMD, neuromuscular disorders

samples, making the calculated allele frequency 0.0029 (0.29 %). Using the Hardy-Weinberg equation, the estimated number of persons homozygous for *CAPN3* c.550delA in the Latvian population is 0.3 per 100,000 persons, and in the Lithuanian population, it is 0.8 per 100,000. Other three variants *DYSF* c.4872delG, *CAPN3* c.2288A > C, and *FKRP* c.135C > T had an allele frequency of 0.3 % in Latvian population, and the calculated number of homozygous persons was 1 in 166,000 for each of them.

Data from patients who had been diagnosed with LGMD2A using the GoldenGate VeraCode assay, were summarized. Information about these patients' clinical symptoms is in Table 2. To further ensure our results,

Table 2 Description of patients with identified mutations

we performed mutation analysis in the patients' families, and confirmed mutations in two affected siblings. The segregation analysis was concordant with the clinical picture and the presence of the mutation.

As a recent and population-specific finding, mutation c.191dupA of the *ANO5* gene was also analyzed in patients and ethnic control groups because of its reported frequency in North European populations [20]. Analysis did not reveal the variant in any of the samples, resulting in an allele frequency of zero in Latvia and Lithuania.

Since none of selected mutations were found within Latvian patients' samples, we performed analysis by direct sequencing of entire coding region and 4th exonintron boundaries of *FKRP* gene for 23 Latvian patients.

Gene	Patient ID	Mutation	Symptoms
FKRP		c.826C>A/c.826C>A	Female, disease onset at age 11, shoulder girdle muscle weakness and atrophy, pseudohypertrophy of calves, hyperlordosis, respiratory difficulty, CK level (U/I) 700-1500
FKRP		c.826C>A/c.404_405insT	Male, disease onset at age 5 with rhabdomyolysis, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, hypertrophy of calves, mild proximal weakness, Gowers' symptom negative, CK level (U/I) 32,000
FKRP		c.826C>A/c.204_206delCTC	Female, age 8, slight proximal muscle weakness, CK level (U/I) 700
CLCN1		c.2680C>T/N	Female, disease onset at age 4, severe proximal muscle weakness, Gowers' symptom positive, myotonia by EMG, CK level (U/I) 13,059
CAPN3	D06	c.550delA/c.550delA	Female, disease onset at age 4, tip toe walking, proximal muscle weakness and atrophy, scoliosis at age 10, ankle and elbow contractures in teen years, significantly reduced physical activity at age 19, still walking after 34 years from onset, CK level (U/I) 4000 at present.
CAPN3	D07	c.550delA/c.550delA	Female, disease onset at pre-school age, walking and gait disorders, proximal muscle weakness and atrophy, CK level (U/I) 9001 $$
CAPN3	D08	c.550delA/c.550delA	Female, disease onset at age 11, tip toe walking, waddling gait, frequent falling and inability to run, scapular winging, hypertrophy of calves, still walking after 16 years from onset, CK level (U/I) 5722
CAPN3	D09	c.550delA/c.550delA	Female, disease onset at age 7 with history of frequent falling and inability to run, short stature, hypertrophy of calves, proximal muscle weakness, scapular winging, walking with assistance at the age 17, CK level (U/I) 4000
CAPN3	D10	c.550delA/c.550delA	Female, disease onset at age 6, muscle weakness and atrophy in the lower extremities with difficulty running, climbing stairs, and frequent falls, waddling gait, scoliosis, dependent on a wheelchair at age 17, CK level (U/I) 18,826
CAPN3	D16	c.550delA/c.550delA	Male, disease onset at age 14, <i>pes equinovarus</i> from birth, waddling gait, fatigue in his arms progressively worsened to symmetric weakness in hip girdle, scapular winging, walking with assistance at age 29, dependent on a wheelchair at age 32, CK level (U/I) 6370
CAPN3	D23	c.550delA/c.550delA	Female, disease onset at age 7, proximal muscle weakness, still walking after 34 years from onset, CK level (U/I) 7487
CAPN3	D24	c.550delA/c.550delA	Male, disease onset at age 3, tip toe walking, proximal muscle weakness, hypertrophy of calves, significant loss of physical activity at age 14, CK level (U/I) 854

CK, creatine kinase, EMG, electromyography

26 Lithuanian patients, who had not been diagnosed with LGMD2A, were also included in this analysis. Our analysis revealed one c.286C > A homozygous mutation in Lithuanian patient and two compound heterozygous mutations (one in each of Lithuanian and Latvian case) within the coding region of *FKRP* gene. The first is *FKRP* c.826C > A/c.404_405insT mutation, unknown *cis* or *trans* position, another one is *FKRP* c.826C > A/c.204_206delCTC in *trans* position that is confirmed by segregation analysis, carried out in the patient's parents samples. Information about patients' clinical symptoms is summarized in Table 2.

Additionally, next generation sequencing using Ampli-Seq Inherited Disease Panel was performed on four patient samples. These patients had no diagnosis found by other methods described. One heterozygous mutation within chloride voltage-gated channel 1 (*CLCN1*) gene – c. 2680C > T p.894R > X was identified. Patients' clinical features are described in Table 2.

Discussion

This study, using the LGMD-test kit, revealed a homozygous *CAPN3* c.550delA mutation in eight Lithuanian patients and three variants (one heterozygous allele each) in controls: *DYSF* c.5028delG, *CAPN3* c.2288A > G (both were reported as pathogenic), and *FKRP* c.135C > T (benign polymorphism). These three variants were not detected in patients.

The mutation *CAPN3* c.550delA is one of the most frequent among patients suffering from LGMD-2. It has been identified in many countries, including France, Greece, Italy, the Netherlands, Germany, and the United Kingdom, but was relatively infrequent in these populations [21, 22]. Relatively high frequencies (40–70 % of LGMD2A cases) of *CAPN3* c.550delA have been observed and reported in Turkey, Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Poland, and Russia [23–29]. Canki-Klain et al. suggested that the *CAPN3* c.550delA mutation originated in the Eastern Mediterranean, probably spreading widely across Europe, and single haplotype analysis confirms this hypothesis [27].

Our data suggest that *CAPN3* c.550delA is also the most frequent mutation in LGMD patients in Lithuanian populations. The calculated frequency of homozygous persons is 0.8 per 100,000 people, and in Latvia calculated frequency is 0.3 in 100,000. The marked difference observed between allele frequencies in Lithuanian and Latvian populations remains unexplained. We speculate that the disease gradient falls rapidly towards the North and East of Europe.

The *CAPN3* gene mutation c.2288A > G and *DYSF* gene mutation c.5028delG (currently c.4872delG) carrier frequency is 1 in 204 people.

We did not find common mutations in *ANO5*, *SGCA*, *SGCB*, *SGCD*, or *SGCG*. It is possible that these common mutations have distinct founder effects and are sparsely scattered in Northeast Europe.

Additionally, we found three different mutations within *FKRP* gene: c.826C > A, $c.404_{-}405insT$, and $c.204_{-}206delCTC$ and one mutation in *CLCN1* gene – c.2680C > T.

Currently, the LGMD-2 diagnosis toolkit is not vital for diagnostics; nevertheless, the information about the mutation spectrum we acquired in this study is important for construction a gene panel for LGMD diagnostics and gives insight into the mutation spectrum of this heterogeneous disease.

Conclusions

The LGMD-2 test kit was introduced as a rapid and low cost screening tool for improvement of the healthcare of the neuromuscular disease patients. Genetic diagnosis was achieved in 12 of 60 patients (20 %). The allele frequency of *CAPN3* gene mutation c.550delA in Latvia is 0.0016 and in Lithuania – 0.0029. The allele frequencies of *CAPN3* gene mutation c.2288A > G and *DYSF* gene mutation c.4872delG are 0.003 in Latvia and profiled the known common mutations causing LGMD-2.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The study was performed with permission issued by the Central Medical Ethics Committee of Latvia (N27 from December 14, 2011). All participants or their parents signed an informed consent form to participate.

Consent for publications

All participants or their parents signed an informed consent form to publish.

Availability of data and materials

Microarray data are available in the ArrayExpress database (www.ebi.ac.uk/arrayexpress) under accession number E-MTAB-4662.

Additional file

Additional file 1: Quality parameters and description of all mutations analyzed with Illumina VeraCode GoldenGate assay. (DOCX 69 kb)

Abbreviations

LGMD: limb-girdle muscular dystrophy; CK: creatine kinase; EMG: electromyography; SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism; PCR: polymerase chain reaction; CI: confidence interval; *DYSF*: dysferlin; *FKRP*: fukutin related protein; *ANO5*: anoctamin 5; *CAPN3*: calpain 3; *SGCA*: sarcoglycan alpha; *SGCB*: sarcoglycan beta; *SGCD*: sarcoglycan delta; *SGCG*: sarcoglycan gamma; *CLCN1*: chloride voltage-gated channel 1.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Authors' contributions

Il carried out the molecular genetic studies, participated in the mutation selection and drafted the manuscript. JD carried out the molecular genetic studies. IV participated in the mutation selection. KV isolated patients' DNA. IM, JS, MSN, LC, VK, BB, AM participated in the recruitment of the patients and their diagnosing as neurologists or clinical geneticists. AK participated in the design of the study. AU participated in the design of the study. BL conceived of the study, participated in the recruitment of the patients and their diagnosing and helped to draft the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Authors' information

Not applicable.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to all participating families and patients. We are grateful to Linda Piekuse, Ph.D. from the Rigas' Stradins University for the providing of ethnic Lithuanian controls. We are grateful to Bioedit Limited (Macclesfield, England) for the English language editing service.

Funding

This Project was supported by ERDF funds no. 2010/0223/2DP/2.1.1.1.0/10/ APIA/VIAA/025, "New tests for the diagnosis of inherited neuromuscular diseases".

Author details

¹Biomedical Research and Study Centre, Ratsupites str. 1, k-1, LV-1067 Riga, Latvia. ²Department of Human and Medical Genetics, Faculty of Medicine, Vilnius University, Vilnius, Lithuania. ³Centre for Medical Genetics, Vilnius University Hospital Santariškių Klinikos, Santariškių str. 2, LT-08661 Vilnius, Lithuania. ⁴Laval University, Quebec, Canada. ⁵Centre hospitalier universitaire de Québec, 2705, boulevard Laurier, Québec, Québec G1V 4G2, Canada.

Received: 21 October 2015 Accepted: 28 April 2016 Published online: 04 May 2016

References

- Laval SH, Bushby KM. Limb-girdle muscular dystrophies–from genetics to molecular pathology. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2004;30:91–105.
- Urtasun M, Sáenz A, Roudaut C, Poza JJ, Urtizberea JA, Cobo AM, et al. Limb-girdle muscular dystrophy in Guipúzcoa (Basque Country, Spain). Brain. 1998;121:1735–47.
- Yates JR, Emery AE. A population study of adult onset limb-girdle muscular dystrophy. J Med Genet. 1985;22:250–7.
- Rosales XQ, Moser SJ, Tran T, McCarthy B, Dunn N, Habib P, et al. Cardiovascular magnetic resonance of cardiomyopathy in limb girdle muscular dystrophy 2B and 2I. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2011;13:39.
- Hicks D, Sarkozy A, Muelas N, Koehler K, Huebner A, Hudson G, et al. A founder mutation in Anoctamin 5 is a major cause of limb-girdle muscular dystrophy. Brain. 2011;134:171–82.
- Nigro V, Savarese M. Genetic basis of limb-girdle muscular dystrophies: the 2014 update. Acta myol. 2014;33:1–12.
- Gundesli H, Talim B, Korkusuz P, Balci-Hayta B, Cirak S, Akarsu NA, et al. Mutation in exon 1f of PLEC, leading to disruption of plectin isoform 1f, causes autosomal-recessive limb-girdle muscular dystrophy. Am J Hum Genet. 2010;87:834–41.
- Greenberg SA, Salajegheh M, Judge DP, Feldman MW, Kuncl RW, Waldon Z, et al. Etiology of limb girdle muscular dystrophy 1D/1E determined by laser capture microdissection proteomics. Ann Neurol. 2012;71:141–5.
- Harms MB, Ori-McKenney KM, Scoto M, Tuck EP, Bell S, Ma D, et al. Mutations in the tail domain of DYNC1H1 cause dominant spinal muscular atrophy. Neurology. 2012;78:1714–20.
- 10. Flanigan KM. The muscular dystrophies. Semin Neurol. 2012;32:255-63.
- Pliss L, Tambets K, Loogväli EL, Pronina N, Lazdins M, Krumina A, et al. Mitochondrial DNA portrait of Latvians: towards the understanding of the genetic structure of Baltic-speaking populations. Ann Hum Genet. 2006;70(Pt 4):439–58.
- 12. Kushniarevich A, Utevska O, Chuhryaeva M, Agdzhoyan A, Dibirova K, Uktveryte I, et al. Genetic Heritage of the Balto-Slavic Speaking Populations:

A Synthesis of Autosomal Mitochondrial and Y-Chromosomal Data. PLoS One. 2015;10(9):e0135820. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0135820.

- Fan J-BB, Chee MS, Gunderson KL. Highly parallel genomic assays. Nat Rev Genet. 2006;7:632–44.
- Fokkema IF, Taschner PE, Schaafsma GC, Celli J, Laros JF, den Dunnen JT. LOVD v. 2.0: the next generation in gene variant databases. Hum Mutat. 2011;32:557–63.
- HGMD The Human Gene Mutation Database. Institute of Medical Genetics in Cardiff. Cardiff, UK. 2007–2015. http://www.hgmd.cf.ac.uk/ac/index.php. Accessed 14 Oct 2014.
- NCBI dbSNP Short Genetic Variation Database. National Center for Biotechnology Information. Bethesda MD, USA: 2015. http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/snp. Accessed 14 Oct 2014.
- 17. Flicek P, Amode MR, Barrell D, Beal K, Billis K, Brent S. Ensembl 2014. Nucl. Acids Res. 2014;42 Database issue:D749-D755
- Brockington M, Yuva Y, Prandini P, Brown SC, Torelli S, Benson MA, et al. Mutations in the fukutin-related protein gene (FKRP) identify limb girdle muscular dystrophy 21 as a milder allelic variant of congenital muscular dystrophy MDC1C. Hum Mol Genet. 2001;10:2851–9.
- Ion AmpliSeq[™] Inherited Disease Panel target gene list. Life Technologies Corporation. 2012.
- Sarkozy A, Hicks D, Hudson J, Laval SH, Barresi R, Hilton-Jones D, et al. ANO5 gene analysis in a large cohort of patients with anoctaminopathy: confirmation of male prevalence and high occurrence of the common exon 5 gene mutation. Hum Mutat. 2013;34:1111–8.
- Richard I, Roudaut C, Saenz A, Pogue R, Grimbergen JE, Anderson LV, et al. Calpainopathy-a survey of mutations and polymorphisms. Am J Hum Genet. 1999;64:1524–40.
- Hanisch F, Müller CR, Grimm D, Xue L, Traufeller K, Merkenschlager A et al. Frequency of calpain-3 c.550delA mutation in limb girdle muscular dystrophy type 2 and isolated hyperCKemia in German patients. Clin neuropathol. 2007;26:157–63
- Dincer P, Leturcq F, Richard I, Piccolo F, Yalnizoglu D, de Toma C, et al. A biochemical, genetic, and clinical survey of autosomal recessive limb girdle muscular dystrophies in Turkey. Ann Neurol. 1997;42:222–9.
- 24. Balci B, Aurino S, Haliloglu G, Talim B, Erdem S, Akcören Z, et al. Calpain-3 mutations in Turkey. Eur J Pediatr. 2006;165:293–8.
- Georgieva B, Todorova A, Tournev I, Mitev V, Plageras P, Kremensky I. 550delA mutation in the calpain 3 (CAPN3) gene: DMD/BMD, SMA, or LGMD2A–clinically misdiagnosed cases. Am J Med Genet. 2005;136A:399–400.
- Dorobek M, Ryniewicz B, Kabzińska D, Fidziańska A, Styczyńska M, Hausmanowa-Petrusewicz I. The Frequency of c.550delA Mutation of the CANP3 Gene in the Polish LGMD2A Population. Genet Test Mol Biomarkers. 2015;19(11):637–40.
- Canki-Klain N, Milic A, Kovac B, Trlaja A, Grgicevic D, Zurak N, et al. Prevalence of the 550delA mutation in calpainopathy (LGMD 2A) in Croatia. Am J Med Genet. 2004;125A:152–6.
- Stehlíková K, Skálová D, Zídková J, Mrázová L, Vondráček P, Mazanec R, et al. Autosomal recessive limb-girdle muscular dystrophies in the Czech Republic. BMC Neurol. 2014;14:154.
- Pogoda TV, Krakhmaleva IN, Lipatova NA, Shakhovskaya NI, Shishkin SS, Limborska SA. High incidence of 550delA mutation of CAPN3 in LGMD2 patients from Russia. Hum Mutat. 2000;15:295.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and we will help you at every step:

- We accept pre-submission inquiries
- Our selector tool helps you to find the most relevant journal

) BioMed Central

- We provide round the clock customer support
- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- Inclusion in PubMed and all major indexing services
- Maximum visibility for your research

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

3.3. Neuromuscular disease diagnostics in Latvia - dawn of a new age (Collagen VIrelated limb-girdle syndrome caused by frequent mutation in COL6A3 gene with conflicting reports of pathogenicity)

The paper looks at one of the many successful results from the collaboration with an international research project (MYO-SEQ) during the initial part of the project. The project was focused on trying to find the genetic cause in cases of undiagnosed rare neuromuscular disorders, using whole-exome sequencing. Here we describe dealing with cases where data on found variations are coming from many sources, with varying accompanying information and many different interpretations. In addition, we try to give our observations and conclusions on a relatively frequent variant in the *COL6A3* gene - c.7447A > G, giving our interpretation of its pathogenicity and connection with the associated disease.





Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Neuromuscular Disorders 30 (2020) 483-491



Collagen VI-related limb-girdle syndrome caused by frequent mutation in *COL6A3* gene with conflicting reports of pathogenicity

Janis Stavusis^{a,*}, Ieva Micule^a, Nathan T. Wright^b, Volker Straub^c, Ana Topf^c, Luísa Panadés-de Oliveira^d, Cristina Domínguez-González^d, Inna Inashkina^a, Dita Kidere^a, Nicolas Chrestian^e,

Baiba Lace^{a,f}

^aLatvian Biomedical Research and Study Centre, Ratsupites 1, Riga LV-1067, Latvia

^bDepartment of Chemistry and Biochemistry, James Madison University, Harrisonburg, VA 22807, United States

^cInstitute of Genetic Medicine, Newcastle University and Newcastle Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Central Parkway, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK

^d Department of Neurology, Hospital Universitario 12 de Octubre, Av. de Córdoba, s/n, 28,041, Madrid, Spain

Child neurology department, CHUQ, Laval University, 2325 Rue de l'Université, Quebec City, Canada

^fMedical Genetics department, CHUQ, 2705 Blvd Laurier, Quebec City, Canada

Received 17 November 2019; received in revised form 26 March 2020; accepted 30 March 2020

Abstract

Recently the scientific community has started to view Bethlem myopathy 1 and Ullrich congenital muscular dystrophy as two extremes of a collagen VI-related myopathy spectrum rather than two separate entities, as both are caused by mutations in one of the collagen VI genes. Here we report three individuals in two families who are homozygous for a *COL6A3* mutation (c.7447A> G; p.Lys2483Glu), and compare their clinical features with seven previously published cases. Individuals carrying homozygous or compound heterozygous c.7447A> G, (p.Lys2483Glu) mutation exhibit mild phenotype without loss of ambulation, similar to the cases described previously as Collagen VI-related limb-girdle syndrome. The phenotype could arise due to an aberrant assembly of Von Willebrand factor A domains. Based on these data, we propose that c.7447A> G, (p.Lys2483Glu) is a common pathogenic mutation. @ 2020 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: COL6A3; Collagen VI-related myopathy; LGMD phenotype.

1. Introduction

Bethlem myopathy 1 and the more severe Ullrich congenital muscular dystrophy 1 are both associated with mutations in one of the three collagen VI genes—*COL6A1*, *COL6A2* and *COL6A3*. Since the same genes are involved, these two diseases are now often viewed as the two extremes of a spectrum of collagen VI-related myopathies. Lately, however, there has been also data on involvement of the *COL12A1* gene, with mutations in it being associated with Bethlem myopathy 2 [1–3].

First described in 1976 by Bethlem and Wijngaarden, the Bethlem myopathy patients have a milder and relatively stable

0960-8966/© 2020 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

myopathy that affects both sexes equally, with predominantly autosomal dominant inheritance, although autosomal recessive cases have been described as well [4]. Onset is usually in early infancy with slow progression [5]. Patients exhibit moderate weakness and atrophy of the trunk and limb muscles, typically involving proximal muscles more than distal, and extensors more than flexors. The hallmark of the Bethlem myopathy, seen in nearly all patients, is the eventual development of flexion contractures of the fingers, wrists, elbows, and ankles [6]. Many affected patients need a wheelchair by their fifties, and some die of respiratory failure [7]. The phenotype shows no overtly aberrant histology, and usually presents without elevated serum creatine phosphokinase levels, though cases of elevated creatine kinase have also been reported [4]. Findings by

^{*} Corresponding author. E-mail address: janis.stavusis@biomed.lu.lv (J. Stavusis).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2020.03.010

484

Merlini et al. indicate that mitochondrial dysfunction plays a critical role in the pathogenesis of the disorder [8].

Although precise data on disease frequency is still emerging and incomplete from many regions, there is compelling evidence that collagen VI-related myopathies are among the most common congenital muscular dystrophies worldwide [9,10]. For instance, in the UK, the prevalence of Ullrich congenital muscular dystrophy is 0.13 per 100,000 people and the prevalence of Bethlem myopathy is 0.77 per 100,000, though this could be somewhat underrepresented due to the current state of genetic and clinical testing [11,12]. Another study placed collagen VI-related myopathies as third most common type of congenital muscular dystrophies in the UK [12].

Collagen VI-related myopathies are known to present in both an autosomal dominant and a recessive pattern [12–15]. The genetic heterogeneity observed in patients leads to the hypothesis that collagen VI related myopathies comprise a spectrum of conditions, with variable severity, based on a number of factors [13]. For instance, the same mutation can cause both – a severe (Ullrich) and a mild (Bethlem) myopathy [16]. Interestingly however, it has been shown that haploinsufficiency is not enough to cause the myopathy, suggesting that either previously reported autosomal dominant patients might be carrying an additional unreported mutation or there is some additional regulatory mechanism [13].

Brinas et al. classified COL6A-related muscular dystrophies into three classes, based on the severity of the phenotype [2]. Likewise, Bonnemann proposed the following four phenotypical and functional classifications of collagen IV-related myopathy. First is severe Ullrich congenital muscular dystrophy (CMD), with patients exhibiting early phenotype, not achieving independent ambulation and frequently having severe contractures. Second is typical Ulrich CMD, with patients eventually achieving independent ambulation but then losing it again by the age of 20, loss of ambulation typically occurring between 5 and 15 years of age, frequently having severe contractures. Third is intermediate phenotype, with patient ambulation beyond 20 years of age and more variable contractures. Fourth is Bethlem myopathy, with patients retaining ambulation into adulthood and contractures of variable severity [1]. There are also two more rarely described Col6 phenotypes: a limb-girdle muscular dystrophy (LGMD) like presentation, classified as a subset of the fourth class, and myosclerosis [17].

The gene *COL6A3* itself is located on the reverse strand of chromosome 2q37.3. It codes one of the three alpha chains (alpha-3) of type VI collagen. The alpha chains form heterotrimeric monomers, the basic components of most of collagen VI, and are then secreted into the extracellular matrix where they form collagen VI microfibrils [18]. The collagen VI is a beaded filament collagen that is expressed in most connective tissues.

2. Objective

Here we report three novel individuals in two families, affected by mutation c.7447A> G, (p.Lys2483Glu) in a homozygous state in the *COL6A3* gene. We then compare their clinical features with previously published cases, to discuss possible pathogenicity of the reported mutation.

3. Subjects

The first family, which includes probands 1 and 2 (Fig. 1), was recruited within the framework of a neuromuscular disease research project in Latvia, targeting all unrelated individuals with predominant pelvic and shoulder girdle muscle weakness and elevated creatine kinase (CK) values. Collaboration with the Myo-Seq consortium was established to perform the clinical exome analysis. Data collection was performed with permission from the Central Medical Ethics Committee of Latvia. All participants or their parents signed the informed consent forms. Patients were interviewed and examined by a neurologist and a clinical geneticist experienced in neuromuscular disorders.

The second family of proband 3 (Fig. 1) was assessed during a regular visit to Medical Genetics Clinic, CHUL-CHUQ in Quebec City, Canada. The retrospective study involved information about clinical symptoms and muscle MRI.

Subjects included from previous publications

Panadés-de Oliveira et al. [16] added their clinical information and muscle MRI images of three patients with homozygous mutation c.7447A>G, (p.Lys2483Glu) in the *COL6A3* gene. Their study subjects were recruited retrospectively from the database of the Neuromuscular Disorders Unit of Hospital Universitario 12 de Octubre in Madrid.

Clinical information about proband 7, harboring the same homozygous mutation, was collected from the publication by Hunter et al. [15], where they recruited children with clinically diagnosed myopathies that have consented for participation in research study, according to the Western Institutional Review Board approved protocol.

Concerning materials and methods used with these patients, please refer to relevant publications [15,16].

Muscle MRI was performed for proband 1 and his unaffected father, as well as for proband 3, and patients of Panadés-de Oliveira.

4. Materials and methods

Whole exome sequencing was performed from the DNA samples of family 1 at the Broad Institute's Genomics Platform, using Illumina exome capture, 38 Mb baited target, and the Broad's in-solution hybrid selection process. Exome-sequencing pipeline included sample plating, library




Fig. 1. Family pedigrees. (A) Pedigree of the first family indicating proband 1 (III-4) and proband 2 (III-5). (B) Pedigree of the second family, indicating proband 3 (III-1). For both pedigrees, black and whilte symbols indicate affected and unaffected individuals respectively, while index patients are denoted with arrows. Gene allele schematics denote patients for whom genetic testing has been done, with filled beads marking the c.7447A>G mutation and empty beads marking the c.8074deIT mutation.

preparation (2-plexing of samples per hybridization), hybrid capture, sequencing (76 bp paired reads), sample identification QC check, and data storage. Hybrid selection libraries cover >80% of targets at 20× and have a mean target coverage of $>80\times$. The exome sequencing data was de-multiplexed and each sample's sequence data were aggregated into a single Picard BAM file. Exome sequencing data was processed through a pipeline based on Picard, using the base quality score recalibration and local realignment at known indels. BWA aligner was used for mapping reads to the human genome build 37 (hg19). Single Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNPs) and insertions/deletions (indels) were jointly called across all samples using Genome Analysis Toolkit (GATK) Haplotype Caller package version 3.1. Default filters were applied to SNP and indel calls using the GATK Variant Quality Score Recalibration (VQSR) approach. Lastly, variants were annotated using Variant Effect Predictor (VEP).

Data from a neuromuscular gene panel sequencing was obtained from family 2 by a private company, using the approach where genomic DNA obtained from the submitted sample is enriched for targeted regions, using a hybridization-based protocol, and sequenced using Illumina technology. Unless otherwise indicated, all targeted regions were sequenced with \geq 50× coverage depth. Reads were aligned to a reference sequence (GRCh37), and sequence changes were identified and interpreted in the context of a single clinically relevant transcript. All clinically significant observations were confirmed by Sanger sequencing.

The C1/11th VWA domain (residues 2393–2597; accession number NP_004360.2) was modeled with Phyre2 [19]. Molecular dynamics were performed on this model using the YASARA suite, as previously described [20]. After 100 ns equilibration, the Lys2483Glu mutation was created using the "swap" command, and this mutated structure was allowed to equilibrate for an additional 100 ns.

5. Results

5.1. Clinical findings and MRI data

In family 1 the proband was a 35-year-old male of Latvian ancestry, complaining since childhood about muscle weakness and lack of endurance. At age 30, the patient presented with muscle weakness and significant muscle atrophy, mostly in the hamstrings. This patient also had symmetrical proximal muscle weakness in lower extremities 4/5 and milder symmetrical proximal weakness in upper extremities, as well as mild axial weakness. Mild flexion contractures were noted in elbows and carpal joints, as well as medium ankle contractures. His creatine phosphokinase levels were slightly elevated (435U/L), and an EMG revealed fibrillations and myopathic motor unit patterns. The muscle biopsy showed severe dystrophic changes with fibrosis, fatty replacement, and focal spots of hypertrophy. Pulmonary functional testing performed, revealed no deviation from norm. The sister of proband (proband 2) had similar symptoms; she also had proximal muscle weakness, limiting actions like climbing stairs and running, with mild ankle contractures. However, her disease progression was slower.

Muscle MRI of the proband, T1, STIR cor, PD, PD spair ax, T2 sag showed muscle atrophy with fatty infiltration from the periphery to center, with predominantly severe involvement of adductors, vasti and hamstring muscles, compared to gracilis and iliopsoas muscles (Fig. 2(B)). Muscle MRI of the patient's father was normal (Fig. 2(A)).

Proband 3 from family 2 was a 45-year-old woman, complaining since childhood about predominantly proximal muscle weakness in lower extremities. Patient's ancestry is French Canadian and Irish. Her main concern was leg weakness that had not progressed throughout her life. Muscle strength in upper extremities was symmetrical 4/5 in both proximal and distal muscle groups. Axial weakness was registered as 4/5. Muscle strength in lower extremities was reduced symmetrically 4/5, similarly in both proximal and distal muscle groups, with the exception of muscle quadriceps, which retained strength 5/5. Mild flexion contractures of ankles were noticed. EMG revealed axonal polyneuropathy in lower extremities. Her patellar reflexes were 2/4 and ankle reflexes 1/4. Oxygen saturation in venous and capillary blood was normal. Pulmonary X-ray was without pathology. There were no complaints concerning shortness of breath, cough or other respiratory problems, therefore pulmonary function tests were not performed. The proposed plan of investigation, including mutation analysis for other family members and pulmonary function tests, was refused by the patient, who we believe additionally suffers from anxiety and memory problems.

CK level was 429 U/I, with muscle biopsy showing fiber size variation, mild fibrosis and centralization of the nucleus. Muscle MRI showed diffuse involvement of adductors, hamstrings and vasti muscles (Fig. 2(F)).

Clinical information concerning all probands was collected in Table 1.

5.2. Genetic data

In proband 1, exome sequencing revealed two different mutations in the *COL6A3* gene, both of them downstream from the critical TH domain. The first is a rare homozygous substitution c.7447A>G, (p.Lys2483Glu) (here and further in text based on RefSeq NM_004369, transcript ID: ENST00000295550.8), that was first reported by Brinas et al. in 2010 in a compound heterozygous person, and can be found in the dbSNP database under reference number rs139260335 [2]. The mutation is located in exon 36, in the C1/11th VWA domain (VWA 11), located in a nonhelical region of the protein.

In silico predictory algorithms SIFT and PolyPhen mark it as deleterious and probably damaging, with CADD score of 22.5. The variant can be found in the GnomAD dataset with the frequency of 6.01e–04 in the global population, and is most prevalent in the non-Finnish European and Latino populations, with frequencies of 0.001 and 0.0007 respectively. In this dataset there exists one homozygous individual of non-Finnish European population, this bearing in mind, that GnomAD database curators made all efforts to exclude individuals with severe childhood diseases [21–24]. The affected site is phylogenetically completely conserved in mammals, with the surrounding area being conserved as well, albeit at a lower level.

The associated entry in ClinVar database is marked with conflicting interpretations of pathogenicity, which is not surprising, considering the phenotypic variability observed in association with mutations in COL6A genes, described previously. There are several unpublished reports in LOVD database associated with the c.7447A>G, (p.Lys2483Glu) mutation.

The second mutation is a heterozygous deletion c.8074delT, (p.Tyr2692MetfsTer15) leading to a frameshift and premature termination of the protein. This mutation has not been reported and cannot be found in any of the genetic databases available. It is located in exon 38, affecting the C2/VWA 12 domain, located in the same nonhelical region of the protein, as the other mutation. In addition, due to the premature termination, the truncated protein is missing two glycosylation sites and three disulfide bonds as well as a fibronectin type-III and a BPTI/Kunitz inhibitor domains downstream of the deletion.

The father of the patient is a carrier of both mutations c.[7447A>G; 8074delT], in a heterozygous state, and the mother is a carrier of c.7447A>G in a heterozygous state, both of them being healthy with no phenotypic expression, the proband's sister has the same genotype as the proband.

Proband 3 demonstrated the same homozygous substitution c.7447A>G, (p.Lys2483Glu) in *COL6A3*.

A model of the C1/11th VWA domain suggests p.Lys2483 is solvent exposed. Additionally, simulations of the p.Lys2483Glu mutation do not significantly perturb the structure. Instead, this mutation is likely to alter Col6a3-target binding (Fig. 3), seeing how C1 and C2 domains are binding Table 1

Clinical information of known cases affected by the c.7447A>G mutation.											
Author	Genotype	Gender, age	EMG	CK U/L	Muscle MRI	Muscle biopsy	Weakness	Contractures	Skin involvement	Scoliosis	Respiratory insuffiency
Homozygous	carriers										
Panadés-de Oliveira et al. 2019 [16]	c.[7447A>G]; [7447A>G]	M, 42	ND	4000	COL6 disease type	Dystrophy, rimmed vacuoles	Proximal LL	Interphalangeal, ankles	No	No	No
	c.[7447A>G]; [7447A>G]	M, 48	ND	1000	COL6 disease type	ND	No	Interphalangeal, ankles	No	No	No
	c.[7447A>G]; [7447A>G] and COL6A1 c.2435–2A>G	F, 19	ND	830	COL6 disease type	ND	Distal LL	Interphalangeal, ankles	No	No	No
Hunter et al. 2015 [15]	c.[7447A>G]; [7447A>G]	M, 17	Normal peripheral motor and sensory nerve conductions with abnormal spontaneous activity, chronic motor neuropathy	1000	ND	Fiber size variation, fiber type changes suggestive of myopathy	Proximal LL, distal LL	Ankles	No	Yes	Normal FVC and FEV1
Present study, Proband 1	c.[7447A>G]; [7447A>G; c.8074deIT]	M, 30	Fibrillations and generalised myogenic impairement	534	COL6 disease type	Severe atrophy of muscle tissue, compensating by focal spots of hypertrophy, suspecting muscular dystrophy	Proximal LL	Elbows, ankles	No	No	Normal FVC and FEV1
Present study, Proband 2	c.[7447A>G]; [7447A>G; c.8074delT]	F, 42	ND	ND	ND	ND	Proximal LL	Ankles	No	ND	ND
Present study, Proband 3	c.[7447A>G]; [7447A>G]	F, 44	Axonal polyneuropathy in lower extremities, which could be caused as a result of chronic neurogenic impairment and/or chronic myogenic impairment with neurogenic recruitment	429	Diffuse and severe fatty infiltration	Fiber size variation, mild fibrosis and centralization of nucleus	Distal LL, proximal LL	Ankles	No	Yes	No
Compound he	terozygous carrier	ŝ									
Brinas et al., 2010 [2]	c.[7447A>G]; [9384_9386del]	M, 12	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	No	FVC% 78
Hunter et al. 2015 [15]	c.[5480delG]; [7447A>G]	M, 12	Fibrillations	700	ND	Fiber size variation. Dystrophic changes, normal Collagen 6.	Proximal	Ankles	No	No	Normal FVC and FEV1
Panadés-de Oliveira et al. 2019 [16]	c.[8540_8540 delA]; [7447A>G]	F, 27	ND	800	COL6 disease type	Dystrophy	Cervical, proximal	Elbows, ankles	No	No	Reduced maximal expiratory pressure

LL - lower limbs.

CMAP – compound motor action potential. COL6 disease type MRI – Typical muscle MRI findings of Bethlem myopathy in T1-weighted sequence showing concentric involvement of vastus lateralis and central high signal in rectus femoris (c), as well as peripheral involvement of medial gastrocnemius muscle.



Fig. 2. Muscle MRI of the patients with c.7447A>G mutation.

All T1 weighted axial sequence of thigh.

(A) Father of proband 1 COL6A3 c.[7447A>G; 8074delT].

MRI - normal.

(B) Proband 1 COL6A3 c.[7447A>G; 8074delT]; [7447A>G].

MRI - diffuse and severe fatty infiltration from periphery to center pattern of mm. vastus lateralis and mm. vastus medialis, hamstrings, adductors, but relatively sparing mm. gracilis.

(C) Patient 15. COL6A3 c.[7447A>G]; [7447A>G].

MRI - fatty replacement mainly involving mm. vastus lateralis and mm. vastus medialis with beginning of hamstrings and mm. adductor magnus involvement. Mm. gracilis and mm. sartorius are relatively preserved.

(D) Patient 11. COL6A3 c.[7447A>G]; [7447A>G].

MRI - diffuse and severe fatty infiltration from periphery to center pattern of mm. vastus lateralis, mm. vastus medialis, hamstrings and adductors, but sparing mm. gracilis and mm. sartorius.

(E) Patient 15. COL6A3 c.[7447A>G]; [7447A>G].

MRI - mild fatty infiltration mainly involving mm. vastus lateralis and starting in hamstrings, sparing mm sartorius and gracilis.

(F) Proband 3 COL6A3 c.[7447A>G]; [7447A>G].

MRI - diffuse and severe fatty infiltration, involving all muscles but affecting more severely mm. vasti, adductors and harmstrings.

same domains on other proteins, thus being responsible for monomer assembly [17].

6. Discussion

The alpha-3 chain is a modular protein comprised of 10 Von Willebrand factor A (VWA) domains arranged in tandem at the N-terminus, followed by collagen triple helix (TH) domain, then two more VWA domains, a Fibronectin type-III (FN3-like) domain and a Kunitz domain. The N-terminal VWA domains make Col6A3 significantly larger than its counterparts the alpha-1 and -2 chains (3177 residues), and play a major role in cell adhesion by binding other extracellular matrix proteins [25]. In turn, this cell adhesion event drives the organizing of matrix components and muscle development.

Previous research has shown that homozygous truncating mutations before or within the triple helix (TH) domain is associated with the most severe collagen VI-related myopathies, while the moderate phenotypes are associated with heterozygous mutations resulting in skipping off part of TH domains or affecting the glycine residue of the Gly-X-Y domain [2]. Out of these, mutations affecting the conserved Gly-X-Y motif in the triple helix (TH) domain are the most commonly identified mutations in the collagen VI myopathies.

When analyzing genotype/phenotype correlations of 194 individuals with glycine substitutions in the TH domain of either of the *COL6A* genes, Butterfield et al. noted that in all three genes 89% of the mutations were clustered in the N-terminal region before the 17th Gly-X-Y triplet (TH17) [26]. In *COL6A3* this region contains cysteine residues that form disulfide bonds that stabilize tetramers.



Fig. 3. Modeling of the Col6a3 affected domain.

(A) The charge distribution of our Col6a3 c.2400–2600 model. Blue is + charged residues, red is – charged residues. Cyan, at top, is K2483. (B) Model of the c.2400–2600 domain of Col6a3. The green amino acid at the top of the molecule is K2483. It is noteworthy that the C-terminus, in red, likely does not point down but instead snakes its way up the side of the domain so that the C2 domain is oriented somewhere above this C1 domain.

While patients with mutations inside the region of Gly-X-Y triplets 10–15 tend to have a more severe phenotype than those with mutations outside this region, identical glycine substitutions have been associated with both severe and mild phenotypes [26]. The recessive mutations tend to occur in the C-terminal end of the TH domain.

In 2010 Brinas et al. described a compound heterozygous patient carrying c.7447A>G, (p.Lys2483Glu) and c.9384_9386 del (p.Trp3128Cys+p.Tyr3129del) mutations with reduced secretion and intracellular retention of COL6A3 in patients' fibroblasts, presenting with mild Bethlem myopathy phenotype [2].

Since then, there has been an accumulation of information concerning c.7447A>G, (p.Lys2483Glu) carriers in compound heterozygous and homozygous states. To the best of our knowledge, there was until now a total of at least 18 such carriers reported, though the number might vary due to a possible overlap of reports [2,12,15,16,27,28]. In cases where a detailed clinical description is available, all of them are presenting with similar disease course. To summarize the phenotype and the natural history of the disease for the seven cases in the current study, onset of the disease is early, with delay in the development of gross motor skills, like Bethlem myopathy. Course of the disease seems to be slowly progressive, with most of the patients having muscle weakness that is restricting only some strenuous activities, usually becoming noticeable in late adolescence or adult age. Contractures are mild and often only ankle joints are involved [12,15,16]. Nallamilli et al. reported c.7447A>G mutation in a heterozygous state in one of the patients with LGMD phenotype [27].

Fichna et al. reported compound heterozygote mutations p.Arg2142Ter*; p.Lys2483Glu in the *COL6A3* gene in a patient with limb-girdle weakness and preserved ambulation, with first symptoms presenting at the age of 14, CK level was elevated seven times [28].

The associated entry of c.7447A>G in ClinVar database has this mutation marked as a variant with conflicting interpretation of pathogenicity. It seems the most probable reason for this could be the fact that a male from European (non-Finnish) population, homozygous for the mutation, has been registered in the GnomAD database. GnomAD curators have made all efforts to remove all individuals known to be affected by severe pediatric disease. Our hypothesis being that the homozygous person included in the database, did not present severe symptoms at childhood, similar to the rest of our patients [24].

There have been several other genes described as having similar features, namely mutations in them being associated with more than one phenotype, for example, mutations in *POMGNT1, FKTN, POMT2, FKRP* and several others can cause both - a severe, even early lethal phenotype, but also a mild dystrophy [29–32]. Some of the mutations have been observed to exhibit tissue specificity, with symptoms related to only one organ, like isolated cardiomyopathy due to mutations in the *TTN* gene [33], or the *FKTN* gene [34]. Particularly interesting are the dominant mutations of the *ANO5* gene, causing gnathodiaphyseal dysplasia [35], whereas the recessive mutations cause LGMD symptoms. These data highlight the expanding range of variability, observed in phenotypic expression, that is moving beyond the gene-to-disease system and more towards the affected domain-to-

489

disease. Such a shift is making it more difficult for clinicians, trying to pinpoint the genetic cause of a disease, based on phenotypic traits, but also for classification matters, muddying the gene-to-phenotype association. This peculiarity arises from defects in different functional regions of the protein affecting completely different aspects of the protein function, and therefore manifesting as very distinctive phenotypic traits, often resembling defects in other genes.

Regarding EMG examinations in patients carrying the c.7447A>G, (p.Lys2483Glu) mutation in the COL6A3 gene, there are no specific findings-patients can have chronic motor neuropathy or fibrillations and positive sharp waves. The muscle biopsy, if not stained by ICH for the COL6 proteins, shows great variability, depending on the stage of disease, with the most common finding being fiber size variations, suggestive of myopathy and later muscular dystrophy. Creatine phosphokinase level is usually elevated from two to four times the normal. Currently muscle MRI has served as the most specific medical examination criteria, with pathognomonic fatty degeneration from peripheral to center of the rectus femoris and vastus lateralis with the typical diamond shape or tigroid pattern, despite its usefulness, muscle MRI is still not routinely used [1]. Our reported patients have MRI findings typical of the COL6 disease (Fig. 2).

Segregation analysis of family 1 showed that the disease is inherited in an autosomal recessive pattern, involving the c.7447A>G, (p.Lys2483Glu) mutation in the COL6A3 gene. We can always speculate that there could be another deep intronic mutation in COL6A genes, responsible for the Bethlem myopathy phenotype, classified by the characteristic pattern seen in muscle MRI. There is accumulating evidence that this rare variant c.7447A>G in a homozygous state can lead to a mild Bethlem myopathy and/or LGMD phenotype without respiratory involvement, however, for the patients with other mutations in a compound heterozygous state, the phenotype severity entirely depends on the second mutation. Looking at the available data, it can be seen that the patient described by Brinas et al., a compound heterozygous carrier for the c.[7447A>G]; [9384_9386 del] variants in the COL6A3 gene, had pulmonary involvement characterized by FVC borderline reduction to 78% at the age of 12. In this case no information is available regarding muscle weakness or contractures [2]. The second person with compound heterozygous genotype c.[5480delG]; [7447A>G] had grade 3/5 muscle weakness of hip abductors and abdominal muscles at the age of 12 [15]. In comparison proband 3, described in this paper, carrier of the c.7447A>G variant in a homozygous state, had muscle weakness of 4/5 in proximal muscle groups at the age of 44.

VWA domains in general give the protein the ability to bind other proteins, while the specific C1 and C2 domains (VWA 11 and VWA 12), affected in family 1, have been shown to be necessary for the assembly of monomers, which suggests that VWA domains interact with specific regions of other VWA domains, with C1 being sufficient for assembly. However lack of or mutations in C2 being associated with disease [17]. Furthermore it was reported already in 1998 by Pan et al. that missense mutation in a VWA domain can be associated with Bethlem myopathy [36]. Therefore, it is possible to hypothesize that a change in one of them might affect the binding potential and therefore modulate the phenotype, when present together with other mutations in the gene.

SAXS work by Beecher et al. suggest that collagen VI-a1, a2, and a3 form a heterotrimer, and this is held together by the VWA domains in the C-terminus of each molecule. It is thus tempting to speculate that p.Lys2438Glu mutation, which substitutes a basic residue for an acidic one, ablates a stabilizing electrostatic interaction and perturbs this heterotrimer. Such a molecular mechanism of action is broadly in line with the functional consequence of this mutation; weakened or misformed collagen VI fibers would affect skeletal muscle structural stability and regeneration.

Based on this, it might be possible to speculate that with premature termination of the protein produced from one of the chains and one of the VWA domains being affected on the other, the overall functions of the protein might be affected enough to lead to the myopathic phenotype observed in proband 1. It has been shown previously that mutations causing premature termination codons have a profound destabilizing effect on the corresponding transcripts, leading to degradation of transcripts harboring these mutations at the post-transcriptional level [2].

The phenotype-genotype correlation observed in family 1 allows us to conclude that the c.8074delT mutation, despite being seemingly more damaging, in a heterozygous form cannot cause symptoms on its own, confirming data described previously.

We would like to classify c.7447A>G, (p.Lys2483Glu) as a common pathogenic mutation, based on the reduced COL6 secretion and intracellular retention in a patient described by Brinas et al., association with phenotype described by Hunter et al. as well as Sframeli et al. and the typical muscle MRI associated with COL6 related myopathy, seen in our reported proband from family 1, as well as the patient reported by Oliveira et al. Homozygous carriers of c.7447A>G, (p.Lys2483Glu) mutation exhibit mild phenotype, described previously by Bonnemann as Collagen VI-related limb-girdle syndrome [1,12,15,16].

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by European Regional Development Fund (No. 1.1.1.1/18/A/097 "Functional and genetic research of rare unidentified neuromuscular disorders" to I.I.)

The MYO-SEQ project was supported by Sanofi Genzyme, Ultragenyx, LGMD21 Research Fund, Samantha J Brazzo Foundation, LGMD2D Foundation, Kurt+Peter Foundation, Muscular Dystrophy the UK and Coalition to Cure Calpain 3. Analysis performed by the Broad team was partially funded by the Center for Mendelian Genomics (UM1 HG008900) grant from the National Human Genome Research Institute. The funders of the study had no role in the study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

References

- Bönnemann CG. The collagen VI-related myopathies: muscle meets its matrix. Nat Rev Neurol 2011;7:379–90. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2011.81.
- [2] Briñas L, Richard P, Quijano-Roy S, Gartioux C, Ledeuil C, Lacène E, et al. Early onset collagen VI myopathies: genetic and clinical correlations. Ann Neurol 2010;68:511–20. doi:10.1002/ana.22087.
- [3] Zou Y, Zwolanek D, Izu Y, Gandhy S, Schreiber G, Brockmann K, et al. Recessive and dominant mutations in COL12A1 cause a novel EDS/myopathy overlap syndrome in humans and mice. Hum Mol Genet 2014;23:2339–52. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddt627.
- [4] Schmalbruch H, Kamieniecka Z, Fuglsang-Frederiksen A, Trojaborg W. Benign congenital muscular dystrophy with autosomal dominant heredity: problems of classification. J Neurol 1987;234:146–51.
- [5] Bethlem J, Wijngaarden GK. Benign myopathy, with autosomal dominant inheritance. A report on three pedigrees. Brain 1976;99:91–100.
- [6] Lampe AK, Bushby KMD. Collagen VI related muscle disorders. J Med Genet 2005;42:673–85. doi:10.1136/jmg.2002.002311.
- [7] Haq RU, Speer MC, Chu ML, Tandan R. Respiratory muscle involvement in Bethlem myopathy. Neurology 1999;52:174–6.
- [8] Merlini L, Angelin A, Tiepolo T, Braghetta P, Sabatelli P, Zamparelli A, et al. Cyclosporin A corrects mitochondrial dysfunction and muscle apoptosis in patients with collagen VI myopathies. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008;105:5225–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0800962105.
- [9] Okada M, Kawahara G, Noguchi S, Sugie K, Murayama K, Nonaka I, et al. Primary collagen VI deficiency is the second most common congenital muscular dystrophy in Japan. Neurology 2007;69:1035–42. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000271387.10404.4e.
- [10] Peat RA, Smith JM, Compton AG, Baker NL, Pace RA, Burkin DJ, et al. Diagnosis and etiology of congenital muscular dystrophy. Neurology 2008;71:312–21. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000284605.27654.5a.
- [11] Norwood FLM, Harling C, Chinnery PF, Eagle M, Bushby K, Straub V. Prevalence of genetic muscle disease in northern England: in-depth analysis of a muscle clinic population. Brain 2009;132:3175–86. doi:10. 1093/brain/awp236.
- [12] Sframeli M, Sarkozy A, Bertoli M, Astrea G, Hudson J, Scoto M, et al. Congenital muscular dystrophies in the UK population: clinical and molecular spectrum of a large cohort diagnosed over a 12-year period. Neuromuscul Disord 2017;27:793–803. doi:10.1016/J.NMD. 2017.06.008.
- [13] Gualandi F, Urciuolo A, Martoni E, Sabatelli P, Squarzoni S, Bovolenta M, et al. Autosomal recessive Bethlem myopathy. Neurology 2009;73:1883–91. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181c3fd2a.
- [14] Foley AR, Hu Y, Zou Y, Columbus A, Shoffner J, Dunn DM, et al. Autosomal recessive inheritance of classic Bethlem myopathy. Neuromuscul Disord 2009;19:813–17. doi:10.1016/j.nmd.2009.09.010.
- [15] Hunter JM, Ahearn ME, Balak CD, Liang WS, Kurdoglu A, Corneveaux JJ, et al. Novel pathogenic variants and genes for myopathies identified by whole exome sequencing. Mol Genet Genomic Med 2015;3:283–301. doi:10.1002/mgg3.142.
- [16] Panadés-de Oliveira L, Rodríguez-López C, Cantero Montenegro D, Marcos Toledano MDM, Fernández-Marmiesse A, Esteban Pérez J, et al. Bethlem myopathy: a series of 16 patients and description of seven new associated mutations. J Neurol 2019;266:934–41. doi:10. 1007/s00415-019-09217-z.
- [17] Bönnemann CG. The collagen VI-related myopathies Ullrich congenital muscular dystrophy and Bethlem myopathy. Handb Clin Neurol 2011;101:81–96. doi:10.1016/B978-0-08-045031-5.00005-0.
- [18] Engvall E, Hessle H, Klier G. Molecular assembly, secretion, and matrix deposition of type VI collagen. J Cell Biol 1986;102:703–10.
- [19] Kelley LA, Mezulis S, Yates CM, Wass MN, Sternberg MJE. The PHYRE2 web portal for protein modeling, prediction and analysis. Nat Protoc 2015;10:845–58. doi:10.1038/nprot.2015.053.

- [20] Stavusis J, Lace B, Schäfer J, Geist J, Inashkina I, Kidere D, et al. Novel mutations in *MYBPC1* are associated with myogenic tremor and mild myopathy. Ann Neurol 2019 ana.25494. doi:10.1002/ana.25494.
- [21] Kumar P, Henikoff S, Ng PC. Predicting the effects of coding nonsynonymous variants on protein function using the SIFT algorithm. Nat Protoc 2009;4:1073–81. doi:10.1038/nprot.2009.86.
- [22] Adzhubei IA, Schmidt S, Peshkin L, Ramensky VE, Gerasimova A, Bork P, et al. A method and server for predicting damaging missense mutations. Nat Methods 2010;7:248–9. doi:10.1038/nmeth0410-248.
- [23] Kircher M, Witten DM, Jain P, O'roak BJ, Cooper GM, Shendure J. A general framework for estimating the relative pathogenicity of human genetic variants. Nat Genet 2014;46:310–15. doi:10.1038/ng.2892.
- [24] Karczewski KJ, Francioli LC, Tiao G, Cummings BB, Alföldi J, Wang Q, et al. Variation across 141,456 human exomes and genomes reveals the spectrum of loss-of-function intolerance across human protein-coding genes. BioRxiv 2019:531210. doi:10.1101/531210.
- [25] O'Leary NA, Wright MW, Brister JR, Ciufo S, Haddad D, McVeigh R, et al. Reference sequence (RefSeq) database at NCBI: current status, taxonomic expansion, and functional annotation. Nucleic Acids Res 2016;44:D733–45. doi:10.1093/nar/gkv1189.
- [26] Butterfield RJ, Foley AR, Dastgir J, Asman S, Dunn DM, Zou Y, et al. Position of glycine substitutions in the triple helix of COL6A1, COL6A2, and COL6A3 is correlated with severity and mode of inheritance in collagen VI myopathies. Hum Mutat 2013;34:1558–67. doi:10.1002/humu.22429.
- [27] Nallamilli BRR, Chakravorty S, Kesari A, Tanner A, Ankala A, Schneider T, et al. Genetic landscape and novel disease mechanisms from a large LGMD cohort of 4656 patients. Ann Clin Transl Neurol 2018;5:1574–87. doi:10.1002/acn3.649.
- [28] Fichna JP, Macias A, Piechota M, Korostyński M, Potulska-Chromik A, Redowicz MJ, et al. Whole-exome sequencing identifies novel pathogenic mutations and putative phenotype-influencing variants in Polish limb-girdle muscular dystrophy patients. Hum Genomics 2018;12:34. doi:10.1186/s40246-018-0167-1.
- [29] Manzini MC, Tambunan DE, Hill RS, Yu TW, Maynard TM, Heinzen EL, et al. Exome sequencing and functional validation in zebrafish identify GTDC2 mutations as a cause of Walker-Warburg syndrome. Am J Hum Genet 2012;91:541–7. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2012. 07.009.
- [30] Godfrey C, Clement E, Mein R, Brockington M, Smith J, Talim B, et al. Refining genotype phenotype correlations in muscular dystrophies with defective glycosylation of dystroglycan. Brain 2007;130:2725–35. doi:10.1093/brain/awm212.
- [31] van Reeuwijk J, Janssen M, van den Elzen C, Beltran-Valero de Bernabé D, Sabatelli P, Merlini L, et al. POMT2 mutations cause alphadystroglycan hypoglycosylation and Walker-Warburg syndrome. J Med Genet 2005;42:907–12. doi:10.1136/jmg.2005.031963.
- [32] Brockington M, Blake DJ, Prandini P, Brown SC, Torelli S, Benson MA, et al. Mutations in the fukutin-related protein gene (FKRP) cause a form of congenital muscular dystrophy with secondary laminin alpha2 deficiency and abnormal glycosylation of alpha-dystroglycan. Am J Hum Genet 2001;69:1198–209. doi:10.1086/324412.
- [33] Gerull B, Gramlich M, Atherton J, McNabb M, Trombitás K, Sasse-Klaassen S, et al. Mutations of TTN, encoding the giant muscle filament titin, cause familial dilated cardiomyopathy. Nat Genet 2002;30:201–4. doi:10.1038/ng815.
- [34] Murakami T, Hayashi YK, Noguchi S, Ogawa M, Nonaka I, Tanabe Y, et al. Fukutin gene mutations cause dilated cardiomyopathy with minimal muscle weakness. Ann Neurol 2006;60:597–602. doi:10.1002/ ana.20973.
- [35] Marconi C, Brunamonti Binello P, Badiali G, Caci E, Cusano R, Garibaldi J, et al. A novel missense mutation in ano5/tmem16e is causative for gnathodiaphyseal dyplasia in a large Italian pedigree. Eur J Hum Genet 2013;21:613–19. doi:10.1038/ejhg.2012.224.
- [36] Pan TC, Zhang RZ, Pericak-Vance MA, Tandan R, Fries T, Stajich JM, et al. Missense mutation in a von Willebrand factor type a domain of the alpha 3(VI) collagen gene (COL6A3) in a family with Bethlem myopathy. Hum Mol Genet 1998;7:807–12.

3.4. Cases that are unique (Novel mutations in MYBPC1 are associated with myogenic tremor and mild myopathy)

Here we describe one of the project highlights, where searching for LGMDs, through collaboration with other specialized labs, by using the means of NGS, leads to the discovery of a previously undescribed and very rare disease phenotype, associated with a domain-specific variation in the *MYBPC1* gene. Variations in this gene previously were associated with a completely different phenotype. We describe this phenotype and provide initial thoughts on the possible molecular mechanism that is causing this unique phenotype - a mild myopathy accompanied by a myogenic tremor, now termed myotrem.



Novel Mutations in *MYBPC1* Are Associated With Myogenic Tremor and Mild Myopathy

Janis Stavusis, MSc ⁰, ¹* Baiba Lace, MD, PhD, ^{1,2*} Jochen Schäfer, MD, ^{3*}

Janelle Geist, BSc,⁴ Inna Inashkina, PhD,¹ Dita Kidere, MSc,¹

Sander Pajusalu, MD, PhD ¹⁰,^{5,6} Nathan T. Wright, PhD,⁷ Annika Saak, MD,³

Manja Weinhold, MD,³ Dietrich Haubenberger, MD,⁸ Sandra Jackson, PhD,^{3*}

Aikaterini Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos, PhD,^{4*} and Carsten G. Bönnemann, MD^{9*}

Objective: To define a distinct, dominantly inherited, mild skeletal myopathy associated with prominent and consistent tremor in two unrelated, three-generation families.

Methods: Clinical evaluations as well as exome and panel sequencing analyses were performed in affected and nonaffected members of two families to identify genetic variants segregating with the phenotype. Histological assessment of a muscle biopsy specimen was performed in 1 patient, and quantitative tremor analysis was carried out in 2 patients. Molecular modeling studies and biochemical assays were performed for both mutations. **Results:** Two novel missense mutations in *MYBPC1* (p.E248K in family 1 and p.Y247H in family 2) were identified

Results: Two novel missense mutations in *MYBPC1* (p.E248K in family 1 and p.Y247H in family 2) were identified and shown to segregate perfectly with the myopathy/tremor phenotype in the respective families. *MYBPC1* encodes slow myosin binding protein-C (sMyBP-C), a modular sarcomeric protein playing structural and regulatory roles through its dynamic interaction with actin and myosin filaments. The Y247H and E248K mutations are located in the NH₂-terminal M-motif of sMyBP-C. Both mutations result in markedly increased binding of the NH₂ terminus to myosin, possibly interfering with normal cross-bridge cycling as the first muscle-based step in tremor genesis. The clinical tremor features observed in all mutation carriers, together with the tremor physiology studies performed in family 2, suggest amplification by an additional central loop modulating the clinical tremor phenomenology.

Interpretation: Here, we link two novel missense mutations in *MYBPC1* with a dominant, mild skeletal myopathy invariably associated with a distinctive tremor. The molecular, genetic, and clinical studies are consistent with a unique sarcomeric origin of the tremor, which we classify as "myogenic tremor."

ANN NEUROL 2019;86:129-142

View this article online at wileyonlinelibrary.com. DOI: 10.1002/ana.25494

Received Sep 26, 2018, and in revised form Apr 23, 2019. Accepted for publication Apr 25, 2019.

Address correspondence to Dr Carsten G. Bönnemann, Neuromuscular and Neurogenetic Disorders of Childhood Section, Neurogenetics Branch, National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke, NIH, Porter Neuroscience Research Center Building 35, Room 2A-116. MSC 35 Convent Drive, Bethesda, MD 20892. E-mail: carsten.bonnemann@nih.gov; or Dr Aikaterini Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos, Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, 108 North Greene Street, Baltimore, MD 21201. E-mail: akontrogianni@som.umaryland.edu

*These authors contributed equally to the work.

From the ¹Latvian Biomedical Research and Study Centre, Riga, Latvia; ²Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Québec, Ville de Québec, QC, Canada; ³Department of Neurology–Uniklinikum CG Carus, Dresden, Germany; ⁴Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD; ⁵Department of Clinical Genetics, United Laboratories, Tartu University Hospital, Tartu, Estonia; ⁶Department of Clinical Genetics, Institute of Clinical Medicine, Tartu University, Tartu, Estonia; ⁷Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, James Madison University, Harrisonburg, VA; ⁸Clinical Trials Unit, Office of the Clinical Director, NINDS Intramural Research Program, National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke, NIH, Bethesda, MD; and ⁹Neuromuscular and Neurogenetic Disorders of Childhood Section, Neurogenetics Branch, National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke, NIH, Bethesda, MD

Additional supporting information can be found in the online version of this article.

© 2019 American Neurological Association 129

utations in genes that encode sarcomere-associated proteins underlie an increasingly diverse and growing number of skeletal and cardiac myopathies. Skeletal sarcomeric myopathies encompass histological manifestations ranging from rods and hyaline bodies to various fiber-type disproportion patterns.¹ Remarkably, different mutations in the same sarcomeric protein can lead to strikingly distinct clinical manifestations, ranging from congenital to late onset, and resulting in either muscle weakness or stiffness. These physical symptoms are derived from the molecular repercussions of specific mutations, such as changes in calcium sensitivity or target binding. In addition to mutations causing weakness in conjunction with congenital myopathy, stiffness-inducing mutations have also been described in TPM2, TPM3, and ACTA1.² In some cases, patients may present with multiple congenital joint contractures (arthrogryposis multiplex) as a result of prenatal restriction of joint movements.³ This diversity in disease manifestation underscores the central role of the sarcomere in muscle function and disease. It also highlights that different mutations in sarcomeric proteins may have highly variable pathophysiological consequences, indicating the importance of elucidating their individual molecular pathogenesis.

Myosin binding protein-C (MyBP-C) comprises a family of sarcomeric accessory proteins and includes three isoforms: cardiac (c), fast skeletal (f), and slow skeletal (s).⁴ The major roles attributed to the MyBP-C family are stabilization of thick filaments and regulation of cross-bridge cycling.^{5–7} Slow myosin binding protein-C (sMyBP-C) is encoded by *MYBPC1*, located on chromosome 12 in humans.⁸ Alternatively spliced transcripts of the gene give rise to a subfamily of at least 14 variants regulated by phosphorylation, which are co-expressed in different combinations and amounts in both slow- and fasttwitch muscles.^{6,9–12}

sMyBP-C is a modular protein composed of immunoglobulin (Ig) and fibronectin-III (Fn-III) repeats, numbered C1 to C10. The NH₂-terminal Ig, C1, is flanked by unique sequences, the Pro/Ala–rich motif and a MyBP-C specific motif, termed M-motif (Fig 1A).^{6,13} The NH₂ terminus of sMyBP-C, including the Pro/Ala–rich motif, C1, and the M-motif, supports binding to actin and myosin subfragment-2 (S2) in a variant-specific manner,¹⁴ whereas the COOHterminal Ig, C10, binds directly to light meromyosin (LMM), and this interaction is further enhanced by the presence of Ig C8 and Fn-III C9.^{15,16} In addition to binding LMM, the COOH terminus of sMyBP-C supports binding to titin, obscurin, four and a half LIM domains 1 (FHL1) protein, and creatine kinase.^{16–19}

Earlier reports have linked mutations in *MYBPC1* to development of severe and lethal forms of distal arthrogryposis. (DA).^{20–22} Here, we report on a distinct clinical phenotype in two independent, three-generation families, manifesting as

mild myopathy invariably associated with a persistent, posturally pronounced, high-frequency tremor in all affected individuals that segregates with novel, dominant, missense mutations in *MYBPC1* in each family. We provide pathophysiological insights into this tremor by showing that altered myofilament binding of mutant sMyBP-C appears to be the basis of what we refer to as myogenic tremor. A comprehensive literature search revealed that unexplained tremor associated with myopathy is an overlooked feature of diseases involving mutations in genes encoding sarcomeric proteins.

Materials and Methods

Patients and Clinical Evaluation

Examination of family 1 from Latvia was performed under a protocol approved by the Central Medical Ethics Committee of Latvia, and all subjects and/or their parents have given informed consent. The variant, NM_002465.3:c.742G>A p.(E248K), has been submitted to the ClinVar database. Clinical evaluation of patients was performed by a clinical geneticist and a neurologist. Genetic studies in individuals from family 2 from Germany were performed with informed consent, in accord with the Human Genetic Examination Act (Genetic Diagnosis Act-GenDG).

Quantitative Tremor Analysis

Quantitative tremor analysis was performed in subjects III-2 and IV-1 from family 2 using a Dantec Keypoint Workstation (Natus Medical Inc., Pleasanton, CA). Briefly, accelerometers were attached to the dorsum of the hands, and electromyography (EMG) of forearm flexor and extensor muscles was recorded by surface electrodes fixed to the extensor carpi ulnaris and flexor carpi ulnaris muscles, respectively. Power spectra of the accelerometry and EMG data were calculated by fast Fourier transformation of tremor amplitude and frequency time-series recordings.²³ Tremor analysis was performed at rest and during posture with outstretched hands, both unloaded and with a weight of 500g.

Sequencing

Family 1. Exome sequencing of 4 members of family 1 from Latvia (Fig 1B) was performed using the Illumina HiSeq 2500 platform (Illumina, San Diego, CA) and the Nextera Rapid Capture Expanded Exome kit (Illumina) for best variant segregation. Raw sequencing reads were aligned and subsequently processed according to Genome Analysis Toolkit's (GATK) best practice guidelines using BWA-MEM, Picardtools, and GATK. Variants were called by GATK Haplotype Caller and then annotated using Annovar. A step-wise approach of filtering was used on the obtained data. Only rare (below 1% in all reference databases, including ExAC, 1000 Genomes, ESP6500, and an in-house next-generation sequencing database from Tartu University Hospital) nonsilent variations in autosomal coding regions and splice sites were considered for further analysis. Pathogenicity of variants was evaluated using several in-silico prognostic tools,

Volume 86, No. 1



FIGURE 1: Identification of two novel missense mutations in *MYBPC1* underlying the development of skeletal myopathy with tremor. (A) Schematic representation of the structure of sMyBP-C. Dark and light gray horizontal lines correspond to the Pro/Ala-rich region and the M-motif, respectively, whereas vertical colored lines in the NH₂ terminus, domain C7, and the extreme COOH terminus represent alternatively spliced segments. Green and blue rectangles denote immunoglobulin (Ig) and fibronectin-III (Fn-III) domains, respectively. The two novel *MYBPC1* human mutations, Y247H and E248K, and their location in the sMyBP-C M-motif are indicated. (B) Pedigree of family 1 and sequence chromatograms showing the c.742G>A, p.(E248K) mutation in affected individuals II-3, III-3, and III-5 after exome sequencing and the wild-type sequence in the II-2 unaffected individuals III-2, IV-1, and V-1 and wild-type sequence at this position in an unaffected individual (II-3). For both pedigrees, black and white symbols indicate affected and unaffected individuals, respectively, whereas index patients are denoted with arrows.

including PolyPhen2, Mutation Taster, SIFT, and Combined Annotation Dependent Depletion (CADD). Notably, during our analysis, we also evaluated close to 100 previously identified myopathic genes as potential candidates, but they were found to be negative.

Variation validation as well as segregation analysis were performed with nested polymerase chain reaction (PCR; initial synthesis primer set: 5'TCTGGGCTTCAAGTACTCAGG3' and 5'CTCACCTGCGCTCTTCTTCT3', and Sanger sequencing primer set: 5'TACCTCGACCTTCGTGGTGT3' and 5'GCTTGAGTCGCTTGAGCAT3') using HOT FIREPol polymerase (Solis Biodyne, Tartu, Estonia). In addition to the previously mentioned 4 members, samples from 6 additional family members were used for mutation

ANNALS of Neurology

testing and extended segregation analysis. Amplicons were sequenced with an ABI Prism 3130XL (Applied Biosystems, Waltham, MA) using the BigDye Terminator Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems). Sequencing data were analyzed using CLC MainWorkbench (CLCbio, Aarhus, Denmark). Ninety DNA samples from control subjects taken from the Latvian National Genome database were also directly sequenced for presence of the *MYBPC1* E248K mutation.

Family 2. Panel sequencing, using a panel specifically for distal and congenital myopathies, was performed in DNA obtained from the proband III-2 of family 2 from Germany. Confirmation of the observed sequence change in MYBPC1 was performed by PCR amplification of the affected exon followed by Sanger sequencing in the forward and reverse direction using the BigDye terminator (v1.1) cycle sequencing kit from Applied Biosystems. DNA isolated from clinically affected and unaffected family members was also screened for the sequence change identified in subject III-2 using the same method.

Immunohistochemistry

A biopsy was obtained from the deltoid muscle of the index patient (III-2) from family 2, and histochemical staining (hematoxylin and eosin, cytochrome C oxidase, Gomori, van Gieson, NADH dehydrogenase, ATPase 9.4, PAS, and oil-red O) was performed using standard procedures.

Generation and Purification of Recombinant Wild-Type and Mutant Proteins

For overlay assays, human skeletal muscle complementary DNA was used with sense (5'ATGCCAGAACCCACT3') and antisense (5'TCAATCAAGAATTTTTGC3') oligonucleotides to amplify the NH2-terminal region of sMyBP-C that contained the Pro/Ala-rich motif, Ig domain C1, and the M-motif (amino acids 1-284, XP_006719468.1). The PCR fragment was subcloned into the pGex4T-1 (Amersham Pharmacia, Piscataway, NJ) vector at EcoRI/ XhoI sites to generate a GST-fusion protein. The Y247H mutation was introduced into the resulting plasmid with the following set of primers: sense (5'GCCAAGCCAGCGAGCACGAGAAGATCG CCTTC) and antisense (5'GAAGGCGATCTTCTCGTGCTCG CTGGGCTTGGC3'), and the E248K mutation was similarly introduced using the primer set: sense (5'AAGCCCAGCGAGTAC AAGAAGATCGCCTTCCAG3') and antisense (5'CTGGAAGGC GATCTTCTTGTACTCGCTGGGCTT3'). Authenticity of the wild-type and mutant constructs was verified by sequence analysis. Recombinant polypeptides were expressed by induction with 1mM isopropyl-\beta-thioglycopyranoside (IPTG) overnight at 22°C and purified by affinity chromatography on glutathione-agarose columns, according to the manufacturer's instructions (MilliporeSigma, Bedford, MA).

For circular dichroism experiments, the following set of sense (5'ACTGGAATTCATGCAGGAGGAGGAGCACC) and antisense (5'ACTGCTCGAGTCACTTCTTCTCCTCCCCT) primers was used to amplify the M-motif region of wild-type sMyBP-C. The PCR fragment was subcloned into the pET30a+ vector (MilliporeSigma) at *Eco*RI/*Xhol* sites to generate a histidine-tagged fusion protein. The Y247H and E248K mutations were introduced in the wild-type construct using the same primers listed above. Authenticity of the wild-type and mutant constructs was verified by sequence analysis. Recombinant polypeptides were expressed in BL21(DE3) cells (MilliporeSigma) by induction with 1mM IPTG overnight at 22°C and purified by affinity chromatography on Ni-NTA-agarose columns (MilliporeSigma), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Overlay Assay and Immunoblotting

Heavy meromyosin (HMM) and actin purified from skeletal muscle were purchased from Cytoskeleton (Heavy meromyosin Cat. #MH01-A, Actin Cat. #AKL99-A; Cytoskeleton, Inc., Denver, CO). Equivalent amounts (3µg) of purified actin and HMM were separated by 4% to 12% sodium dodecyl sulfate/polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and transferred electrophoretically to nitrocellulose. Equivalent loading and transfer were confirmed by staining the nitrocellulose membrane with Ponceau red. Blots were incubated in buffer A (50mM KCl, 20mM MOPS, 4mM MgCl₂, 0.1mM EGTA, 2mM DTT, 3% BSA, 10mM NaN3, 0.5% Tween-20, and 0.5% Nonidet P-40) for 8 hours at room temperature, followed by incubation with buffer A containing 0.5µg/ml of the indicated glutathione S-transferase (GST)-fusion proteins overnight at 4°C. Blots were washed extensively with buffer A, followed by PBS, blocked in 5% milk, and subsequently probed with antibodies to GST (1:10,000; Novagen, Billerica, MA), as described in a previous work.²⁴ Immunoreactive bands were detected with the Tropix Chemiluminescence kit (Applied Biosystems). These experiments were repeated at least three independent times, and quantification of immunoreactive bands was performed using densitometric analysis and ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD). Statistical significance was evaluated with a t test, p < 0.05.

Modeling of sMyBP-C/Myosin Interaction

Models of the M-motif of sMyB-C were generated using Phyre2, RaptorX, and iTASSER, based on the human cardiac version of this domain (PBD: 2LH4; 80% identical to sMyBP-C).^{25–27} The model was then allowed to equilibrate using the computer program YASARA for ~90ns, as previously described.^{28,29} Individual mutations were introduced to the model by the "swap" command in YASARA, and the resulting models were allowed to equilibrate for ~100ns.

Docking of wild-type and mutant sMyBP-C to myosin was performed using equilibrated sMyBP-C models and the S2 fragment of myosin (PDB: 2FXO) with the HADDOCK program.³⁰ The best models, as judged by low z-scores and low root mean square deviation, were then further refined for ~30ns.

Circular Dichroism

Circular dichroism experiments were conducted in a 1-mm pathlength cuvette with wild-type and mutant His-tagged proteins of 15 to 17μ M in 20mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.5) and 50mM NaCl. Samples were measured in triplicate at temperatures from 20°C to 90°C in 10°C intervals on a Jasco J-810 spectrophotometer.

Stavusis et al: MYBPC1 Mutations in Myopathy With Tremor

Results

Family 1 was ascertained in Latvia by examination of a 30-year-old male (Fig 1B; proband III-5) who presented with muscle weakness and skeletal deformities (Figs 1B and 2A; Supplementary Table 1). The patient had hypotonia and a postural hand tremor since infancy, followed by a delay in gross motor milestone acquisition, with independent walking achieved at 2 years of age. His cognitive functions were normal, and his intellectual development was age appropriate. In early adolescence, symptoms became more noticeable, and the patient developed scoliosis and thoracic asymmetry. Since then, the disease has reached a phase of stability without further deterioration in strength, although the patient reported frequent respiratory infections. Current clinical findings include a high-frequency irregular tremor that is accentuated by posture, most noticeable in the hands (Supplementary Video 1) and, to a lesser extent, in the legs. In addition, the patient presents mild axial muscle weakness, predominantly

proximal appendicular weakness, scoliosis with thoracic/ sternal deformity, and rigidity of the spine (Fig 2A). Examination of additional family members identified 3 individuals with similar clinical manifestations from three generations, including the index patient's mother, brother, and daughter (Figs 1B and 2A). All 4 affected family members display a similar, predominantly postural, irregular, high-frequency, low-amplitude tremor (Supplementary Video 2).

EMG performed in the proband revealed myopathic changes that were most pronounced in the arms. The family did not consent to a muscle biopsy.

To identify disease-associated genetic variants in this family, whole-exome sequencing analysis was performed on 3 of the affected members and 1 unaffected member, revealing the presence of a single, novel heterozygous variation in the *MYBPC1* gene c.742G>A, p.(E248K) segregating in all 3 affected individuals, but not in the unaffected individual. Directed Sanger sequencing of DNA obtained from additional





Proband (III-2)

Proband (III-2)

Proband (III-2)

Proband (III-2)

FIGURE 2: Phenotypic traits of individuals carrying the Y247H and E248K MYBPC1 mutations. (A) Photographs of proband (III-5) and his brother (III-3) from family 1, who carry the E248K mutation, indicating the presence of thoracic and sternum deformities, scoliosis, and elbow contractures. (B) Photographs of the index patient (III-2) from family 2, who harbors the Y247H mutation, showing high arched palate, joint hypermobility, contracture of the ankle joint, and histochemical staining (ATPase, pH 9.4) of a biopsy from the deltoid muscle from III-2 showing type 1 fiber predominance (light fibers are type 1, dark fibers are type 2).

July 2019



Frequency (Hz)

FIGURE 3: Power spectral tremor analysis of individuals III-2 (A–C) and IV-1 (D–F) from family 2 at rest (A,D), with outstretched hands (B,E), and outstretched and loaded hands (C,F). Top panels in (A) to (F) show the electromyography (EMG) in the extensor muscles, the middle panels show the EMG in the flexor muscles, and the lower panels show the accelerometry recordings. At rest, there is no tremor (A,D); with outstretched hands (B,E), and with loaded hands (C,F), there is a tremor peak at 10 to 11Hz in the left hand of both patients, synchronous in the EMG and accelerometry. In the right hand of patient III-2, there is a low-amplitude peak of 13Hz with corresponding EMG peaks, both with unloaded (B) and loaded (C) hands, whereas no clear peak could be identified with loading in the right hand of patient IV-1 (F). Dual-channel EMG shows lack of intermuscular tremor synchronicity in patient IV-1 between the left and right leg (G), but retained synchronicity within the same leg (H). In panels (A) to (F), the multiple thin individual traces correspond to single measurements, whereas the thick line represents the best fit; please note that the red arrowheads were randomly added by the software. In panels (G) and (H), the subdivisions correspond to 100ms.

Volume 86, No. 1



unaffected family members as well as of 90 Latvian control samples confirmed that the variant was confined to the 3 symptomatic family members (Fig 1B).

The index patient from family 2, a 50-year-old female (Fig 1C; proband III-2), was first diagnosed at age 46 with a history of slowly progressive, proximal, and axial weakness and myalgia since childhood (Fig 1C; Supplementary Table 1). Moreover, the patient reported myalgia and cramping in the calves at night or following strenuous exercise as well as immediate postural and tongue tremor following muscle exertion and prolonged tongue protrusion. Her symptoms have remained stable since her teenage years until the present, and activities of daily living are only mildly affected with minimal impairment (Supplementary Video 3). On examination, there was mild facial dysmorphia with micrognathia, prominent nasolabial folds, microstomia with pouting lips, and a higharched palate (Fig 2B; Supplementary Table 1; Supplementary Video 3), in addition to mild facial myopathy with bilateral ptosis (left > right; Supplementary Table 1). Mild, symmetrical weakness (proximal > distal) of the arms and legs, marked axial muscle weakness and atrophy, abdominal muscle weakness, calf pseudohypertrophy, and mild bilateral scapular winging were also noted. The patient had mild axial and appendicular weakness and atrophy (proximal > distal), as well as mild weakness of foot dorsiflexion resulting in stepping gait (Supplementary Table 1). There were no cardiac or ocular symptoms, and hearing was intact.

July 2019

EMG showed a myopathic pattern without spontaneous activity and a high-frequency postural tremor (10Hz) in the arms and hands. Nerve conduction studies excluded a neuropathy. Histopathological examination of a muscle biopsy obtained from the deltoid muscle revealed mild myopathic changes with NADH and ATPase stains revealing a marked preponderance of type 1 fibers, which, in general, appeared smaller than the few type 2 fibers (Fig 2B).

Examination of additional family members revealed the son (IV-1) and the granddaughter (V-1) of the index patient to be similarly affected, with mild axial and proximal weakness, high- arched palate, and a similar highfrequency, postural hand tremor (Supplementary Table 1; Supplementary Video 3). In all affected adult members, the clinical symptoms progressed slowly until the teen years and then reached a plateau. Patient V-2, a 6-month-old boy, has proximal muscle weakness with poor head control, and the family reported witnessing a hand tremor in this child as well. Power spectral tremor analysis performed in individuals III-2 and IV-1 from family 2 showed no resting tremor (Fig 3A,D). However, with outstretched hands, a narrow frequency peak in the 10 to 11 Hz range was noted by accelerometry in the left hand of both patients with a corresponding EMG peak of flexor and extensor forearm muscles (Fig 3B,E). Recordings with loaded hands showed identical accelerometric peak frequencies compared with the unloaded recording, again with synchronous EMG spectral peaks at 10 Hz (Fig 3C,F). In the

135



FIGURE 4: Examination of the effects of the Y247H and E248K mutations on the ability of the NH₂ terminus of sMyBP-C to bind actin and myosin in vitro. (A) Coomassie blue-stained gel showing equivalent amounts (1.5μ g) of control glutathione *S*-transferase (GST), wild-type GST-P/A-C1-M, or mutant GST-P/A-C1-M proteins used in the overlay assays. Full-length GST-P/A-C1-M recombinant proteins (~58kDa) are denoted with an arrowhead; a degradation product at ~50kDa is present in all three protein preparations. (B) Equivalent amounts (3μ g) of purified heavy meromyosin (HMM) or actin were separated by SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and overlaid with 0.5µg/ml of control GST protein, wild-type GST-P/A-C1-M, or mutant GST-P/A-C1-M carrying the Y247H or E248K mutation. Nitrocellulose membranes (Ponceau stain) and films (western blots probed with GST-ab) were cropped to only include the area of expected signal. (C) Quantification of immunoblots following the overlay assays indicated that both mutant proteins exhibit significantly increased binding to HMM (~2-fold for Y247H and ~3.5-fold for E248K) compared to wild-type protein (n = at least three independent repeats; t test; *p < 0.04 and *p < 0.015, respectively); control GST protein did not bind to either myosin or actin. GST-ab = glutathione *S*-transferase antibody; SDS-PAGE = sodium dodecyl sulfate/polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis.

right hand of patient IV-1, only a low-amplitude peak (10Hz) was noted with outstretched hands (Fig 3E), but no discernable peak, neither by accelerometry nor in the EMG, could be identified with loaded hands (Fig 3F). This corresponds with the clinical findings (Supplementary Video 3), where the right-sided tremor appeared less prominent and more irregular, thus preventing adequate Fourier analysis. In the right hand of patient III-2, a low-amplitude peak of 13Hz with corresponding EMG peaks of the same frequency was identified, both with unloaded and loaded hands (Fig 3B,C). This constellation of findings essentially excludes the mechanical reflex components of both physiological and enhanced physiological tremor, which are characterized by peripheral limb oscillations with reduction of accelerometric and EMG tremor frequencies after weight loading.³¹ Instead, the stability of frequency during loading as observed in our patients would typically be compatible with a centrally mediated component to this tremor. The existence

of different tremor frequencies between both arms in patient III-2 (Fig 3B,C) implies multiple tremor pacemakers; this is corroborated by dual-channel EMG recordings in patient IV-1, which showed lack of intermuscular tremor synchronicity between both legs (Fig 3G), but retained synchronicity within the same leg (Fig 3H).

Next-generation sequencing was performed on a multigene panel, revealing a single, novel, heterozygous c.739T>C p.(Tyr247His) sequence change in the *MYBPC1* gene. This sequence change was identified in all affected individuals (III-2, IV-1, V-1, and V-2), but was not found in any of the unaffected individuals tested for the mutation (Fig 1C).

Neither sequence change (p.E248K or p.Y247H) is listed in the NHLBI ESP Exome Variant Server (-13,005 alleles; http://evs.gs.washington.edu/EVS/), the 1000 Genomes server (http://browser.1000genomes.org), or the Exome Aggregation Consortium (ExAC) and Genome Aggregation Database (gnomAD) reference databases, nor were they listed in the



FIGURE 5: Modeling of the sMyBP-C M-motif and effects of the Y247H and E248K mutations. (A) The NH₂-terminal half of the M-motif of sMyBP-C (residues 186–233) is predicted to be partially disordered, whereas the COOH terminus (residues 234–268) folds into a well-ordered three-helix bundle, based on cardiac MyBP-C (80% identical; 92% similar for the M-motif; PDB: 2LHU).⁵⁹ (B) Structure prediction programs and molecular dynamics (MD) simulations show this three-helix bundle to be stable, with similar structures for the mutants (wild type in green; Y247H in magenta; E248K in cyan). (C) The M-motif is highly charged, with extensive positive charges (colored in blue) on one side of the structure. Mutations are expected to further increase this concentration of positive charges by replacing a negative charge for a positive charge at the E248 position (pink) or adding a protonatable imidazole ring at the Y247 position (yellow). (D) These MD simulations agree with experimental circular dichroism data, which show the wild-type and mutant domains to be predominantly helical over a wide temperature range (wild type in green, Y247H in magenta, E248K in cyan; inset shows representative CD spectra over a 20°C-90°C temperature range).

ClinVar or HGMD databases of known pathogenic variations preceding our submission of the variants, or in our in-house database of 90 Latvian samples.^{32–34} Multiple computational tools, including SIFT (http://sift.jcvi.org), PolyPhen2 (http:// genetics.bwh.harvard.edu/pph2), Panther-PSEP (http://pan therdb.org/tools/csnpScoreForm.jsp), PaPI (http://papi.unipv. it/help.xhtml), PhDSNP (http://snps.biofold.org/phd-snp/phdsnp.html), SNP&GO (http://snps-and-go.biocomp.unibo. it/snps-and-go), and MutationTaster, supported the deleterious effects of both mutations on the protein, in addition to high phred-scaled CADD scores of 36 for the E248K mutation and 25 for the Y247H mutation.^{35–38}

The Y247H and E248K mutations are located next to each other in the unique M-motif of sMyBP-C, which is constitutively expressed in all splice variants. Notably, the M-motif, along with the Pro/Ala–rich motif and Ig C1, support the direct interaction of sMyBP-C with actin and myosin S2 and modulate the formation of actomyosin cross-bridges in the forcegenerating cycle.⁹ To assess the effects of the individual mutations on the ability of the NH₂ terminus of sMyBP-C to directly bind actin or myosin, we performed blot overlay assays. To this end, we generated GST-tagged recombinant proteins containing the NH₂-terminal Pro/Ala–rich motif, Ig C1 and the M-motif (Pro/Ala–C1-M) in the absence and presence of the Y247H or the E248K mutation (Fig 4A), which we tested for their ability to bind actin or HMM immobilized on nitrocellulose membrane. We observed that both mutant proteins exhibited significantly increased binding to HMM (~2-fold for Y247H and ~3.5-fold for E248K) compared to wild-type protein (Fig 4 B,C). Binding to actin appeared slightly increased for both mutations, too; however, this increase in binding did not reach statistical significance (Fig 4 B,C).

We next asked what molecular changes underlie the increased binding of the mutant sMyBP-C proteins to HMM, as compared to wild type. Whereas there is no high-resolution structure of the sMyBP-C M-motif available, the cardiac iso-form (80% identical) has been studied extensively.³⁹ Much of the cardiac M-motif is highly dynamic, but a ~35-residue region (amino acids 233–268) folds into a stable three-helix



FIGURE 6: Computational modeling supports increased binding to myosin with the Y247H and E248K mutations. (A) Docking and molecular dynamics (MD) simulations predict that the folded M-motif region can bind and form stable interactions with human S2 myosin in two locations, centering around residues 898 and 931 (boxed in red; PDB: 2FXO).⁶⁰ (B) One of these potential binding sites, around residue 931, forms multiple charge-charge interactions with the M-motif of MyBP-C. Both the Y247H and E248K mutations (shown as red spheres) are within the binding interface and add extra positive charges to stabilize this complex.

bundle (Fig 5A). Using this structure as a template, we modeled the wild-type and mutant sMyBP-C M-motif and found that neither mutation significantly changed the overall domain fold (Fig 5B). Further analysis of these models showed that one face of the three-helix bundle is enriched in positive charges and both mutation sites expand this basic patch (Fig 5C). Circular dichroism spectra of sMyBP-C confirm that this section of the M-domain is mainly helical, and that the mutations show a similar, predominantly helical structure in agreement with our molecular dynamics (MD) simulations (Fig 5D).

Given the charge distribution and location of the mutations, we reasoned that the M-motif likely binds myosin using this basic side of the three-helix domain (Fig 5C). With this information, we docked this face of wild-type and both mutant models to acidic patches on the myosin S2 domain using HADDOCK. Of the four large acidic regions of S2 (Fig 6A, black and red boxes), productive interactions were successfully modeled for the two middle sites (Fig 5A, red boxes). Further MD analysis on these two sites suggested that the more NH₂-terminal site, centering around myosin residue 898, moves extensively and is not well defined. In contrast, the more COOH-terminal site, surrounding residue 931, produces a stable complex, driven mostly through electrostatic interactions (Fig 6B). Both the Y247H and E248K mutated sites (Fig 6B, spheres) are proximal to this putative binding interface, and both mutant complexes increase the potential number of favorable electrostatic interactions with



FIGURE 7: Examination of sMyBP-C expression in brain and spinal cord. Western blot analysis of protein lysates (20μ g) prepared from mouse *extensor digitorum longus* (EDL) muscle, brain, or spinal cord. sMyBP-C is abundantly expressed in EDL muscle lysates, but is absent from all brain parts tested and the spinal cord. GAPDH = glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase.

Volume 86, No. 1

138

myosin. Thus, this model agrees well with our blot overlay data, presents a reasonable binding site on myosin for sMyBP-C, and provides a molecular rationale for why the sMyBP-C Y247H and E248K mutants bind more tightly to myosin. We surmise that this tighter binding to myosin interferes with normal cross-bridge kinetics and serves as the primary generator of the tremor, which, with subsequent central transformation, results in the clinical phenomenology observed in the patients.

Discussion

In this study, we describe the clinical, genetic, and molecular findings in two unrelated, three-generation families, each of which harbors a different novel sequence change in MYBPC1 resulting in a mild skeletal myopathy with marked, unexplained tremor as the most distinguishing feature. Mild dysmorphic features were noted in some affected members of both families. Based on the familial segregation, absence from the general population, in-silico assessment, and increased target binding conferred by the substituted amino acids, the c.739T>C p.(Y247H) and c.742G>A p.(E248K) mutations can be classified as pathogenic according to American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics guidelines.⁴⁰ Notably, a de-novo mutation in MYBPC1, c.885T>G p.Leu295Arg, has been identified in a calf with weakness, stiffness, and muscle tremor.⁴¹ The c.885T>G p.Leu295Arg mutation also resides in the M-motif of bovine MYBPC1 and corresponds to amino acid p.Leu263Arg in exon 11 of the human gene, the same exon affected in our families.

All affected individuals from both families presented with early-onset, mild, predominantly axial muscle weakness, contractures, and tremor of high frequency and irregular amplitude, primarily affecting the hands. Tremor was also noted, but to a lesser extent in the legs of some affected members of family 1 and family 2, and in the tongue of all affected members of family 2. Clinically, the tremor was elicited by muscle usage, such as in assuming postures and/or activity. It is of note that presence of the tremor permitted identification of a newborn child in family 2 as clinically affected even before the development of myopathy. Weakness and tremor progressed slowly during childhood until adolescent years, followed by stability at a moderate level of disabilities, preserving ambulation. An increased susceptibility for prolonged respiratory infections was reported by several affected members of family 1.

The joint contractures of the feet and/or elbows in all affected adults were not present at birth, but developed over the course of the disease and remained mild, and thus differ from the congenital distal contractures characteristic of *MYBPC1* mutations associated with DA in both time of onset and severity. A muscle biopsy in the index patient from family 2 revealed type 1 fiber predominance with some smallness of type 1 fibers. This is a fairly nonspecific histological finding observed in a number of congenital myopathies, including those resulting from mutations in sarcomeric proteins. It is of interest, though, that muscle biopsies from DA1 patients have also shown type 1 fiber atrophy consistent with fiber-type disproportion.²⁰

The E248K mutation results in substitution of a negatively charged amino acid (glutamic acid, E) by a positively charged one (lysine, K). This change would be predicted to affect the electrostatic interactions mediated by E248K, which, in turn, could alter the binding affinity of mutant sMyBP-C to myosin and actin. Similarly, the Y247H mutation results in substitution of an amino acid with a hydrophobic side chain (tyrosine, Y) by an amino acid with a potentially protonatable imidazole ring (histidine, H), again possibly altering the binding affinity of mutant sMyBP-C to myosin and actin, although likely to a lesser extent. Consistent with this notion, our invitro binding assays indicated that both mutations result in markedly increased binding of the NH2 terminus of the corresponding mutant, sMyBP-C, to the HMM portion of myosin, with the E248K mutation eliciting a morepronounced effect. Molecular simulations of sMyBP-C binding to myosin are consistent with the notion of altered binding activity as a result of the mutations. Given that sMyBP-C functions as a regulator of cross-bridge formation, it will now be crucial to understand what exactly the consequences of the enhanced binding of mutant sMyBP-C to myosin would be on cross-bridge formation and cycling and on myosin ATPase activity. This will require further sophisticated biochemical and biophysical investigation along with the generation of the appropriate animal models.

The most distinctive aspect of this new phenotype associated with specific MYBPC1 mutations is the obligatory tremor in all mutation carriers, which also appeared to be a prominent feature of the spontaneous animal model of the disease.⁴¹ Detailed clinical tremor analysis, including physiological studies, in two patients from family 2 argued against both physiological and enhanced physiological tremor generated by mechanical reflex oscillations, although up to 10% of controls and of individuals with enhanced physiological tremor may show a weight-invariant tremor frequency. The lack of tremor frequency change after weight loading would typically be considered to be compatible with a central pacemaker at the origin of the tremor. However, given that the tremor perfectly segregated with the mutation in the two families so that the mutant sMyBP-C could be inferred as the cause of the tremor, and given that sMyBP-C is not expressed in the central nervous system or in peripheral nerves (Fig 7 and The Human Protein Atlas), it is unlikely that the originator or primary pacemaker of the tremor is located centrally.

Considering the subcellular location of *MYBPC1* and based on our molecular and biochemical results, we postulate

ANNALS of Neurology

that the tremor-initiating event is located at the level of the sarcomere, which then, through a central loop, leads to synchronization and oscillation of the effector muscles resulting in the clinically visible and recordable tremor characteristics. This is not unlike the hypothesis put forward for tremor generation in Charcot-Marie-Tooth (CMT) disease, where weight-invariant postural tremors may be present.⁴² However, even though peripheral, in CMT disease the initial generator does not originate from the muscle itself, but is a result of its denervation, and is hypothesized to lead to an enhancement of the central neurogenic component of physiological tremor. Given that our patients do not have a neuropathy and MYBPC1 is expressed purely in skeletal muscle, we hypothesize instead that the tremor is sarcomeric and hence myogenic in origin, but, similar to the denervation tremor, is then picked up by stretch receptors, where it undergoes centrally looped propagation and enhancement, thereby rendering it clinically visible. This hypothesis is consistent with the tremor recordings in our patient and establishes "myogenic tremor" as a novel tremor class. We propose that the mutant sMyBP-C results in deregulated cross-bridge cycling, which, in addition to causing a mild deficit in force generation, may take on an oscillatory quality upon contraction, resulting in tremor. This concept of a "myogenic tremor" initiated by deregulation of binding cycles of sarcomeric proteins is corroborated by an animal model with a de-novo MYH7 mutation, which also showed a progressive high-frequency postural tremor⁴³ resembling the tremor observed in our patients (Supplementary Table 2). Consistent with this, our group has also observed a similar tremor in a patient with a distinct de-novo MYH7 mutation (C.G.B. and D.H., unpublished observations). A search of the literature for mutations in additional sarcomeric proteins associated with myopathy and tremor revealed further cases of patients with mutations in genes encoding thick (MYH2 and MYL2) and thin (TNNT1, TPM3, and NEB) filament proteins (Supplementary Table 2),44-58 suggesting that crossbridge dysregulation may emerge as a myogenic tremor generator beyond the MYBPC1 mutations reported here. Additional studies in transgenic animals to further elucidate the physiology of this novel type of tremor and get more insight into tremor-causing mechanisms are in preparation.

In summary, identification of the novel Y247H and E248K mutations in *MYBPC1* define a new autosomaldominant syndrome of mild skeletal myopathy with a distinctive tremor of likely myogenic origin, which we propose to add as a new tremor entity.

Acknowledgment

This work was supported by NIH/NIAMS (Training Program in Muscle Biology, T32 AR007592-17 to J.G. and R21AR072981 to A.K.K.), the Muscular Dystrophy Association (Research Grants 313579 and 602614 to A.K.K.), European Regional Development Fund (No. 2010/0223/ 2DP/2.1.1.1.0/10/APIA/VIAA/025 to B.L.), NSF RUI (MCB-1607024 to N.T.W.), and the Latvian Council of Science State funding (to B.L.). C.G.B. is supported by intramural funds from NIH/NINDS.

We express our deepest gratitude to all the patients and their families.

Author Contributions

B.L., J.S., A.K.K., and C.G.B. contributed to the conception and design of the study. J.S., B.L., J.S., J.G., I.I., D.P., S.P., N.T.W., A.S., M.W., D.H., S.J., A.K.K., and C.G.B. contributed to the acquisition and analysis of data. J.S., B.L., J.S., J.G., N.T.W., S.J., A.K.K., and C.G.B. contributed to drafting the text and preparing the figures.

Potential Conflicts of Interest

Nothing to report.

References

- North KN, Wang CH, Clarke N, et al. Approach to the diagnosis of congenital myopathies. Neuromuscul Disord 2014;24:97–116.
- Ravenscroft G, Laing NG, Bönnemann CG. Pathophysiological concepts in the congenital myopathies: blurring the boundaries, sharpening the focus. Brain 2015;138:246–268.
- Tajsharghi H, Oldfors A. Myosinopathies: pathology and mechanisms. Acta Neuropathol 2013;125:3–18.
- Flashman E, Redwood C, Moolman-Smook J, Watkins H. Cardiac myosin binding protein C: its role in physiology and disease. Circ Res 2004;94:1279–1289.
- Oakley CE, Chamoun J, Brown LJ, Hambly BD. Myosin binding protein-C: enigmatic regulator of cardiac contraction. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2007;39:2161–2166.
- Ackermann MA, Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos A. Myosin binding protein-C slow: an intricate subfamily of proteins. J Biomed Biotechnol 2010;2010:652065.
- Rybakova IN, Greaser ML, Moss RL. Myosin binding protein C interaction with actin. J Biol Chem 2011;286:2008–2016.
- Weber FE, Vaughan KT, Reinach FC, Fischman DA. Complete sequence of human fast-type and slow-type muscle myosin-bindingprotein C (MyBP-C): differential expression, conserved domain structure and chromosome assignment. Eur J Biochem 1993;216:661–669.
- Ackermann MA, Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos A. Myosin binding protein-C slow is a novel substrate for protein kinase A (PKA) and C (PKC) in skeletal muscle. J Proteome Res 2011;10:4547–4555.
- Ackermann MA, Kerr JP, King B, et al. The phosphorylation profile of myosin binding protein-C slow is dynamically regulated in slowtwitch muscles in health and disease. Sci Rep 2015;5:12637.
- Ackermann MA, Ward CW, Gurnett C, Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos A. Myosin binding protein-C slow phosphorylation is altered in Duchenne dystrophy and arthrogryposis myopathy in fast-twitch skeletal muscles. Sci Rep 2015;5:13235.
- Geist J, Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos A. MYBPC1, an emerging myopathic gene: what we know and what we need to learn. Front Physiol 2016;7:410.

Volume 86, No. 1

140

- Einheber S, Fischman DA. Isolation and characterization of a cDNA clone encoding avian skeletal muscle C-protein: an intracellular member of the immunoglobulin superfamily. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990;87:2157–2161.
- Ackermann MA, Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos A. Myosin binding protein-C slow: a multifaceted family of proteins with a complex expression profile in fast and slow twitch skeletal muscles. Front Physiol 2013;4:391.
- Okagaki T, Weber FE, Fischman DA, et al. The major myosin-binding domain of skeletal muscle MyBP-C (C protein) resides in the COOHterminal, immunoglobulin C2 motif. J Cell Biol 1993;123:619–626.
- Freiburg A, Gautel M. A molecular map of the interactions between titin and myosin-binding protein C. Implications for sarcomeric assembly in familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Eur J Biochem 1996;235:317–323.
- McGrath MJ, Cottle DL, Nguyen MA, et al. Four and a half LIM protein 1 binds myosin-binding protein C and regulates myosin filament formation and sarcomere assembly. J Biol Chem 2006;281: 7666–7683.
- Ackermann MA, Hu LY, Bowman AL, et al. Obscurin interacts with a novel isoform of MyBP-C slow at the periphery of the sarcomeric M-band and regulates thick filament assembly. Mol Biol Cell 2009; 20:2963–2978.
- Chen Z, Zhao TJ, Li J, et al. Slow skeletal muscle myosin-binding protein-C (MyBPC1) mediates recruitment of muscle-type creatine kinase (CK) to myosin. Biochem J 2011;436:437–445.
- Gurnett CA, Desruisseau DM, McCall K, et al. Myosin binding protein C1: a novel gene for autosomal dominant distal arthrogryposis type 1. Hum Mol Genet 2010;19:1165–1173.
- Li X, Zhong B, Han W, et al. Two novel mutations in myosin binding protein C slow causing distal arthrogryposis type 2 in two large Han Chinese families may suggest important functional role of immunoglobulin domain C2. PLoS One 2015;10:e0117158.
- Ekhilevitch N, Kurolap A, Oz-Levi D, et al. Expanding the MYBPC1 phenotypic spectrum: a novel homozygous mutation causes arthrogryposis multiplex congenita. Clin Genet 2016;90:84–89.
- Timmer J, Lauk M, Deuschl G. Quantitative analysis of tremor time series. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 1996;101:461–468.
- Ackermann MA, Patel PD, Valenti J, et al. Loss of actomyosin regulation in distal arthrogryposis myopathy due to mutant myosin binding protein-C slow. FASEB J 2013;27:3217–3228.
- Källberg M, Wang H, Wang S, et al. Template-based protein structure modeling using the RaptorX web server. Nat Protoc 2012;7: 1511–1522.
- Yang J, Yan R, Roy A, et al. The I-TASSER suite: protein structure and function prediction. Nat Methods 2014;12:7–8.
- Kelley LA, Mezulis S, Yates CM, et al. The Phyre2 web portal for protein modeling, prediction and analysis. Nat Protoc 2015;10:845–858.
- Krieger E, Vriend G. YASARA View—molecular graphics for all devices—from smartphones to workstations. Bioinformatics 2014;30: 2981–2982.
- Hu M, He J, Zhao Z, et al. Compressed glassy carbon: an ultrastrong and elastic interpenetrating graphene network. Sci Adv 2017;3:e1603213.
- Van Zundert GCP, Rodrigues JPGLM, Trellet M, et al. The HAD-DOCK2.2 Web Server: user-friendly integrative modeling of biomolecular complexes. J Mol Biol 2016;428:720–725.
- Raethjen J, Lauk M, Köster B, et al. Tremor analysis in two normal cohorts. Clin Neurophysiol 2004;115:2151–2156.
- Stenson PD, Ball E V., Mort M, et al. Human Gene Mutation Database (HGMD): 2003 update. Hum Mutat 2003;21:577–581.
- Landrum MJ, Lee JM, Benson M, et al. ClinVar: public archive of interpretations of clinically relevant variants. Nucleic Acids Res 2016; 44:D862–D868.

July 2019

Stavusis et al: MYBPC1 Mutations in Myopathy With Tremor

- Lek M, Karczewski KJ, Minikel EV, et al. Analysis of protein-coding genetic variation in 60,706 humans. Nature 2016;536:285–291.
- Kumar P, Henikoff S, Ng PC. Predicting the effects of coding nonsynonymous variants on protein function using the SIFT algorithm. Nat Protoc 2009;4:1073–1081.
- Adzhubei IA, Schmidt S, Peshkin L, et al. A method and server for predicting damaging missense mutations. Nat Methods 2010;7:248–249.
- Kircher M, Witten DM, Jain P, et al. A general framework for estimating the relative pathogenicity of human genetic variants. Nat Genet 2014;46:310–315.
- Schwarz JM, Cooper DN, Schuelke M, Seelow D. Mutationtaster2: mutation prediction for the deep-sequencing age. Nat Methods 2014;11:361–362.
- Haworth RS, Stathopoulou K, Candasamy AJ, Avkiran M. Neurohormonal regulation of cardiac histone deacetylase 5 nuclear localization by phosphorylation-dependent and phosphorylation-independent mechanisms. Circ Res 2012;110:1585–1595.
- Richards S, Aziz N, Bale S, et al. Standards and guidelines for the interpretation of sequence variants: a joint consensus recommendation of the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics and the Association for Molecular Pathology. Genet Med 2015;17:405–423.
- Wiedemar N, Riedi AK, Jagannathan V, et al. Genetic abnormalities in a calf with congenital increased muscular tonus. J Vet Intern Med 2015;29:1418–1421.
- Saifee TA, Pareés I, Kassavetis P, et al. Tremor in Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease: no evidence of cerebellar dysfunction. Clin Neurophysiol 2015; 126:1817–1824.
- Murgiano L, Tammen I, Harlizius B, Drögemüller C. A de novo germline mutation in MYH7 causes a progressive dominant myopathy in pigs. BMC Genet 2012;13:99.
- 44. Johnston JJ, Kelley RI, Crawford TO, et al. A novel nemaline myopathy in the Amish caused by a mutation in troponin T1. Am J Hum Genet 2000;67:814–821.
- Marra JD, Engelstad KE, Ankala A, et al. Identification of a novel nemaline myopathy-causing mutation in the troponin T1 (TNNT1) gene: a case outside of the old order Amish. Muscle Nerve 2015;51: 767–772.
- Abdulhaq UN, Daana M, Dor T, et al. Nemaline body myopathy caused by a novel mutation in troponin T1 (TNNT1). Muscle Nerve 2016;53:564–569.
- Donkervoort S, Papadaki M, de Winter JM, et al. TPM3 deletions cause a hypercontractile congenital muscle stiffness phenotype. Ann Neurol 2015;78:982–994.
- Evans JM, Cox ML, Huska J, et al. Exome sequencing reveals a nebulin nonsense mutation in a dog model of nemaline myopathy. Mamm Genome 2016;27:495–502.
- Darin N, Kyllerman M, Wahlström J, et al. Autosomal dominant myopathy with congenital joint contractures, ophthalmoplegia, and rimmed vacuoles. Ann Neurol 1998;44:242–248.
- Martinsson T, Oldfors A, Darin N, et al. Autosomal dominant myopathy: missense mutation (Glu-706 --> Lys) in the myosin heavy chain IIa gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000;97:14614–14619.
- Scoppetta C, Casali C, La Cesa I, et al. Infantile autosomal dominant distal myopathy. Acta Neurol Scand 1995;92:122–126.
- Voit T, Kutz P, Leube B, et al. Autosomal dominant distal myopathy: further evidence of a chromosome 14 locus. Neuromuscul Disord 2001;11:11–19.
- Meredith C, Herrmann R, Parry C, et al. Mutations in the slow skeletal muscle fiber myosin heavy chain gene (MYH7) cause laing early-onset distal myopathy (MPD1). Am J Hum Genet 2004;75:703–708.
- Lamont PJ, Udd B, Mastaglia FL, et al. Laing early onset distal myopathy: slow myosin defect with variable abnormalities on muscle biopsy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2006;77:208–215.

ANNALS of Neurology

- Muelas N, Hackman P, Luque H, et al. MYH7 gene tail mutation causing myopathic profiles beyond Laing distal myopathy. Neurology 2010;75:732–741.
- Lefter S, Hardiman O, McLaughlin RL, et al. A novel MYH7 Leu1453pro mutation resulting in Laing distal myopathy in an Irish family. Neuromuscul Disord 2015;25:155–160.
- Cullup T, Lamont PJ, Cirak S, et al. Mutations in MYH7 cause Multi-minicore Disease (MmD) with variable cardiac involvement. Neuromuscul Disord 2012;22:1096–1104.
- Weterman MAJ, Barth PG, van Spaendonck-Zwarts KY, et al. Recessive MYL2 mutations cause infantile type I muscle fibre disease and cardiomyopathy. Brain 2013;136(pt 1):282–293.
- Howarth JW, Ramisetti S, Nolan K, et al. Structural insight into unique cardiac myosin-binding protein-C motif: a partially folded domain. J Biol Chem 2012;287:8254–8262.
- Blankenfeldt W, Thoma NH, Wray JS, et al. Crystal structures of human cardiac beta-myosin II S2-Delta provide insight into the functional role of the S2 subfragment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2006; 103:17713–17717.

Volume 86, No. 1

4. **DISCUSSION**

Diagnostics of rare neuromuscular disorders has always been difficult. Even dedicated laboratories using the NGS approach still have a maximum success rate of 65% (Wu et al. 2018). It must be noted though that the great phenotypic and genetic heterogeneity of these diseases can be attributed for some part of the decreased diagnostic yield. When large laboratories have such struggles, it is even more true for small laboratories, working on rare diseases in an under-diagnosed population, with no prior knowledge of population specific disease frequency data.

This was the situation for Latvia, where the first limited genetic testing for neuromuscular disease patients became available around the year 2000, with tests for Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) and Spinal muscular atrophy (SMA), with testing for Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease type 1A (CMT1A) becoming available a few years later. A few more years passed and governmental funding for genetic testing abroad, even if limited by paperwork and funding, became available. It was around this time, when it was decided that in order to help as many NMD patients as possible to get a molecular diagnosis, geneticists and molecular biologists will collaborate, and use all available scientific resources, in order to guide and develop neuromuscular disease diagnostics, through research. A dedicated project, based on Sanger sequencing and massive parallel genotyping was started in 2011. However, it was realized that the percentage of diagnosed cases is low and the technology is limited, with only 14 patients receiving the molecular diagnosis. It must be noted though, that NMD cases that reached us were ones not diagnosed in a clinical setting, meaning that the most common and easy to diagnose NMDs were often already excluded.

A few minor international collaborations were organized over the years, giving us access to the newest technology and world-class experts, that have resulted in a couple of genetically complicated cases being diagnosed, including the *MYBPC1* case, described in this work. However, the occasions were few and far between, therefore in 2017 a collaboration with the large-scale international research project MYO-SEQ, spearheaded by the Newcastle University in the UK, was established, granting a selected number of patients the possibility to have their exomes sequenced and analyzed. Not many patients could be enrolled in this project, as they had to fit certain age and phenotypical criteria. Nonetheless, the diagnostic yield for this collaboration was very good, with 12 out of 19 enrolled patients having either molecular diagnosis or a potential disease-associated candidate variant established. In cases of potential candidate variants, more work will have to be done in order to properly classify them. Unsurprisingly, the results up to this point seem to suggest calpainopathies as the most common LGMD form in the population of Latvia, however by a small margin. More unexpected, however, were several cases of pathogenic *DMD* variants in women, as in females only up to 20% of carriers are expected to have mild to moderate muscle weakness (Yiu and Kornberg 2015).

The results of the MYO-SEQ collaboration showed us that NGS is the way to go, and inspired the beginning of the whole genome sequencing project for rare disease patients in Latvia in 2019, with the focus on rare neuromuscular disorders. The first batch of patients has shown good diagnostic yield, with 7 out of 11 patients having received molecular diagnosis and two more having potential disease associated variants identified. With many more batches already on their way, it must be noted, however, that not all of these are NMD patient cases. Overall, NGS data in the rare neuromuscular disease patient group in Latvia has shown that this population is indeed heterogeneous, with most cases being unique.

Caveolinopathies

When genetic testing and research of neuromuscular disorders in Latvia began, there were still relatively few LGMDs known and the world was rather far from reaching the end of the alphabet in their classification. Therefore, when a family presenting with a seemingly classic form of a dominant LGMD came to the attention of geneticists, the choice at the time was either to do nothing or to try to test some of the smaller genes, known to be associated with this type of disease, by Sanger sequencing. Considering that the gene *CAV3* (RefSeq No. NM_033337.3) was associated with cardiomyopathy as well as dominant LGMD, it is rather small and mutations in it are relatively common, it was decided to sequence this gene in the patient population as well as the general population of Latvia, as one with a potentially higher diagnostic value.

Both of the variants (c.183C>A, p.(S61R) and c.216C>G, p.(C72W)) found in this gene in the patient group are located in the scaffolding domain of the protein. It has been suggested that mutations in this domain may cause significant alterations in the function of the protein, with the variant c.183C>A described in a heterozygous state in a case with absent CAV3 protein and dystrophic muscle pathology (Fulizio et al. 2005). This variant has also been rated as likely pathogenic, based on the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics (ACMG) guidelines (Kopanos et al. 2019). The other variant c.216C>G has been classified as likely benign. Even though some prediction tools classify it as damaging and it has previously been found in a heterozygous state in a patient with muscular dystrophy, it has been found in a number of healthy adult individuals as well (McNally et al. 1998; Kopanos et al. 2019). This suggests that a single abnormal allele of this variant is not sufficient to cause the phenotype. The decreased functional significance is most probably due to its position at the very end of the scaffolding domain. No homozygous individuals have been reported though.

The result of 1-2% of patients in the LGMD group having mutations in the *CAV3* gene was to be expected, however no variants associated with the disease were found in the cardiomyopathy group. Even though the role of *CAV3* in cardiomyopathy has been shown previously, our findings make us hypothesize that at least in our target population cardiomyopathy is a rare phenotypic trait of *CAV3* mutations, probably strongly influenced by gene–gene interactions (Woodman et al. 2002; Hayashi et al. 2004). This might, however, also be affected by the relatively small size of our cardiomyopathy patient group.

Interestingly, the one person from the control population group, carrying the c.220C>T, p.(R74C) variant also has a slight elevation of serum CK level, and so can be hypothesized to have an undiagnosed hyperCKemia. This could be supported by the fact that in an advanced stage of the disease, CK level usually shows a tendency to normalize due to the muscle replacement with fibrous or adipose tissues and the person in question was 58 years old at the time of sample collection. Unfortunately, we were unable to get hold of this patient to further confirm our theory. This variation has been classified as likely pathogenic by the ACMG guidelines (Kopanos et al. 2019). We also found an apparently benign intronic deletion (c.115-45_115-31del) in a large portion of our samples, which differs by two base pairs from a well-known benign deletion (c.115-45_115-29del), which we found in only one sample. The frequency of other variants found in our control group is comparable to those found in genome databases.

Even though the size of the sample group may have been a limiting factor, this research allowed us not only to set the foundation for local diagnostic testing and research of rare neuromuscular disorder, but also to start filling in gaps in the previously unknown incidence data for these diseases in the general population of Latvia.

Calpainopathies

When Sanger sequencing of whole genes or frequent mutation regions within genes, associated with most common LGMDs, turned out to be apparently lacking in terms of diagnostic potential, it was only natural to try and incorporate the newest technologies. At that point in time massive-parallel genotyping seemed to be the best way to go, so a custom designed genotyping panel was made and used in conjunction with samples from patient and control populations from Latvia and Lithuania. This panel included 96 of the most common pathogenic variants for the most common LGMD types in Europe.

It is known that calpainopathies are one of the most common LGMD types in the world, with some exceptions in certain specific populations (Wicklund 2019). Since 2004 and 2005, when it was described by Canki-Klain *et al.* and Fanin *et al.*, respectively, the c.550delA variation in the *CAPN3* gene (RefSeq No. NM_000070.3) in a homozygous or compound heterozygous state is thought to be one of if not the most common LGMD R1 associated variant in Europe, with the average allele frequency of 0.000422 in non-Finnish Europeans, according to the GnomAD database (Canki-Klain et al. 2004; Fanin et al. 2005; Karczewski et al. 2020). Therefore, it was somewhat surprising that our testing found this variant in a homozygous state in eight patients from Lithuania, making it the most common in this group, but it was not found in any of the patients from Latvia.

We then proceeded to test this variant in the respective general populations, and came up with a similar result - variant frequency of 0.0016 in Latvia and 0.0029 in Lithuania. In his publication Canki-Klain hypothesized that the c.550delA variant has originated in the Eastern Mediterranean and spread across Europe (Canki-Klain et al. 2004). This indeed seems to be the case, as a gradient can be seen in European countries, generally decreasing from center towards east and west and from south to north (Pogoda et al. 2000; Piluso et al. 2005; Georgieva et al. 2005; Milic and Canki-Klain 2005; Balci et al. 2006; Hermanová et al. 2006; Hanisch et al. 2007; Todorova et al. 2007; Stehlíková et al. 2014; Dorobek et al. 2015). Based on our data, this variant seems to be the most common in Lithuania as well, however its frequency drops rapidly in Latvia. The difference in frequencies remains unexplained, as there are no definite cultural or geographical borders between the two countries and both populations do not seem to be that divergent.

The variants c.2288A>G in the *CAPN3* gene and c.4872delG in the *DYSF* gene (RefSeq No. NM_003494.4), both in heterozygous states and both classified as likely pathogenic, according to the ACMG guidelines, were found in two separate control population samples, allowing us to find two disease carriers and setting the frequency of these two variants at 0.00245 in the general population of Latvia (Kopanos et al. 2019). Interestingly, no common variants were found in the *ANO5*, *SGCA*, *SGCB*, *SGCD* and *SGCG* genes - all with high allele frequencies in other European populations. This only serves to consolidate the previous statement of the heterogeneity of the neuromuscular disease patient group in Latvia, which is possibly even higher than in some other European countries.

Even though the initial thought of massive parallel genotyping as a rapid and low-cost screening tool for improvement of the healthcare became obsolete very quickly, this project allowed us to go one step further in neuromuscular disease testing and helped us fill in another blank space in regards to variant frequencies in the Baltics region. The main issues this

technology faced was the low sensitivity (89% in our laboratory setting) and the heterogeneity of both the diseases and our population, leading to decreased diagnostic yield when testing only certain genes and variants.

Collagen 6-related myopathies

Through international collaborations with world-class laboratories was how we first moved rare disease research and diagnostics in Latvia into the field of next-generation sequencing, with our collaboration in the MYO-SEQ project being the most successful in terms of diagnostic yield. However, it soon became apparent that even using NGS approaches, it was not always easy to reach a diagnosis, even when not faced with theoretically pathogenic variants in genes without a known function. There is only a limited number of pathogenic variants for which any kind of functional research has been carried out, and diagnosis should never be based solely on *in-silico* evaluation. Sometimes, however, the problem is the opposite - relatively common variants, reported by many different sources, with conflicting interpretations of pathogenicity, often associated with heterogeneous diseases.

A good example of this, that is still being debated, is the c.7447A>G, p.Lys2483Glu variant in the *COL6A3* gene (RefSeq No. NM_004369.4), found in a compound homozygous state (c.[7447A > G]; [7447A > G; c.8074delT]) in one of the families involved in our project and in a homozygous state in another of our patients. It is currently classified as a variant of uncertain significance, based on ACMG guidelines (Kopanos et al. 2019). All of COL6 genes are associated with diseases now referred to as collagen VI-related myopathies, that range from a mild Bethlem myopathy phenotype to a more severe Ullrich congenital muscular dystrophy phenotype (Briñas et al. 2010; Bönnemann 2011a). Furthermore, there is now compelling evidence that these myopathies are among the most common congenital muscular dystrophies worldwide (Okada et al. 2007; Peat et al. 2008). The COL6A3 protein itself plays a major role in cell adhesion and through it - organization of matrix components and muscle development (O'Leary et al. 2016).

The variant was described in 2010 by Brinas *et al.* in a compound heterozygous state with the variant c.9384_9386del, in a patient presenting with a mild Bethlem myopathy phenotype and having reduced secretion as well as intracellular retention of COL6A3 in his fibroblasts (Briñas et al. 2010). Since then, there have been at least 18 patients reported, carrying this variant in compound heterozygous or homozygous states, though the number might vary due to a possible overlap of reports (Briñas et al. 2010). The general consensus of disease progression, including our patients, is that onset of the disease is early, with delay in the development of gross motor skills. Course of the disease seems to be slowly progressive, with most of the patients having muscle weakness that is restricting only some strenuous activities, usually becoming noticeable in late adolescence or adult age. Contractures are mild and often only ankle joints are involved (Hunter et al. 2015; Sframeli et al. 2017; Panadés-de Oliveira et al. 2019).

One of the reasons for the variant being classified as variant with uncertain significance is the fact that there exists a male from European (non-Finnish) population, homozygous for the variant, who is registered in the GnomAD database. The reason this is important, is that curators of GnomAD have tried, to the best of their abilities, to remove all individuals known to be affected by severe pediatric diseases. In this instance, it is our hypothesis that the person in question did not present severe symptoms at a younger age, similar to the rest of our patients, and there has been no retrospective curation of the database for such cases (Karczewski et al. 2020).

Such cases, where variants in the same gene are associated with more than one phenotype, are becoming more common, for example, variants in *POMGNT1*, *FKTN*, *POMT2*, *FKRP* and several other genes can cause both - a severe, even early lethal phenotype, but also a mild dystrophy (Brockington et al. 2001b; van Reeuwijk et al. 2005; Godfrey et al. 2007b; Manzini et al. 2012). A great example of such duality is the *ANO5* gene, where the dominant variants are causing gnathodiaphyseal dysplasia, but the recessive ones - LGMD symptoms (Marconi et al. 2013). This expanding range of phenotypic variability is starting to move the community away from the classic gene-to-disease system and more towards the affected domain-to-disease. Such changes are making it more difficult for clinicians, who at first are trying to pinpoint the gene-to-phenotype based classification. This variability arises from emerging data, explicitly showing that defects in different functional regions of the same protein can affect completely different aspects of the protein function, and therefore manifest as very distinct phenotypic traits, often resembling defects in other genes.

When looking at the clinical data from patients carrying the c.7447A>G variation, it must be noted that EMG provides no specific findings and muscle biopsy, if not stained specifically for COL6 proteins, shows great variability, with the most common finding being fiber size variations, suggestive of myopathy and later muscular dystrophy. Creatine phosphokinase level is usually elevated from two to four times the normal (Bönnemann 2011a). It seems muscle MRI is currently the first-line diagnostic tool with the best prognostic value, revealing the pathognomonic pattern with fatty degeneration from periphery to the center of the *rectus femoris* and *vastus lateralis* muscles, with the typical diamond shape or tigroid pattern. However, despite its usefulness, muscle MRI is still not routinely used (Bönnemann 2011a).

Our patients, included in this project, have the MRI findings typical of the COL6 disease, and segregation analysis, where possible, showed that the disease is inherited in an autosomal recessive pattern, involving the c.7447A>G variant. Taking everything in consideration, there is a basis for hypothesizing that the variant c.7447A>G in a homozygous state can lead to a mild Bethlem myopathy and/or LGMD phenotype without respiratory involvement. It must be noted though, that for patients with other variants in a compound heterozygous state, the phenotype severity entirely depends on the second variant. The previously described cases show that a compound heterozygous carrier for the c.7447A>G; 9384_9386del variants presented with pulmonary involvement characterized by FVC borderline reduction to 78% at the age of 12, however no information regarding muscle weakness or contractures was published in this case (Briñas et al. 2010). A second carrier of compound heterozygous variants c.5480delG; 7447A>G had grade 3/5 muscle weakness of hip abductors and abdominal muscles at the age of 12 (Hunter et al. 2015). In comparison, the person in our project, carrying the c.7447A>G variant in a homozygous state, had muscle weakness of 4/5 in proximal muscle groups at the age of 44, and patients carrying the compound variants presented with muscle weakness, mild contractures and muscle atrophy at the age of 30. It is always possible to speculate that the c.7447A>G variant in a homozygous state by itself leads to a milder phenotype, or that there could be another deep intronic variant in COL6A genes, responsible for the Bethlem myopathy phenotype, present in such cases.

The alpha-3 chain is a modular protein comprised of 10 Von Willebrand factor A (VWA) domains, with the N-terminal VWA domains having a major role in cell adhesion by binding other extracellular matrix proteins (O'Leary et al. 2016). VWA domains of COL6A3 protein in general give it the ability to bind other proteins. The C1 and C2 domains (VWA 11 and VWA 12), affected in the family, involved in our project, have been shown to be necessary for the assembly of monomers, with C1 being sufficient for assembly, but lack of or mutations in C2 being associated with disease (Bönnemann 2011b). It has also been reported previously that missense variants in a VWA domain can be associated with Bethlem myopathy (Pan et al. 1998). Therefore, it is possible to hypothesize that a change in one of them might affect the binding potential and therefore modulate the phenotype, when present together with other variants in the gene. It has been shown that collagen VI a1, a2, and a3 form a heterotrimer that is held together by the VWA domains in the C-terminus of each molecule (Beecher et al. 2011). It is thus tempting to speculate that variants like p.Lys2438Glu, which substitutes a basic residue for an acidic one, ablates a stabilizing electrostatic interaction and perturbs this heterotrimer. The resulting weakened or misformed collagen VI fibers might be able to affect structural stability and regeneration of skeletal muscle. This leads to a possible hypothesis that in the case of our patients that are carrying compound variants, a terminated protein would be synthesized from one of the DNA chains and one of the VWA domains would be affected for the protein synthesized from the other. Both of these changes, taken together, might affect the overall functions of the protein enough to lead to the myopathic phenotype observed. Furthermore, it has been shown previously that variants causing premature termination codons have a profound destabilizing effect on the corresponding transcripts, leading to degradation of transcripts harboring these variants at the post-transcriptional level (Briñas et al. 2010). Interestingly, the phenotype-genotype correlation observed in the family of compound variant carriers, allows us to conclude that the c.8074delT variant, despite being seemingly more damaging, in a heterozygous form cannot cause disease symptoms on its own.

Cases of variants with hard-to-classify effects are becoming more common, as genetic data is being generated at an unprecedented rate. They do present challenges for both clinicians and researchers, hopefully leading to a shift towards even more individual variant functional testing in the future.

Myosin Binding Protein C1-related phenotypes

The most notable case in the history of our project is highlighting a somewhat similar and yet totally different problem, when dealing with neuromuscular disorders. The family affected in this case was first examined by a geneticist more than ten years ago. In this family there are four patients in three generations, all presenting with a peculiar phenotype - mild myopathy, skeletal deformities and tremor.

It was decided to start a collaboration with professor Carsten Bönnemann and the section of neuromuscular and neurogenetic disorders from National Institutes of Health (NIH), Bethesda, USA, led by him. After examining the patients, he came up with a hypothesis that this is a new and undescribed phenotype. Whole exome sequencing was performed for several members of this family at the Tartu University's Institute of Genomics.

After more than a year of data analysis a dominant variant in the *MYBPC1* gene (RefSeq No. NM_002465.4), rated as damaging by predictive algorithms, was proposed to be the cause of the disease. However, at that point pathogenic variants in this gene were described only relatively recently and were associated with severe phenotypes, including distal arthrogryposis and lethal congenital contracture syndrome.

After performing genetic testing in the extended family, we did indeed observe that the variant in question c.742G>A p.(E248K) segregates perfectly with the disease phenotype. In order to start planning some functional testing, we began yet another collaboration - this time with professor Aikaterini Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulo's group from University of Maryland,

USA, that had been working on functional testing of MYBPC1 protein for some time already. Luckily, in a year's time another group came to our attention, this time from Germany, led by doctor Jochen Schäfer, who had found another family, harboring a variant in the neighboring amino acid (c.739T>C p.(Y247H)) and presenting with a similar phenotype, thus providing us with more concrete proof that ours was not a random finding.

We were now able to base our research around the clinical, genetic, and molecular findings in two unrelated, three-generation families, each of which harbors a different, yet neighboring novel sequence change in the *MYBPC1* gene, resulting in a mild skeletal myopathy with marked, unexplained tremor as the most distinguishing feature. We have classified both of these variants as pathogenic, according to ACMG guidelines, based on the familial segregation, absence from the general population, in-silico assessment, and the increased target binding conferred by the substituted amino acids, however they have also been classified as likely pathogenic by other sources (Richards et al. 2015; Kopanos et al. 2019). Only later it came to our attention, that there has been described a natural animal model - a calf with weakness, stiffness, and muscle tremor, carrying a c.885T>G p.(Leu295Arg) variant in the *MYBPC1* gene (Wiedemar et al. 2015). The variant is located in the M-motif of bovine MYBPC1 and corresponds to amino acid p.Leu263Arg in exon 11 of the human gene, the same exon affected in both families, included in our project.

The phenotype of all affected individuals from both families can be summed up as earlyonset, mild, predominantly axial muscle weakness, mild contractures, and tremor of high frequency and irregular amplitude, primarily affecting the hands. In some affected individuals the tremor was also present in legs and, interestingly, in all affected members of the second family it was noted in the tongue as well. The tremor was elicited by muscle usage, such as in assuming postures and/or activity. As observed in the second family, tremor is present in newborns even before the development of myopathy. Weakness and tremor progress slowly during childhood, until patients reach adolescent years. This is followed by a plateau period of stability at a moderate level of disabilities. Ambulation is preserved in all patients. Noteworthy, several affected members of the first family reported an increased susceptibility for prolonged respiratory infections, allowing hypotheses about a mild weakness of the diaphragm muscles as well.

The joint contractures in these two families were not present at birth, but developed over the course of the disease and remained mild. Therefore, both time of onset and severity differs from the congenital contractures that are characteristic of distal arthrogryposis and previously associated with variants in *MYBPC1*. Muscle biopsy findings were nonspecific.

Due to the c.742G>A p.(E248K) variant, a negatively charged amino acid is being replaced by a positively charged one. Similarly, to this, the c.739T>C p.(Y247H) variant causes an amino acid with a hydrophobic side chain to be replaced by an amino acid with a potentially protonatable imidazole ring. Both of these changes can be predicted to lead to alteration of the binding affinity of the mutant protein to two of its known major binding partners - myosin and actin, although possibly to a lesser extent in the case of the second variant. Consistent with this prediction, when in-vitro binding assays were performed, the data showed a markedly increased binding of the NH₂- terminus of the corresponding mutant protein to the heavy-meromyosin (HMM) portion of myosin. Furthermore the p.(E248K) mutant protein did indeed elicit a more pronounced binding. Molecular simulations of MYBPC1 and myosin binding uphold the hypothesis of altered binding activity as a result of the mutations, through increased electrostatic interaction. It must be noted, however, that it has been shown that even small changes in pH can affect the charge of the histidine side chains in a major way, therefore making it more difficult to predict the exact effect of the p.(Y247H) mutation (Li and Hong 2011). As MYBPC1 functions as a regulator of cross-bridge formation, the next logical step is to try and figure out the impact of increased binding potential of mutant proteins on cross-bridge formation and cycling. The best way to approach this would be through biochemical and biophysical testing, as well as generation of appropriate animal models that could lead to possible drug or therapy testing in the future.

What makes this new phenotype, associated with domain-specific variants in the *MYBPC1* gene, interesting and unique is the tremor, present in all affected, as well as the spontaneous animal model (Wiedemar et al. 2015). Detailed clinical analysis of tremor in two patients from the second family allows us to exclude with some certainty both physiological and enhanced physiological tremor generated by mechanical reflex oscillations. The peculiarities of tremor - no changes in frequency after weight loading, would normally make us consider a central pacemaker at the origin of the tremor. However, the tremor segregation with pathogenic variants in both families, allows us to propose the mutated protein as the main cause of tremor, and seeing that MYBPC1 is not expressed in the central nervous system or in peripheral nerves (The Human Protein Atlas and our results), it is unlikely that the originator or primary pacemaker of the tremor is located centrally.

Considering the subcellular location and function of MYBPC1 as well as our results, we propose that the initiation of tremor is happening at the sarcomeric level, with the signal then going through a central loop and leading to synchronization and oscillation of the effector muscles. Such a mechanism would not be unlike the hypothesis behind tremor generation in Charcot-Marie-Tooth (CMT) disease, where weight-invariant postural tremors have been

observed (Saifee et al. 2015). The main difference though being that in CMT the initial tremor generator does not originate from the muscle itself, but is rather a result of its denervation, which then leads to an enhancement of the central neurogenic component of physiological tremor. Given that neuropathy has been excluded in our patients and MYBPC1 is expressed only in skeletal muscle, we hypothesize that the tremor in this phenotype is sarcomeric and therefore myogenic in origin, but is then picked up by stretch receptors (possibly muscle spindles) that provide proprioceptive sensory information to the brain, where it undergoes centrally looped propagation and enhancement, thus creating the visible tremor. Tremor testing, performed in our patients, supports such hypotheses. Based on all of the aforementioned, we propose establishing "myogenic tremor" as a novel tremor class. Our proposed disease mechanism is based on deregulation of cross-bridge cycling that leads to mild deficit in force generation and may create an oscillatory movement and signaling upon contraction that results in tremor. An animal model, carrying a pathogenic variant in the MYH7 gene and presenting with a progressive high-frequency postural tremor, that resembles the tremor in our patients, corroborates the concept of myogenic tremor that is caused by deregulation of sarcomeric protein binding (Murgiano et al. 2012). Consistent with this, a similar tremor has been observed in a patient with a distinct *de-novo MYH7* variant (unpublished observations). Our proposition has been recognized by the team curating the Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man (OMIM) database, who have added it to said database and termed it MYOTREM (Amberger et al. 2019). Right after our publication, Shashi et al. described four additional patients from three independent families, all carrying either of the two dominant missense variants - c.788T>G p. (Leu263Arg) and c.776T>C p.(Leu259Pro), located in the M-motif of the MYBPC1 gene. Interestingly, even though the predicted effect on protein is somewhat different, the observed phenotype is very similar to our cases, and the authors come to the same conclusions (Shashi et al. 2019). Taken together, this means that myogenic tremor, associated with variants in the Mmotif of the MYBPC1, has been observed in the two multi-generation families from our project, four additional individuals, described by Shashi et al. and the spontaneous natural calf model. Furthermore, mouse models harboring the p.(E248K) and p.(Y247H) variants have been created that fully duplicate the phenotype observed in humans (unpublished data).

During an in-depth research of literature aimed at finding additional cases of sarcomeric proteins associated with myopathy and tremor, we noticed that in all the cases we found, the affected genes are either solely or majorly expressed in the muscle (Uhlen et al. 2015). Therefore, it is reasonable to propose that the tremor described in these cases may be of myogenic origin as well, with underlying molecular mechanisms similar to that described previously, arising from structural alterations that impact myofilament assembly, stability

and/or sliding. In several of these cases, including families in our research, the tremor abates with age, but can still be noticeable with posture and/or physical exertion. This leads us to think that adaptive or compensatory mechanisms may be present, that might be based on central nervous system plasticity and could fine-tune and adjust motor unit control (Edgerton et al. 2002). Noteworthy, a certain degree of heterogeneity can be observed with regards to the severity of the tremor phenotype, both intra and inter-familial. Even though the cause of this is yet unknown, heterogeneity is one of the hallmarks of myopathies, and therefore it is reasonable to consider that genetic and individual-unique factors may be contributing here as well (Mah and Joseph 2016). The plethora of cases where tremor, of likely myogenic origin, has been observed, but dismissed as not being part of the phenotype, only give more importance to our claim that this form of myopathy accompanied by tremor should be considered as a new disease entity.

This project has yet again shown the value of international collaboration and has allowed us to put forward a previously undescribed autosomal dominant syndrome (congenital myopathy with tremor). This claim is still challenged by neurologists, as it goes against the dogma of primary neurological damage being the sole underlying cause of tremor. Furthermore, the case of myogenic tremor does once-again highlight the previously discussed phenomenon of protein-region-specific phenotypes that can be dramatically distinct (as in the examples of lamin A/C, emerin, nesprin 1 and 2, and TMEM43 (LUMA) pathogenic variant association with several different phenotypes) and therefore create difficulties for anyone involved in patient diagnostics and care (Bertrand et al. 2011; Amberger et al. 2019). Based on this information it is reasonable to assume that we will see more and more of a shift towards the protein-region-to-phenotype kind of classification, as new data becomes available, and not only in the field of neuromuscular disorders.

The initial data and findings described and discussed here, regarding the novel *MYBPC1* associated phenotype, have also allowed us to move forward with research of transgenic animal models, initially focusing on detailed phenotypic, behavioral, morphological and functional assessment, in order to elucidate the physiology of this novel type of tremor and gain more insights in the molecular mechanisms underlying it.

Concluding remarks

An added positive benefit of research projects like these, is the fact they help attract more attention to rare neuromuscular disorders from both the general public and specialists nationwide, thus spreading awareness. It is believed that many neuromuscular disorders remain undiagnosed in our population due to some individuals presenting with unspecified symptoms of muscle weakness, which sometimes can also be found in parental generation, and therefore perceived as a normal familial trait. This might be especially true for the slow progressing forms. This idea of our population being underdiagnosed partially stems from the neuromuscular disease incidence numbers reported in other European countries, where, assuming our population is not that different, we should see more cases of neuromuscular diseases. Our research has shown the population of Latvia to be quite heterogeneous, without any distinct known founder-effect variants. It seems, however, that calpainopathies are indeed the most common form of rare neuromuscular diseases in Latvia.

This work highlights the evolution of rare neuromuscular disease diagnostics and research in Latvia, spanned over a time period of more than 10 years. It starts from humble beginnings and basic methods that are cheap and easy to interpret, but have low result yield. Then evolves through now-obsolete technologies that seemed promising at the time, slowly gaining knowledge base and filling in blank spaces with regards to variant and disease frequencies in the local population. Now it can be said to have reached a world-class level, where next generation sequencing is the tool used for undiagnosed rare disease cases, with custom built data analysis and development of local databases. In the time of international collaborations as a norm for rare disease research, in order to pool patients and data, we have built lasting and fruitful connections and are utilizing all the options currently available. However, there is still room to grow - moving into the field of functional research of pathogenic variants and gaining the much-needed data, that is paramount for establishing proper diagnosis, and hopefully moving towards effective long-term therapy. Furthermore, we have been able to not only help patients of rare neuromuscular diseases get molecular diagnosis but have also been able to provide new knowledge to the field, and will continue to do so in the future.

5. CONCLUSIONS

- Through the use of our neuromuscular disorder patient database and the Genome database of Latvian population, we have managed to determine the allele frequencies for some of the most common variants, associated with LGMD forms in the population of Latvia, establishing calpainopaties as the most common form.
- Even though frequencies of the majority of tested neuromuscular disease associated variants in the population of Latvia do not differ significantly from the rest of Europe, there are certain variants, frequent in other parts of Europe, that are not common in Latvia. Most notably, LGMD R12 anoctamin5-related which is now thought to be one of the most common LGMD forms in Europe, is not common in Latvia, and the variant c.550delA in the *CAPN3* gene, thought to be the most common LGMD associated variant in Eastern Europe, is common in Lithuania, but not in Latvia.
- Based on available information, variant segregation, molecular testing and modeling, we classify the relatively common variant c.7447A>G in the *COL6A3* gene, currently classified as a variant of unknown significance, as pathogenic, as it is able to cause a mild disease phenotype, when present in a homozygous state. Compound cases show variable severity, based on the second variant in the gene. MRI imaging is proving to be the most specific first-line diagnostic tool, when dealing with collagen 6 associated myopathies.
- We have described a new disease phenotype, associated with M-motif specific variants in the *MYBPC1* gene that presents with a mild myopathy and myogenic tremor (MYOTREM). The initial functional testing suggests a possible disease mechanism, based on sarcomeric contraction dysregulation through altered cycling of actomyosin cross-bridges.
- In line with previous reports, the next generation sequencing approach currently grants the highest diagnostic yield, when dealing with rare neuromuscular disorders, due to the genetic and phenotypic heterogeneity present in this group of diseases. However, it is true only for diseases caused by small genetic variants, as applicability is still limited for diseases like facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy, caused by larger changes in the genome.
MAIN THESIS FOR DEFENSE

Thesis I

Variant c.7447A>G in gene *COL6A3* is associated with a mild collagen 6 associated myopathy phenotype in a homozygous state.

Thesis II

Pathogenic variations in the M-motif of the *MYBPC1* gene are associated with a new pathological phenotype, characterized by mild myopathy and myogenic tremor (MYOTREM).

Thesis III

Myogenic tremor does not have a primary neurological component, but is rather arising on the sarcomere level, due to dysregulation of sarcomeric protein binding during muscle contraction, and is then propagated and enhanced through the central nervous system.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by:

European Regional Development Fund (No. 2010/0223/2DP/2.1.1.1.0/10/APIA/VIAA/025 "New tests for the diagnosis of inherited neuromuscular diseases") European Regional Development Fund (No. 1.1.1.1/18/A/097 "Functional and genetic research of rare unidentified neuromuscular disorders") Latvian Council of Science State funding

I am sincerely thankful to:

My supervisor Dr.med. Baiba Lāce for the help and guidance on this journey as well as for everything she has taught me, being the source of most of what I know about human genetics. My co-supervisor Dr.biol. Inna Iņaškina for taking up the mantle of supervisor when times changed, keeping me on track, and helping me grow and evolve. In loving memory, Dr.biol. Ēriks Jankevics, for teaching me which end of a pipette to hold and how to think.

My colleagues from the Latvian Biomedical Research and Study centre Dita Kidere, Dr.biol. Pāvels Zajakins, Kristīne Vīksne, Elfa Kleina, Diāna Livčāne, Anna Ždanoviča and Dr.biol. Dāvids Frīdmanis

Local collaborators: Dr. Ieva Mičule, Dr. Jurģis Strautmanis,

International collaborators: my special thanks to Prof. Aikaterini Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos and Assoc.Prof. MD Sander Pajusalu for being excellent collaborators and amazing people, as well as Prof. Carsten G. Bönnemann, Assoc.Prof. Nathan T. Wright, Assoc.Prof. Chris Ward, PhD Janelle Geist and Prof. Volker Straub.

My better half, friends and family for the support and keeping the sun shining even on rainy days.

My deepest gratitude to all the patients and their families, involved in this work, who spend their days struggling with neuromuscular disorders.

REFERENCES

- Abdul-Hussein S, Van Der Ven PFM, Tajsharghi H (2012) Expression profiles of muscle diseaseassociated genes and their isoforms during differentiation of cultured human skeletal muscle cells. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 13:. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-13-262
- Aboumousa A, Hoogendijk J, Charlton R, et al (2008) Caveolinopathy New mutations and additional symptoms. Neuromuscul Disord 18:572–578. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2008.05.003
- Ackermann MA, Hu L-YR, Bowman AL, et al (2009) Obscurin Interacts with a Novel Isoform of MyBP-C Slow at the Periphery of the Sarcomeric M-Band and Regulates Thick Filament Assembly. Mol Biol Cell 20:2963–2978. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E08-12-1251
- Ackermann MA, Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos A (2013) Myosin binding protein-C slow: A multifaceted family of proteins with a complex expression profile in fast and slow twitch skeletal muscles. Front Physiol 4 DEC:391. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2013.00391
- Ackermann MA, Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos A (2011a) Myosin Binding Protein-C: A Regulator of Actomyosin Interaction in Striated Muscle. J Biomed Biotechnol 2011:1–9. doi: 10.1155/2011/636403
- Ackermann MA, Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos A (2011b) Myosin binding protein-C slow is a novel substrate for protein kinase A (PKA) and C (PKC) in skeletal muscle. J Proteome Res 10:4547– 4555. doi: 10.1021/pr200355w
- Ackermann MA, Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos A (2010) Myosin binding protein-C slow: an intricate subfamily of proteins. J Biomed Biotechnol 2010:652065. doi: 10.1155/2010/652065
- Ackermann MA, Patel PD, Valenti J, et al (2013) Loss of actomyosin regulation in distal arthrogryposis myopathy due to mutant myosin binding protein-C slow. FASEB J 27:3217–28. doi: 10.1096/fj.13-228882
- Ackermann MA, Ward CW, Gurnett C, Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos A (2015) Myosin Binding Protein-C Slow Phosphorylation is Altered in Duchenne Dystrophy and Arthrogryposis
 Myopathy in Fast-Twitch Skeletal Muscles. Sci Rep 5:13235. doi: 10.1038/srep13235
- Amato AA, Griggs RC (2011) Overview of the muscular dystrophies. Handb Clin Neurol
- Amberger JS, Bocchini CA, Scott AF, Hamosh A (2019) OMIM.org: Leveraging knowledge across phenotype-gene relationships. Nucleic Acids Res 47:D1038–D1043. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky1151
- Anderson LVB, Harrison RM, Pogue R, et al (2000) Secondary reduction in calpain 3 expression in patients with limb girdle muscular dystrophy type 2B and Miyoshi myopathy (primary dysferlinopathies). Neuromuscul Disord 10:553–559. doi: 10.1016/S0960-8966(00)00143-7
- Angelini C, Fanin M, Menegazzo E, et al (1998) Homozygous alpha-sarcoglycan mutation in two siblings: one asymptomatic and one steroid-responsive mild limb-girdle muscular dystrophy patient. Muscle Nerve 21:769–75
- Angelini C, Giaretta L, Marozzo R (2018) An update on diagnostic options and considerations in limb-girdle dystrophies. Expert Rev. Neurother. 18:693–703

- Aurino S, Piluso G, Saccone V, et al (2008) Candidate-gene testing for orphan limb-girdle muscular dystrophies. Acta Myol Myopathies Cardiomyopathies Off J Mediterr Soc Myol / Ed by Gaetano Conte Acad Study Striated Muscle Dis 27:90–97
- Balci B, Aurino S, Haliloglu G, et al (2006) Calpain-3 mutations in Turkey. Eur J Pediatr 165:293–298. doi: 10.1007/s00431-005-0046-3
- Barp A, Bello L, Caumo L, et al (2017) Muscle MRI and functional outcome measures in Becker muscular dystrophy. Sci Rep 7:. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-16170-2
- Barp A, Laforet P, Bello L, et al (2020) European muscle MRI study in limb girdle muscular dystrophy type R1/2A (LGMDR1/LGMD2A). J Neurol 267:45–56. doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09539-y
- Barresi R, Morandi L, Mora M, et al (2000) Disruption of heart sarcoglycan complex and severe cardiomyopathy caused by β sarcoglycan mutations. J Med Genet 37:102–107. doi: 10.1136/jmg.37.2.102
- Beecher N, Roseman AM, Jowitt TA, et al (2011) Collagen VI, conformation of A-domain arrays and microfibril architecture. J Biol Chem 286:40266–40275. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.265595
- Bertrand AT, Chikhaoui K, Yaou R Ben, Bonne G (2011) Clinical and genetic heterogeneity in laminopathies. In: Biochemical Society Transactions. Biochem Soc Trans, pp 1687–1692
- Bethlem J, Wijngaarden GK (1976) Benign myopathy, with autosomal dominant inheritance. A report on three pedigrees. Brain 99:91–100
- Bögershausen N, Shahrzad N, Chong JX, et al (2013) Recessive TRAPPC11 mutations cause a disease spectrum of limb girdle muscular dystrophy and myopathy with movement disorder and intellectual disability. Am J Hum Genet 93:181–190. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.05.028
- Bolduc V, Marlow G, Boycott KM, et al (2010) Recessive Mutations in the Putative Calcium-Activated Chloride Channel Anoctamin 5 Cause Proximal LGMD2L and Distal MMD3 Muscular Dystrophies. Am J Hum Genet 86:213–221. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2009.12.013
- Bonne G, Di Barletta MR, Varnous S, et al (1999) Mutations in the gene encoding lamin A/C cause autosomal dominant Emery- Dreifuss muscular dystrophy. Nat Genet 21:285–288. doi: 10.1038/6799
- Bonne G, Mercuri E, Muchir A, et al (2000) Clinical and molecular genetic spectrum of autosomal dominant Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy due to mutations of the lamin A/C gene. Ann Neurol 48:170–80
- Bönnemann CG (2011a) The collagen VI-related myopathies: Muscle meets its matrix. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 7:379–390
- Bönnemann CG (2011b) The collagen VI-related myopathies Ullrich congenital muscular dystrophy and Bethlem myopathy. Handb Clin Neurol 101:81–96. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-045031-5.00005-0
- Briñas L, Richard P, Quijano-Roy S, et al (2010) Early onset collagen VI myopathies: Genetic and clinical correlations. Ann Neurol 68:511–520. doi: 10.1002/ana.22087

- Brockington M, Blake DJ, Prandini P, et al (2001a) Mutations in the fukutin-related protein gene (FKRP) cause a form of congenital muscular dystrophy with secondary laminin alpha2 deficiency and abnormal glycosylation of alpha-dystroglycan. Am J Hum Genet 69:1198–209. doi: 10.1086/324412
- Brockington M, Yuva Y, Prandini P, et al (2001b) Mutations in the fukutin-related protein gene (FKRP) identify limb girdle muscular dystrophy 21 as a milder allelic variant of congenital muscular dystrophy MDC1C. Hum Mol Genet 10:2851–2859. doi: 10.1093/hmg/10.25.2851

Brown RH, Amato A (2006) Calpainopathy and eosinophilic myositis. Ann. Neurol. 59:875–877

- Bryant SM, Kong CHT, Watson JJ, et al (2018) Caveolin 3-dependent loss of t-tubular ICa during hypertrophy and heart failure in mice. Exp Physiol 103:652–665. doi: 10.1113/EP086731
- Cai C, Masumiya H, Weisleder N, et al (2009a) MG53 nucleates assembly of cell membrane repair machinery. Nat Cell Biol 11:56–64. doi: 10.1038/ncb1812
- Cai C, Weisleder N, Ko JK, et al (2009b) Membrane repair defects in muscular dystrophy are linked to altered interaction between MG53, caveolin-3, and dysferlin. J Biol Chem 284:15894–15902. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.009589
- Canki-Klain N, Milic A, Kovac B, et al (2004) Prevalence of the 550delA Mutation in Calpainopathy (LGMD 2A) in Croatia. Am J Med Genet 125 A:152–156. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.20408
- Carafoli E, Molinari M (1998) Calpain: A protease in search of a function? Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 247:193–203
- Carbone I, Bruno C, Sotgia F, et al (2000) Mutation in the CAV3 gene causes partial caveolin-3 deficiency and hyperCKemia. Neurology 54:1373–1376. doi: 10.1212/WNL.54.6.1373
- Caria F, Cescon M, Gualandi F, et al (2019) Autosomal recessive Bethlem myopathy: A clinical, genetic and functional study. Neuromuscul Disord 29:657–663. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2019.07.007
- Carlier PG, Marty B, Scheidegger O, et al (2016) Skeletal Muscle Quantitative Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Imaging and Spectroscopy as an Outcome Measure for Clinical Trials. J. Neuromuscul. Dis. 3:1–28
- Catteruccia M, Sanna T, Santorelli FM, et al (2009) Rippling muscle disease and cardiomyopathy associated with a mutation in the CAV3 gene. Neuromuscul Disord 19:779–783. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2009.08.015
- Cazorla O, Szilagyi S, Vignier N, et al (2006) Length and protein kinase A modulations of myocytes in cardiac myosin binding protein C-deficient mice. Cardiovasc Res 69:370–380. doi: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2005.11.009
- Cerino M, Bartoli M, Riccardi F, et al (2020a) Autosomal dominant segregation of CAPN3 c.598_612del15 associated with a mild form of calpainopathy. Ann. Clin. Transl. Neurol. 7:2538–2540
- Cerino M, Campana-Salort E, Salvi A, et al (2020b) Novel CAPN3 variant associated with an autosomal dominant calpainopathy. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 46:564–578. doi: 10.1111/nan.12624

- Cescon M, Gattazzo F, Chen P, Bonaldo P (2015) Collagen VI at a glance. J Cell Sci 128:3525–3531. doi: 10.1242/jcs.169748
- Chen PP, Patel JR, Rybakova IN, et al (2010) Protein kinase A-induced myofilament desensitization to Ca2+ as a result of phosphorylation of cardiac myosin-binding protein C. J Gen Physiol 136:615–627. doi: 10.1085/jgp.201010448
- Chen Z, Zhao T-J, Li J, et al (2011) Slow skeletal muscle myosin-binding protein-C (MyBPC1) mediates recruitment of muscle-type creatine kinase (CK) to myosin. Biochem J 436:437–445. doi: 10.1042/BJ20102007
- CHU M -L, PAN T -C, CONWAY D, et al (1990) The Structure of Type VI Collagen. Ann N Y Acad Sci 580:55–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1990.tb17917.x
- Chu ML, Moran E (2018) The Limb–Girdle Muscular Dystrophies: Is Treatment on the Horizon? Neurotherapeutics 15:849–862
- Chu ML, Pan TC, Conway D, et al (1989) Sequence analysis of alpha 1(VI) and alpha 2(VI) chains of human type VI collagen reveals internal triplication of globular domains similar to the A domains of von Willebrand factor and two alpha 2(VI) chain variants that differ in the carboxy terminus. EMBO J 8:1939–1946
- Ciafaloni E, Kumar A, Liu K, et al (2016) Age at onset of first signs or symptoms predicts age at loss of ambulation in Duchenne and Becker Muscular Dystrophy: Data from the MD STAR net. J Pediatr Rehabil Med 9:5–11. doi: 10.3233/PRM-160361
- Cohen AW, Hnasko R, Schubert W, Lisanti MP (2004) Role of caveolae and caveolins in health and disease. Physiol. Rev. 84:1341–1379
- Corrotte M, Almeida PE, Tam C, et al (2013) Caveolae internalization repairs wounded cells and muscle fibers. Elife 2013:. doi: 10.7554/eLife.00926
- Couchoux H, Bichraoui H, Chouabe C, et al (2011) Caveolin-3 is a direct molecular partner of the Cav1.1 subunit of the skeletal muscle L-type calcium channel. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 43:713– 720. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2011.01.011
- Craig R, Offer G (1976) The location of C protein in rabbit skeletal muscle. Proc R Soc London Biol Sci 192:451–461. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1976.0023
- Deconinck N, Dion E, Yaou R Ben, et al (2010) Differentiating Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy and collagen VI-related myopathies using a specific CT scanner pattern. Neuromuscul Disord 20:517–523. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2010.04.009
- Deconinck N, Richard P, Allamand V, et al (2015) Bethlem myopathy: Long-term follow-up identifies COL6 mutations predicting severe clinical evolution. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 86:1337– 1346. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2013-307245
- Demir E, Sabatelli P, Allamand V, et al (2002) Mutations in COL6A3 cause severe and mild phenotypes of Ullrich congenital muscular dystrophy. Am J Hum Genet 70:1446–1458. doi: 10.1086/340608
- Demonbreun AR, Wyatt EJ, Fallon KS, et al (2020) A gene-edited mouse model of limb-girdle

muscular dystrophy 2C for testing exon skipping. DMM Dis Model Mech 13:. doi: 10.1242/dmm.040832

- Dewulf M, Köster DV, Sinha B, et al (2019) Dystrophy-associated caveolin-3 mutations reveal that caveolae couple IL6/STAT3 signaling with mechanosensing in human muscle cells. Nat Commun 10:. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09405-5
- Di Ri K E, Aydin A, Kurul S, Şahi N B (2001) Limb girdle muscular dystrophy type 2A presenting with cardiac arrest. Pediatr Neurol 24:235–237. doi: 10.1016/S0887-8994(00)00262-9
- Dorobek M, Ryniewicz B, Kabzińska D, et al (2015) The Frequency of c.550delA Mutation of the CANP3 Gene in the Polish LGMD2A Population. Genet Test Mol Biomarkers 19:637–640. doi: 10.1089/gtmb.2015.0131
- Duno M, Sveen ML, Schwartz M, Vissing J (2008) cDNA analyses of CAPN3 enhance mutation detection and reveal a low prevalence of LGMD2A patients in Denmark. Eur J Hum Genet 16:935–940. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2008.47
- Edgerton VR, Roy RR, Allen DL, Monti RJ (2002) Adaptations in skeletal muscle disuse or decreased-use atrophy. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 81:S127-47. doi: 10.1097/01.PHM.0000029778.56440.90
- Einheber S, Fischman DA (1990) Isolation and characterization of a cDNA clone encoding avian skeletal muscle C-protein: an intracellular member of the immunoglobulin superfamily. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87:2157–2161. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87.6.2157
- Ekhilevitch N, Kurolap A, Oz-Levi D, et al (2016) Expanding the MYBPC1 phenotypic spectrum: a novel homozygous mutation causes arthrogryposis multiplex congenita. Clin Genet 90:84–89. doi: 10.1111/cge.12707
- El-Khoury R, Traboulsi S, Hamad T, et al (2019) Divergent features of mitochondrial deficiencies in LGMD2A associated with novel calpain-3 mutations. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 78:88–98. doi: 10.1093/jnen/nly113
- Emery AEH (2002) The muscular dystrophies. In: Lancet. Elsevier B.V., pp 687-695
- Engvall E, Hessle H, Klier G (1986) Molecular assembly, secretion, and matrix deposition of type VI collagen. J Cell Biol 102:703–10
- Fanin M, Nascimbeni AC, Fulizio L, Angelini C (2005) The frequency of limb girdle muscular dystrophy 2A in northeastern Italy. Neuromuscul Disord 15:218–224. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2004.11.003
- Fanin M, Nascimbeni AC, Tasca E, Angelini C (2009) How to tackle the diagnosis of limb-girdle muscular dystrophy {2A}. Eur J Hum Genet {EJHG} 17:598–603. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2008.193
- Fardeau M, Desguerre I (2013) Diagnostic workup for neuromuscular diseases. In: Handbook of Clinical Neurology. Elsevier B.V., pp 1291–1297
- Fardeau M, Hillaire D, Mignard C, et al (1996) Juvenile limb-girdle muscular dystrophy Clinical, histopathological and genetic data from a small community living in the Reunion Island. Brain 119:295–308. doi: 10.1093/brain/119.1.295

- Feng X, Luo S, Li J, et al (2018) Fatty infiltration evaluation and selective pattern characterization of lower limbs in limb-girdle muscular dystrophy type 2A by muscle magnetic resonance imaging. Muscle and Nerve 58:536–541. doi: 10.1002/mus.26169
- Flashman E, Korkie L, Watkins H, et al (2008) Support for a trimeric collar of myosin binding protein C in cardiac and fast skeletal muscle, but not in slow skeletal muscle. FEBS Lett 582:434–438. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2008.01.004
- Flashman E, Redwood C, Moolman-Smook J, Watkins H (2004) Cardiac myosin binding protein C: Its role in physiology and disease. Circ Res 94:1279–1289. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000127175.21818.C2
- Foley AR, Hu Y, Zou Y, et al (2009) Autosomal recessive inheritance of classic Bethlem myopathy. Neuromuscul Disord 19:813–7. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2009.09.010
- Freiburg A, Gautel M (1996) A molecular map of the interactions between titin and myosin-binding protein C. Implications for sarcomeric assembly in familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Eur J Biochem 235:317–323. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1996.00317.x
- Fulizio L, Nascimbeni AC, Fanin M, et al (2005) Molecular and muscle pathology in a series of caveolinopathy patients. Hum Mutat 25:82–9. doi: 10.1002/humu.20119
- Gaina G, Budisteanu M, Manole E, Ionica E (2019) Clinical and Molecular Diagnosis in Muscular Dystrophies. In: Muscular Dystrophies. IntechOpen
- Galbiati F, Engelman JA, Volonte D, et al (2001a) Caveolin-3 Null Mice Show a Loss of Caveolae, Changes in the Microdomain Distribution of the Dystrophin-Glycoprotein Complex, and Ttubule Abnormalities. J Biol Chem 276:21425–21433. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M100828200
- Galbiati F, Razani B, Lisanti MP (2001b) Caveolae and caveolin-3 in muscular dystrophy. Trends Mol. Med. 7:435–441
- Galbiati F, Volonté D, Chu JB, et al (2000) Transgenic overexpression of caveolin-3 in skeletal muscle fibers induces a Duchenne-like muscular dystrophy phenotype. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:9689–9694. doi: 10.1073/pnas.160249097
- Gautel M, Furst DO, Cocco A, Schiaffino S (1998) Isoform Transitions of the Myosin Binding Protein C Family in Developing Human and Mouse Muscles : Lack of Isoform Transcomplementation in Cardiac Muscle. Circ Res 82:124–129. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.82.1.124
- Gazzerro E, Bonetto A, Minetti C (2011a) Caveolinopathies. translational implications of caveolin-3 in skeletal and cardiac muscle disorders. Handb Clin Neurol
- Gazzerro E, Bonetto A, Minetti C (2011b) Caveolinopathies. pp 135-142
- Gazzerro E, Sotgia F, Bruno C, et al (2010) Caveolinopathies: From the biology of caveolin-3 to human diseases. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 18:137–145
- Georgieva B, Todorova A, Tournev I, et al (2005) {550delA} mutation in the calpain 3 ({CAPN3}) gene: {DMD/BMD}, {SMA}, or {LGMD2A—clinically} misdiagnosed cases. Am J Med Genet Part A 136A:399–400. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.30809
- Ginjaar IB, Kneppers ALJ, V D Meulen JDM, et al (2000) Dystrophin nonsense mutation induces

different levels of exon 29 skipping and leads to variable phenotypes within one BMD Family. Eur J Hum Genet 8:793–796. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejhg.5200535

- Giorgio V, Soriano ME, Basso E, et al (2010) Cyclophilin D in mitochondrial pathophysiology. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Bioenerg. 1797:1113–1118
- Giusti B, Lucarini L, Pietroni V, et al (2005) Dominant and recessive COL6A1 mutations in Ullrich scleroatonic muscular dystrophy. Ann Neurol 58:400–410. doi: 10.1002/ana.20586
- Giza CC, Kutcher JS, Ashwal S, et al (2013) Summary of evidence-based guideline update: Evaluation and management of concussion in sports. Neurology 80:2250–2257. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31828d57dd
- Godfrey C, Clement E, Mein R, et al (2007a) Refining genotype-phenotype correlations in muscular dystrophies with defective glycosylation of dystroglycan. Brain 130:2725–2735. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm212
- Godfrey C, Clement E, Mein R, et al (2007b) Refining genotype phenotype correlations in muscular dystrophies with defective glycosylation of dystroglycan. Brain 130:2725–35. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm212
- Godfrey C, Foley AR, Clement E, Muntoni F (2011) Dystroglycanopathies: Coming into focus. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 21:278–285
- González-Mera L, Ravenscroft G, Cabrera-Serrano M, et al (2021) Heterozygous CAPN3 missense variants causing autosomal-dominant calpainopathy in seven unrelated families. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 47:283–296. doi: 10.1111/nan.12663
- Griffin DA, Johnson RW, Whitlock JM, et al (2016) Defective membrane fusion and repair in Anoctamin5-deficient muscular dystrophy. Hum Mol Genet 25:1900–1911. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddw063
- Griffin DA, Pozsgai ER, Heller KN, et al (2021) Preclinical Systemic Delivery of Adeno-Associated a-Sarcoglycan Gene Transfer for Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy. Hum Gene Ther 32:390– 404. doi: 10.1089/hum.2019.199
- Groen EJ, Charlton R, Barresi R, et al (2007) Analysis of the UK diagnostic strategy for limb girdle muscular dystrophy 2A. Brain 130:3237–49. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm259
- Grumati P, Coletto L, Sabatelli P, et al (2010) Autophagy is defective in collagen VI muscular dystrophies, and its reactivation rescues myofiber degeneration. Nat Med 16:1313–1320. doi: 10.1038/nm.2247
- Gualandi F, Urciuolo A, Martoni E, et al (2009) Autosomal recessive Bethlem myopathy. Neurology 73:1883–1891. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181c3fd2a
- Guglieri M, Bushby K (2011) Limb-Girdle Dystrophies. In: Neuromuscular Disorders, 1st edn. Wiley-Blackwell, p 280
- Guha TK, Pichavant C, Calos MP (2019) Plasmid-Mediated Gene Therapy in Mouse Models of Limb Girdle Muscular Dystrophy. Mol Ther - Methods Clin Dev 15:294–304. doi: 10.1016/j.omtm.2019.10.002

- Gurnett CA, Desruisseau DM, McCall K, et al (2010) Myosin binding protein C1: A novel gene for autosomal dominant distal arthrogryposis type 1. Hum Mol Genet 19:1165–1173. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddp587
- Ha K, Buchan JG, Alvarado DM, et al (2013) MYBPC1 mutations impair skeletal muscle function in zebrafish models of arthrogryposis. Hum Mol Genet 22:4967–77. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt344

Han R (2011) Muscle membrane repair and inflammatory attack in dysferlinopathy. Skelet. Muscle 1

- Han R, Campbell KP (2007) Dysferlin and muscle membrane repair. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 19:409– 416
- Hanisch F, Müller CR, Grimm D, et al (2007) Frequency of calpain-3 c.550delA mutation in limb girdle muscular dystrophy type 2 and isolated hyperCKemia in German patients. Clin Neuropathol 26:157–163. doi: 10.5414/npp26157
- Haq RU, Speer MC, Chu ML, Tandan R (1999) Respiratory muscle involvement in Bethlem myopathy. Neurology 52:174–6
- Haravuori H, Vihola A, Straub V, et al (2001) Secondary calpain3 deficiency in 2q-linked muscular dystrophy: Titin is the candidate gene. Neurology 56:869–877. doi: 10.1212/WNL.56.7.869
- Harris SP, Bartley CR, Hacker TA, et al (2002) Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy in cardiac myosin binding protein-C knockout mice. Circ Res 90:594–601. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000012222.70819.64
- Harris SP, Lyons RG, Bezold KL (2011) In the thick of it: HCM-causing mutations in myosin binding proteins of the thick filament. Circ Res 108:751–764. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.231670
- Hayashi T, Arimura T, Ueda K, et al (2004) Identification and functional analysis of a caveolin-3 mutation associated with familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 313:178–184. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2003.11.101
- Head BP, Patel HH, Roth DM, et al (2006) Microtubules and actin microfilaments regulate lipid raft/caveolae localization of adenylyl cyclase signaling components. J Biol Chem 281:26391– 26399. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M602577200
- Hermanová M, Zapletalová E, Sedláčková J, et al (2006) Analysis of histopathologic and molecular pathologic findings in Czech {LGMD2A} patients. Muscle Nerve 33:424–432. doi: 10.1002/mus.20480
- Hernández-Deviez DJ, Howes MT, Laval SH, et al (2008) Caveolin regulates endocytosis of the muscle repair protein, dysferlin. J Biol Chem 283:6476–6488. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M708776200
- Hicks D, Sarkozy A, Muelas N, et al (2011) A founder mutation in Anoctamin 5 is a major cause of limb-girdle muscular dystrophy. Brain 134:171–182. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq294
- Higuchi I, Shiraishi T, Hashiguchi T, et al (2001) Frameshift mutation in the collagen VI gene causes Ullrich's disease. Ann Neurol 50:261–265. doi: 10.1002/ana.1120
- Hofmann PA, Greaser ML, Moss RL (1991) C-protein limits shortening velocity of rabbit skeletal muscle fibres at low levels of Ca2+ activation. J Physiol 439:701–715. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1991.sp018689

- Howe KL, Achuthan P, Allen J, et al (2021) Ensembl 2021. Nucleic Acids Res 49:D884–D891. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkaa942
- Hunter JM, Ahearn ME, Balak CD, et al (2015) Novel pathogenic variants and genes for myopathies identified by whole exome sequencing. Mol Genet genomic Med 3:283–301. doi: 10.1002/mgg3.142
- Irwin WA, Bergamin N, Sabatelli P, et al (2003) Mitochondrial dysfunction and apoptosis in myopathic mice with collagen VI deficiency. Nat Genet 35:367–371. doi: 10.1038/ng1270
- Izu Y, Ansorge HL, Zhang G, et al (2011) Dysfunctional tendon collagen fibrillogenesis in collagen VI null mice. Matrix Biol 30:53–61. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2010.10.001
- Kaplan JC, Hamroun D (2015) The 2016 version of the gene table of monogenic neuromuscular disorders (nuclear genome). Neuromuscul Disord 25:991–1020. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2015.10.010
- Kaplan JC, Hamroun D (2016) Corrigendum to "The 2016 version of the gene table of monogenic neuromuscular disorders (nuclear genome)". [Neuromuscular Disorders Volume 25 (2015) 991-1020] DOI 10.1016/j.nmd.2015.10.010. Neuromuscul. Disord. 26:330
- Karczewski KJ, Francioli LC, Tiao G, et al (2020) The mutational constraint spectrum quantified from variation in 141,456 humans. Nature 581:434–443. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2308-7
- Khadilkar S V., Chaudhari CR, Dastur RS, et al (2016) Limb-girdle muscular dystrophy in the Agarwals: Utility of founder mutations in CAPN3 gene. Ann Indian Acad Neurol 19:108–111. doi: 10.4103/0972-2327.175435
- Kikuchi T, Oka N, Koga A, et al (2005) Behavior of caveolae and caveolin-3 during the development of myocyte hypertrophy. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 45:204–210. doi: 10.1097/01.fjc.0000152029.53997.57
- Kirschner J, Bönnemann CG (2004) The congenital and limb-girdle muscular dystrophies: sharpening the focus, blurring the boundaries. Arch Neurol 61:189–199. doi: 10.1001/archneur.61.2.189
- Kirschner J, Lochmüller H (2011) Sarcoglycanopathies. Handb Clin Neurol
- Kopanos C, Tsiolkas V, Kouris A, et al (2019) VarSome: the human genomic variant search engine. Bioinformatics 35:1978–1980. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bty897
- Kramerova I, Beckmann JS, Spencer MJ (2007) Molecular and cellular basis of calpainopathy (limb girdle muscular dystrophy type 2A). Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Basis Dis. 1772:128–144
- Kramerova I, Ermolova N, Eskin A, et al (2016) Failure to up-regulate transcription of genes necessary for muscle adaptation underlies limb girdle muscular dystrophy 2A (calpainopathy).
 Hum Mol Genet 25:2194–2207. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddw086
- Kramerova I, Kudryashova E, Ermolova N, et al (2012) Impaired calcium calmodulin kinase signaling and muscle adaptation response in the absence of calpain 3. Hum Mol Genet 21:3193–3204. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds144
- Kramerova I, Kudryashova E, Tidball JG, Spencer MJ (2004) Null mutation of calpain 3 (p94) in mice causes abnormal sarcomere formation in vivo and in vitro. Hum Mol Genet 13:1373–1388. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddh153

- Kramerova I, Kudryashova E, Venkatraman G, Spencer MJ (2005) Calpain 3 participates in sarcomere remodeling by acting upstream of the ubiquitin - Proteasome pathway. Hum Mol Genet 14:2125– 2134. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddi217
- Kramerova I, Kudryashova E, Wu B, et al (2009) Mitochondrial abnormalities, energy deficit and oxidative stress are features of calpain 3 deficiency in skeletal muscle. Hum Mol Genet 18:3194– 3205. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddp257
- Kulikovskaya I, McClellan G, Levine R, Winegrad S (2003) Effect of extraction of myosin binding protein C on contractility of rat heart. Am J Physiol - Hear Circ Physiol 285:. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00841.2002
- Kuo HJ, Maslen CL, Keene DR, Glanville RW (1997) Type VI collagen anchors endothelial basement membranes by interacting with type IV collagen. J Biol Chem 272:26522–26529. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.42.26522
- Lamandé SR, Bateman JF (2018) Collagen VI disorders: Insights on form and function in the extracellular matrix and beyond. Matrix Biol. 71–72:348–367
- Lamandé SR, Mörgelin M, Selan C, et al (2002) Kinked collagen VI tetramers and reduced microfibril formation as a result of Bethlem myopathy and introduced triple helical glycine mutations. J Biol Chem 277:1949–1956. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109932200
- Lampe AK, Bushby KMD (2005) Collagen VI related muscle disorders. J Med Genet 42:673–685. doi: 10.1136/jmg.2002.002311
- Landrum MJ, Lee JM, Benson M, et al (2018) ClinVar: Improving access to variant interpretations and supporting evidence. Nucleic Acids Res 46:D1062–D1067. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkx1153
- Lasa-Elgarresta J, Mosqueira-Martín L, Naldaiz-Gastesi N, et al (2019) Calcium Mechanisms in Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy with CAPN3 Mutations. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20
- Lemmers RJLF, Van Der Vliet PJ, Klooster R, et al (2010) A unifying genetic model for facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy. Science (80-) 329:1650–1653. doi: 10.1126/science.1189044
- Li S, Hong M (2011) Protonation, Tautomerization, and Rotameric Structure of Histidine: A Comprehensive Study by Magic-Angle-Spinning Solid-State NMR. J Am Chem Soc 133:1534. doi: 10.1021/JA108943N
- Li X, Zhong B, Han W, et al (2015) Two novel mutations in myosin binding protein C slow causing distal arthrogryposis type 2 in two large Han Chinese families may suggest important functional role of immunoglobulin domain C2. PLoS One 10:e0117158. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0117158
- Liu W, Pajusalu S, Lake NJ, et al (2019) Estimating prevalence for limb-girdle muscular dystrophy based on public sequencing databases. Genet Med 21:2512–2520. doi: 10.1038/s41436-019-0544-8
- Longo D, Fauci A, Kasper D, et al (2011) Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine, 18th Edition, 18th edn. {McGraw-Hill} Professional
- Luther PK, Bennett PM, Knupp C, et al (2008) Understanding the Organisation and Role of Myosin

Binding Protein C in Normal Striated Muscle by Comparison with MyBP-C Knockout Cardiac Muscle. J Mol Biol 384:60–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2008.09.013

- Madaro L, Marrocco V, Fiore P, et al (2011) PKCθ signaling is required for myoblast fusion by regulating the expression of caveolin-3 and β1D integrin upstream focal adhesion kinase. Mol Biol Cell 22:1409–1419. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E10-10-0821
- Magri F, Nigro V, Angelini C, et al (2017) The italian limb girdle muscular dystrophy registry: Relative frequency, clinical features, and differential diagnosis. Muscle and Nerve 55:55–68. doi: 10.1002/mus.25192
- Mah JK, Joseph JT (2016) An Overview of Congenital Myopathies. Continuum (Minneap Minn) 22:1932–1953. doi: 10.1212/CON.000000000000404
- Mammen AL (2017) Which nonautoimmune myopathies are most frequently misdiagnosed as myositis? Curr. Opin. Rheumatol. 29:618–622
- Manzini MC, Tambunan DE, Hill RS, et al (2012) Exome sequencing and functional validation in zebrafish identify GTDC2 mutations as a cause of Walker-Warburg syndrome. Am J Hum Genet 91:541–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2012.07.009
- Marconi C, Brunamonti Binello P, Badiali G, et al (2013) A novel missense mutation in ANO5/TMEM16E is causative for gnathodiaphyseal dyplasia in a large Italian pedigree. Eur J Hum Genet 21:613–9. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2012.224
- Markus B, Narkis G, Landau D, et al (2012) Autosomal recessive lethal congenital contractural syndrome type 4 (LCCS4) caused by a mutation in MYBPC1. Hum Mutat 33:1435–1438. doi: 10.1002/humu.22122
- Marston S, Copeland O, Gehmlich K, et al (2012) How do MYBPC3 mutations cause hypertrophic cardiomyopathy? J. Muscle Res. Cell Motil. 33:75–80
- Martinez-Thompson JM, Niu Z, Tracy JA, et al (2018) Autosomal dominant calpainopathy due to heterozygous CAPN3 C.643_663del21. Muscle and Nerve 57:679–683. doi: 10.1002/mus.25970
- Mazzucato M, Visonà Dalla Pozza L, Manea S, et al (2014) A population-based registry as a source of health indicators for rare diseases: The ten-year experience of the Veneto Region's rare diseases registry. Orphanet J Rare Dis 9:. doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-9-37
- McConnell BK, Jones KA, Fatkin D, et al (1999) Dilated cardiomyopathy in homozygous myosinbinding protein-C mutant mice. J Clin Invest 104:1235–1244. doi: 10.1172/JCI7377
- McGrath MJ, Cottle DL, Nguyen MA, et al (2006) Four and a half LIM protein 1 binds myosinbinding protein C and regulates myosin filament formation and sarcomere assembly. J Biol Chem 281:7666–7683. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M512552200
- McNally EM, de Sá Moreira E, Duggan DJ, et al (1998) Caveolin-3 in muscular dystrophy. Hum Mol Genet 7:871–7
- Menazza S, Blaauw B, Tiepolo T, et al (2010) Oxidative stress by monoamine oxidases is causally involved in myofiber damage in muscular dystrophy. Hum Mol Genet 19:4207–4215. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddq339

Mercuri E, Bönnemann CG, Muntoni F (2019) Muscular dystrophies. Lancet 394:2025-2038

- Mercuri E, Clements E, Offiah A, et al (2010) Muscle magnetic resonance imaging involvement in muscular dystrophies with rigidity of the spine. Ann Neurol 67:201–208. doi: 10.1002/ana.21846
- Mercuri E, Messina S, Bruno C, et al (2009) Congenital muscular dystrophies with defective glycosylation of dystroglycan: A population study. Neurology 72:1802–1809. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000346518.68110.60

Mercuri E, Pichiecchio A, Allsop J, et al (2007) Muscle MRI in inherited neuromuscular disorders: Past, present, and future. J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 25:433–440

Meryon E (1852) On Granular and Fatty Degeneration of the Voluntary Muscles. J R Soc Med MCT-35:73–84. doi: 10.1177/095952875203500108

- Meznaric-Petrusa M, Kralj E, Angelini C, et al (2009) Cardiomyopathy in a patient with limb-girdle muscular dystrophy type 2D: Pathomorphological aspects. Forensic Sci Int Suppl Ser 1:58–62. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsisup.2009.09.003
- Milic A, Canki-Klain N (2005) Calpainopathy (LGMD2A) in Croatia: molecular and haplotype analysis. Croat Med J 46:657–663
- Minetti C, Bado M, Broda P, et al (2002) Impairment of caveolae formation and T-system disorganization in human muscular dystrophy with caveolin-3 deficiency. Am J Pathol 160:265– 270. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64370-2
- Mori-Yoshimura M, Segawa K, Minami N, et al (2017) Cardiopulmonary dysfunction in patients with limb-girdle muscular dystrophy 2A. Muscle and Nerve 55:465–469. doi: 10.1002/mus.25369
- Muntoni F, Brockington M, Blake DJ, et al (2002) Defective glycosylation in muscular dystrophy. Lancet 360:1419–1421
- Muntoni F, Torelli S, Ferlini A (2003) Dystrophin and mutations: One gene, several proteins, multiple phenotypes. Lancet Neurol. 2:731–740
- Muntoni F, Torelli S, Wells DJ, Brown SC (2011) Muscular dystrophies due to glycosylation defects: Diagnosis and therapeutic strategies. Curr. Opin. Neurol. 24:437–442
- Murgiano L, Tammen I, Harlizius B, Drögemüller C (2012) A de novo germline mutation in MYH7 causes a progressive dominant myopathy in pigs. BMC Genet 13:99. doi: 10.1186/1471-2156-13-99
- Nallamilli BRR, Chakravorty S, Kesari A, et al (2018) Genetic landscape and novel disease mechanisms from a large LGMD cohort of 4656 patients. Ann Clin Transl Neurol 5:1574–1587. doi: 10.1002/acn3.649
- Nascimbeni AC, Fanin M, Tasca E, Angelini C (2010) Transcriptional and translational effects of intronic {CAPN3} gene mutations. Hum Mutat 31:E1658–E1669
- Nilsson MI, Macneil LG, Kitaoka Y, et al (2014) Redox state and mitochondrial respiratory chain function in skeletal muscle of LGMD2A patients. PLoS One 9:. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0102549

Norwood FLM, Harling C, Chinnery PF, et al (2009) Prevalence of genetic muscle disease in Northern

England: In-depth analysis of a muscle clinic population. Brain 132:3175–3186. doi: 10.1093/brain/awp236

- O'Leary NA, Wright MW, Brister JR, et al (2016) Reference sequence (RefSeq) database at NCBI: current status, taxonomic expansion, and functional annotation. Nucleic Acids Res 44:D733-45. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkv1189
- Oakley CE, Chamoun J, Brown LJ, Hambly BD (2007) Myosin binding protein-C: Enigmatic regulator of cardiac contraction. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39:2161–2166. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2006.12.008
- Offer G, Moos C, Starr R (1973) A new protein of the thick filaments of vertebrate skeletal myofibrils. Extractions, purification and characterization. J Mol Biol 74:653–76
- Ojima K, Ono Y, Doi N, et al (2007) Myogenic stage, sarcomere length, and protease activity modulate localization of muscle-specific calpain. J Biol Chem 282:14493–14504. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M610806200
- Ojima K, Ono Y, Ottenheijm C, et al (2011) Non-proteolytic functions of calpain-3 in sarcoplasmic reticulum in skeletal muscles. J Mol Biol 407:439–449. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2011.01.057
- Okada M, Kawahara G, Noguchi S, et al (2007) Primary collagen VI deficiency is the second most common congenital muscular dystrophy in Japan. Neurology 69:1035–1042. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000271387.10404.4e
- Okagaki T, Weber FE, Fischman DA, et al (1993) The major myosin-binding domain of skeletal muscle MyBP-C (C protein) resides in the COOH-terminal, immunoglobulin C2 motif. J Cell Biol 123:619–626. doi: 10.1083/jcb.123.3.619
- Ono Y, Ojima K, Shinkai-Ouchi F, et al (2016) An eccentric calpain, CAPN3/p94/calpain-3. Biochimie 122:169–187
- Ono Y, Ojima K, Torii F, et al (2010) Skeletal muscle-specific calpain is an intracellular Na+dependent protease. J Biol Chem 285:22986–22998. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.126946
- Ono Y, Torii F, Ojima K, et al (2006) Suppressed disassembly of autolyzing p94/CAPN3 by N2A connectin/titin in a genetic reporter system. J Biol Chem 281:18519–18531. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M601029200
- Pace RA, Peat RA, Baker NL, et al (2008) Collagen VI glycine mutations: Perturbed assembly and a spectrum of clinical severity. Ann Neurol 64:294–303. doi: 10.1002/ana.21439
- Palma E, Tiepolo T, Angelin A, et al (2009) Genetic ablation of cyclophilin D rescues mitochondrial defects and prevents muscle apoptosis in collagen VI myopathic mice. Hum Mol Genet 18:2024– 2031. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddp126
- Palmer BM, McConnell BK, Li GH, et al (2004) Reduced cross-bridge dependent stiffness of skinned myocardium from mice lacking cardiac myosin binding protein-C. Mol Cell Biochem 263:73– 80. doi: 10.1023/B:MCBI.0000041849.60591.45
- Pan TC, Zhang RZ, Arita M, et al (2014) A mouse model for dominant collagen VI disorders Heterozygous Deletion of Col6a3 EXON 16. J Biol Chem 289:10293–10307. doi:

10.1074/jbc.M114.549311

- Pan TC, Zhang RZ, Markova D, et al (2013) COL6A3 protein deficiency in mice leads to muscle and tendon defects similar to human collagen VI congenital muscular dystrophy. J Biol Chem 288:14320–14331. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.433078
- Pan TC, Zhang RZ, Pericak-Vance MA, et al (1998) Missense mutation in a von Willebrand factor type A domain of the alpha 3(VI) collagen gene (COL6A3) in a family with Bethlem myopathy. Hum Mol Genet 7:807–12
- Panadés-de Oliveira L, Rodríguez-López C, Cantero Montenegro D, et al (2019) Bethlem myopathy: a series of 16 patients and description of seven new associated mutations. J Neurol 266:934–941. doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09217-z
- Parton RG, Way M, Zorzi N, Stang E (1997) Caveolin-3 associates with developing T-tubules during muscle differentiation. J Cell Biol 136:137–154. doi: 10.1083/jcb.136.1.137
- Peat RA, Baker NL, Jones KJ, et al (2007) Variable penetrance of COL6A1 null mutations: Implications for prenatal diagnosis and genetic counselling in Ullrich congenital muscular dystrophy families. Neuromuscul Disord 17:547–557. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2007.03.017
- Peat RA, Smith JM, Compton AG, et al (2008) Diagnosis and etiology of congenital muscular dystrophy. Neurology 71:312–321. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000284605.27654.5a
- Pegoraro E, Hoffman EP (2012) Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy Overview {GeneReviewsTM} {NCBI} Bookshelf
- Penttilä S, Palmio J, Suominen T, et al (2012) Eight new mutations and the expanding phenotype variability in muscular dystrophy caused by ANO5. Neurology 78:897–903. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31824c4682
- Peters N, Dichgans M, Surendran S, et al (2009) Calpainopathy. In: Encyclopedia of Molecular Mechanisms of Disease. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp 265–265
- Piluso G, Politano L, Aurino S, et al (2005) Extensive scanning of the calpain-3 gene broadens the spectrum of {LGMD2A} phenotypes. J Med Genet 42:686–693. doi: 10.1136/jmg.2004.028738
- Pogoda T V, Krakhmaleva IN, Lipatova NA, et al (2000) High incidence of 550delA mutation of CAPN3 in LGMD2 patients from Russia. Hum Mutat 15:295. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-1004(200003)15:3<295::AID-HUMU15>3.0.CO;2-8
- Politano L, Nigro V, Passamano L, et al (2001) Evaluation of cardiac and respiratory involvement in sarcoglycanopathies. Neuromuscul Disord 11:178–185. doi: 10.1016/S0960-8966(00)00174-7
- Pradhan BS, Prószyński TJ (2020) A role for caveolin-3 in the pathogenesis of muscular dystrophies. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21:1–22
- Previs MJ, Beck Previs S, Gulick J, et al (2012) Molecular mechanics of cardiac myosin-binding protein C in native thick filaments. Science (80-) 337:1215–1218. doi: 10.1126/science.1223602
- Previs MJ, Michalek AJ, Warshaw DM (2014) Molecular modulation of actomyosin function by cardiac myosin-binding protein C. Pflugers Arch. Eur. J. Physiol. 466:439–444
- Quach NL, Biressi S, Reichardt LF, et al (2009) Focal adhesion kinase signaling regulates the

expression of caveolin 3 and β 1 integrin, genes essential for normal myoblast fusion. Mol Biol Cell 20:3422–3435. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E09-02-0175

- Quijano-Roy S, Avila-Smirnow D, Carlier RY, et al (2012) Whole body muscle MRI protocol: Pattern recognition in early onset NM disorders. Neuromuscul Disord 22:. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2012.08.003
- Rajakumar D, Alexander M, Oommen A (2013) Oxidative stress, NF-κB and the ubiquitin proteasomal pathway in the pathology of calpainopathy. Neurochem Res 38:2009–2018. doi: 10.1007/s11064-013-1107-z
- Ravenscroft G, Laing NG, Bönnemann CG (2015) Pathophysiological concepts in the congenital myopathies: Blurring the boundaries, sharpening the focus. Brain 138:246–268. doi: 10.1093/brain/awu368
- Razumova M V., Shaffer JF, Tu AY, et al (2006) Effects of the N-terminal domains of myosin binding protein-C in an in vitro motility assay: Evidence for long-lived cross-bridges. J Biol Chem 281:35846–35854. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M606949200
- Reddy HM, Cho KA, Lek M, et al (2017) The sensitivity of exome sequencing in identifying pathogenic mutations for LGMD in the United States. J Hum Genet 62:243–252. doi: 10.1038/jhg.2016.116
- Reed UC (2002) Neuromuscular disorders. J Pediatr (Rio J) 78:89–103. doi: 10.2223/JPED.853
- Repetto S, Bado M, Broda P, et al (1999) Increased number of caveolae and caveolin-3 overexpression in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 261:547–550. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1999.1055
- Richard I, Broux O, Allamand V, et al (1995) Mutations in the proteolytic enzyme calpain 3 cause limb-girdle muscular dystrophy type 2A. Cell 81:27–40. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(95)90368-2
- Richard I, Hogrel JY, Stockholm D, et al (2016) Natural history of LGMD2A for delineating outcome measures in clinical trials. Ann Clin Transl Neurol 3:248–265. doi: 10.1002/acn3.287
- Richards S, Aziz N, Bale S, et al (2015) Standards and guidelines for the interpretation of sequence variants: A joint consensus recommendation of the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics and the Association for Molecular Pathology. Genet Med 17:405–424. doi: 10.1038/gim.2015.30
- Richter T, Floetenmeyer M, Ferguson C, et al (2008) High-resolution 3D quantitative analysis of caveolar ultrastructure and caveola-cytoskeleton interactions. Traffic 9:893–909. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2008.00733.x
- Romitti PA, Zhu Y, Puzhankara S, et al (2015) Prevalence of duchenne and becker muscular dystrophies in the United States. Pediatrics 135:513–521. doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-2044
- Rosalki SB (1989) Serum enzymes in disease of skeletal muscle. Clin Lab Med 9:767–781
- Rowland LP, McLeod JG (1994) Classification of neuromuscular disorders. J Neurol Sci 124 Suppl:109–130. doi: 10.1016/0022-510x(94)90192-9
- Rybakova IN, Greaser ML, Moss RL (2011) Myosin Binding Protein C Interaction with Actin. J Biol

Chem 286:2008–2016. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.170605

- Sadayappan S, de Tombe PP (2012) Cardiac myosin binding protein-C: Redefining its structure and function. Biophys. Rev. 4:93–106
- Sáenz A, Leturcq F, Cobo AM, et al (2005) LGMD2A: genotype-phenotype correlations based on a large mutational survey on the calpain 3 gene. Brain 128:732–42. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh408
- Saifee TA, Pareés I, Kassavetis P, et al (2015) Tremor in Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease: No evidence of cerebellar dysfunction. Clin Neurophysiol 126:1817–1824. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2014.12.023
- Sardone F, Traina F, Bondi A, et al (2016) Tendon extracellular matrix alterations in ullrich congenital muscular dystrophy. Front Aging Neurosci 8:. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2016.00131

Schessl J, Goemans NM, Magold AI, et al (2008) Predominant fiber atrophy and fiber type disproportion in early Ullrich disease. Muscle and Nerve 38:1184–1191. doi: 10.1002/mus.21088

- Schindler RFR, Scotton C, Zhang J, et al (2016) POPDC1S201F causes muscular dystrophy and arrhythmia by affecting protein trafficking. J Clin Invest 126:239–253. doi: 10.1172/JCI79562
- Schlegel A, Lisanti MP (2000) A molecular dissection of caveolin-1 membrane attachment and oligomerization. Two separate regions of the caveolin-1 c-terminal domain mediate membrane binding and oligomer/oligomer interactions in vivo. J Biol Chem 275:21605–21617. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M002558200
- Schlegel A, Schwab RB, Scherer PE, Lisanti MP (1999) A role for the caveolin scaffolding domain in mediating the membrane attachment of caveolin-1. The caveolin scaffolding domain is both necessary and sufficient for membrane binding in vitro. J Biol Chem 274:22660–22667. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.32.22660
- Schmalbruch H, Kamieniecka Z, Fuglsang-Frederiksen A, Trojaborg W (1987) Benign congenital muscular dystrophy with autosomal dominant heredity: problems of classification. J Neurol 234:146–51
- Sframeli M, Sarkozy A, Bertoli M, et al (2017) Congenital muscular dystrophies in the UK population: Clinical and molecular spectrum of a large cohort diagnosed over a 12-year period. Neuromuscul Disord 27:793–803. doi: 10.1016/J.NMD.2017.06.008
- Sharma A, Yu C, Leung C, et al (2010) A new role for the muscle repair protein dysferlin in endothelial cell adhesion and angiogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30:2196–2204. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.208108
- Shashi V, Geist J, Lee Y, et al (2019) Heterozygous variants in MYBPC1 are associated with an expanded neuromuscular phenotype beyond arthrogryposis. Hum Mutat 40:1115–1126. doi: 10.1002/humu.23760
- Shaul PW, Anderson RGW (1998) Role of plasmalemmal caveolae in signal transduction. Am. J. Physiol. - Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 275
- Shimo T, Maruyama R, Yokota T (2018) Designing effective antisense oligonucleotides for exon skipping. In: Methods in Molecular Biology. Humana Press Inc., pp 143–155
- Sorimachi H, Toyama-Sorimachi N, Saido TC, et al (1993) Muscle-specific calpain, p94, is degraded

by autolysis immediately after translation, resulting in disappearance from muscle. J Biol Chem 268:10593–10605

- Stahlhut M, Sandvig K, Van Deurs B (2000) Caveolae: Uniform structures with multiple functions in signaling, cell growth, and cancer. Exp Cell Res 261:111–118. doi: 10.1006/excr.2000.4960
- Starr R, Offer G (1971) Polypeptide chains of intermediate molecular weight in myosin preparations. FEBS Lett 15:40–44. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(71)80075-3
- Stehlíková K, Skálová D, Zídková J, et al (2014) Autosomal recessive limb-girdle muscular dystrophies in the Czech Republic. BMC Neurol 14:. doi: 10.1186/s12883-014-0154-7
- Stoppani E, Rossi S, Meacci E, et al (2011) Point mutated caveolin-3 form (P104L) impairs myoblast differentiation via Akt and p38 signalling reduction, leading to an immature cell signature.
 Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis 1812:468–479. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2010.12.005
- Straub V, Carlier PG, Mercuri E (2012) TREAT-NMD workshop: Pattern recognition in genetic muscle diseases using muscle MRI. 25-26 February 2011, Rome, Italy. Neuromuscul Disord 22:. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2012.08.002
- Straub V, Murphy A, Udd B (2018) 229th ENMC international workshop: Limb girdle muscular dystrophies – Nomenclature and reformed classification Naarden, the Netherlands, 17–19 March 2017. In: Neuromuscular Disorders. Elsevier Ltd, pp 702–710
- Tagliavini F, Sardone F, Squarzoni S, et al (2013) Ultrastructural changes in muscle cells of patients with collagen VI-related myopathies. Muscles Ligaments Tendons J 3:281–286
- Tasca G, Iannaccone E, Monforte M, et al (2012) Muscle MRI in Becker muscular dystrophy. Neuromuscul Disord 22:. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2012.05.015
- Tasca G, Monforte M, Díaz-Manera J, et al (2018) MRI in sarcoglycanopathies: A large international cohort study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 89:. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2017-316736
- Theadom A, Rodrigues M, Roxburgh R, et al (2014) Prevalence of muscular dystrophies: A systematic literature review. Neuroepidemiology 43:259–268
- Tiepolo T, Angelin A, Palma E, et al (2009) The cyclophilin inhibitor Debio 025 normalizes mitochondrial function, muscle apoptosis and ultrastructural defects in Col6a1-/-myopathic mice. Br J Pharmacol 157:1045–1052. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00316.x
- Timpl R, Chu M-L (1994) Microfibrillar Collagen Type VI. In: Extracellular Matrix Assembly and Structure. Elsevier, pp 207–242
- Todorova A, Georgieva B, Tournev I, et al (2007) A large deletion and novel point mutations in the calpain 3 gene (CAPN3) in Bulgarian LGMD2A patients. Neurogenetics 8:225–9. doi: 10.1007/s10048-007-0083-3
- Töpf A, Johnson K, Bates A, et al (2020) Sequential targeted exome sequencing of 1001 patients affected by unexplained limb-girdle weakness. Genet Med 22:1478–1488. doi: 10.1038/s41436-020-0840-3
- Toral-Ojeda I, Aldanondo G, Lasa-Elgarresta J, et al (2018) A Novel Functional In Vitro Model that Recapitulates Human Muscle Disorders. In: Muscle Cell and Tissue - Current Status of Research

Field. InTech

- Udd B (2012) Distal myopathies New genetic entities expand diagnostic challenge. Neuromuscul. Disord. 22:5–12
- Udd B (2011) Distal muscular dystrophies. Handb Clin Neurol
- Uhlen M, Fagerberg L, Hallstrom BM, et al (2015) Tissue-based map of the human proteome. Science (80-) 347:1260419–1260419. doi: 10.1126/science.1260419
- Urciuolo A, Quarta M, Morbidoni V, et al (2013) Collagen VI regulates satellite cell self-renewal and muscle regeneration. Nat Commun 4:. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2964
- Valencia CA, Wang L, Ankala A, et al (2017) The applications and challenges of next- generation sequencing in diagnosing neuromuscular disorders. In: Next Generation Sequencing Based Clinical Molecular Diagnosis of Human Genetic Disorders. Springer International Publishing, pp 177–200
- van Reeuwijk J, Janssen M, van den Elzen C, et al (2005) POMT2 mutations cause alpha-dystroglycan hypoglycosylation and Walker-Warburg syndrome. J Med Genet 42:907–12. doi: 10.1136/jmg.2005.031963
- Vanegas OC, Bertini E, Zhang RZ, et al (2001) Ullrich scleroatonic muscular dystrophy is caused by recessive mutations in collagen type VI. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:7516–7521. doi: 10.1073/pnas.121027598
- Vissing J, Barresi R, Witting N, et al (2016) A heterozygous 21-bp deletion in CAPN3 causes dominantly inherited limb girdle muscular dystrophy. Brain 139:2154–2163. doi: 10.1093/brain/aww133
- Vissing J, Dahlqvist JR, Roudaut C, et al (2020) A single c.1715G>C calpain 3 gene variant causes dominant calpainopathy with loss of calpain 3 expression and activity. Hum Mutat 41:1507– 1513. doi: 10.1002/humu.24066
- Volonte D, Peoples AJ, Galbiati F (2003) Modulation of myoblast fusion by caveolin-3 in dystrophic skeletal muscle cells: Implications for Duchenne muscular dystrophy and Limb-girdle muscular dystrophy-1C. Mol Biol Cell 14:4075–4088. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E03-03-0161
- Wang L, Geist J, Grogan A, et al (2018) Thick Filament Protein Network, Functions, and Disease Association. In: Comprehensive Physiology. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA, pp 631–709
- Weber FE, Vaughan KT, Reinach FC, Fischman DA (1993) Complete sequence of human fast-type and slow-type muscle myosin-binding-protein C (MyBP-C): Differential expression, conserved domain structure and chromosome assignment. Eur J Biochem 216:661–669. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1993.tb18186.x
- Whiteley G, Collins RF, Kitmitto A (2012) Characterization of the molecular architecture of human caveolin-3 and interaction with the skeletal muscle ryanodine receptor. J Biol Chem 287:40302– 40316. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.377085
- Wicklund MP (2019) The Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophies. Contin. Lifelong Learn. Neurol.

25:1599-1618

- Wiedemar N, Riedi A-K, Jagannathan V, et al (2015) Genetic Abnormalities in a Calf with Congenital Increased Muscular Tonus. J Vet Intern Med 29:1418–21. doi: 10.1111/jvim.13599
- Williams TM, Lisanti MP (2004) The Caveolin genes: From cell biology to medicine. Ann. Med. 36:584–595
- Winegrad S (1999) Cardiac myosin binding protein C. Circ. Res. 84:1117-1126
- Witting N, Duno M, Petri H, et al (2013) Anoctamin 5 muscular dystrophy in Denmark: Prevalence, genotypes, phenotypes, cardiac findings, and muscle protein expression. J Neurol 260:2084– 2093. doi: 10.1007/s00415-013-6934-y
- Woodman SE, Park DS, Cohen AW, et al (2002) Caveolin-3 knock-out mice develop a progressive cardiomyopathy and show hyperactivation of the p42/44 MAPK cascade. J Biol Chem 277:38988–38997. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M205511200
- Woodman SE, Sotgia F, Galbiati F, et al (2004) Caveolinlopathies: Mutations in caveolin-3 cause four distinct autosomal dominant muscle diseases. Neurology 62:538–543
- Wu L, Brady L, Shoffner J, Tarnopolsky MA (2018) Next-Generation Sequencing to Diagnose Muscular Dystrophy, Rhabdomyolysis, and HyperCKemia. Can J Neurol Sci 45:262–268. doi: 10.1017/cjn.2017.286
- Yalvac ME, Amornvit J, Braganza C, et al (2017) Impaired regeneration in calpain-3 null muscle is associated with perturbations in mTORC1 signaling and defective mitochondrial biogenesis. Skelet Muscle 7:. doi: 10.1186/s13395-017-0146-6
- Yamamoto K (1986) The binding of skeletal muscle C-protein to regulated actin. FEBS Lett 208:123– 7
- Yiu EM, Kornberg AJ (2015) Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J. Paediatr. Child Health 51:759-764
- Zamurs LK, Idoate MA, Hanssen E, et al (2015) Aberrant mitochondria in a bethlem myopathy patient with a homozygous amino acid substitution that destabilizes the Collagen VI α2(VI) chain. J Biol Chem 290:4272–4281. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.632208
- Zivkovic SA, Clemens PR (2015) Muscular Dystrophy. In: Neurobiology of Brain Disorders: Biological Basis of Neurological and Psychiatric Disorders. Elsevier Inc., pp 151–166
- Zorov DB, Juhaszova M, Sollott SJ (2014) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) and ROSinduced ROS release. Physiol. Rev. 94:909–950
- Zulian A, Rizzo E, Schiavone M, et al (2014) NIM811, a cyclophilin inhibitor without immunosuppressive activity, is beneficial in collagen VI congenital muscular dystrophy models. Hum Mol Genet 23:5353–5363. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu254

SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS

Supplemental table 1. Changes in LGMD nomenclature. Forms recognized as LGMD under the new nomenclature marked in bold.

Previous nomenclature	New nomenclature	Gene	Notes / Reasons for
			exclusion from LGMDs
Dominant forms			
LGMD 1A	Myofibrillar myopathy	МҮОТ	Distal weakness
LGMD 1B	Emery–Dreifuss muscular dystrophy	IMNA	High risk of cardiac arrhythmias;
	(EDMD)	2,000,0	EDMD phenotype
LGMD 1C	Rippling muscle disease	CAV3	Main clinical features rippling
		DNAIDC	muscle disease and myalgia
LGMD ID	LGMD D1 DNAJB6-related	DNAJB6	Drimarily false linkage, distal
LGMD 1E	Myofibrillar myopathy	DES	weakness and cardiomyonathy
LGMD 1F	LGMD D2 TNP03-related	TNP03	
LGMD 1G	LGMD D3 HNRNPDL-related	HNRNPDL	
LGMD 1H	Not confirmed	-	False linkage
LGMD 1I	LGMD D4 calpain3-related	CAPN	_
Bethlem myopathy dominant	LGMD D5 collagen 6-related	COL6A1, COL6A2, COL6A3	
	Recessive for	ms	
LGMD 2A	LGMD R1 calpain3-related	CAPN	
LGMD 2B	LGMD R2 dysferlin-related	DYSF	
LGMD 2C	LGMD R5 y -sarcoglycan-related	SGCG	
LGMD 2D	LGMD R3 α-sarcoglycan-related	SGCA	
LGMD 2E	LGMD R4 β-sarcoglycan-related	SGCB	
LGMD 2F	LGMD R6 δ-sarcoglycan-related	SGCD	
LGMD 2G	LGMD R7 telethonin-related	ТСАР	
LGMD 2H	LGMD R8 TRIM 32-related	TRIM32	
LGMD 2I	LGMD R9 FKRP-related	FKRP	
LGMD 2J	LGMD R10 titin-related	TTN	
LGMD 2K	LGMD R11 POMT1-related	POMT1	
LGMD 2L	LGMD R12 anoctamin5-related	ANO5	
LGMD 2M	LGMD R13 Fukutin-related	FKTN	
LGMD 2N	LGMD R14 POMT2-related	POMT2	
LGMD 20	LGMD R15 POMGnT1-related	POMGNT1	
LGMD 2P	LGMD R16 α-dystroglycan-related	DAG1	
LGMD 2Q	LGMD R17 plectin-related	PLEC	
LGMD 2R	Myofibrillar myopathy	DES	Distal weakness
LGMD 2S	LGMD R18 TRAPPC11-related	TRAPPC11	
LGMD 2T	LGMD R19 GMPPB-related	GMPPB	
LGMD 2U	LGMD R20 ISPD-related	ISPD	
LGMD 2V	Pomne disease	GAA	Known disease entity,
			histological changes
LGMD 2W	PINCH-2 related myopathy	PINCH2	Reported in one family
LGMD 2X	BVES related myopathy	BVES	Reported in one family
LGMD 2Y	TOR1AIP1 related myopathy	TOR1AIP1	Reported in one family
LGMD 2Z	LGMD R21 POGLUT1-related	POGLUT1	
Bethlem myopathy recessive	LGMD R22 collagen 6-related	COL6A1, COL6A2, COL6A3	
dystrophy	LGMD R23 laminin α 2-related	LAMA2	
POMGNT2-related muscular dystrophy	LGMD R24 POMGNT2-related	POMGNT2	